TOWN OF CANMORE
AGENDA
Regular Meeting of Council
Council Chamber at the Canmore Civic Centre, 902 – 7 Avenue
Tuesday, April 21, 2015 at 5:00 p.m.

A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
1. Agenda for the April 21, 2015 Regular Meeting of Council
B. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD
5 – 5:15

C. DELEGATIONS AND PETITIONS
1. Ian Wilson, Bow Valley Regional Housing – Rent Geared to Income
D. MINUTES
1. Minutes of the April 7, 2015 Regular Meeting of Council
E. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES
None
F. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
None

5:15 – 5:25

5:25 – 5:45

G. BYLAW APPROVAL
1. Canmore Community Housing Corporation Loan Guarantee Bylaw 2015-07
Recommendation: That council give second and third readings to Loan
Guarantee Bylaw 2015-07 – Canmore Community Housing Corporation
Construction Financing Guarantee – Phase 2.
H. NEW BUSINESS
1. Town of Canmore Consolidated Financial Statements, for the year ended
December 31, 2014
Recommendation: That council accept the Town of Canmore’s Consolidated
Financial Statements, for the year ended December 31, 2014, as presented.

5:45 – 6:05

2. 2014 Administrative Financial Report
Recommendation: That Council approve transferring the 2014 Operating
Surplus of $1,764,711 as follows:
(1) $436,941 to the General Operating Reserve, and
(2) $1,327,770 to the General Capital Reserve

6:05 – 6:25

3. 2014 Completed Capital Project Summaries
Purpose: to provide a summary of capital projects completed in 2014

6:25 – 6:40

4. Auditor Interview (verbal)
Recommendation: That council take the meeting in camera to prevent
disclosure of personnel evaluations, in accordance with the Freedom of
Information and Protection of Privacy Act.
Agenda prepared by: Cheryl Hyde, Municipal Clerk
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6:40 – 7

BREAK

7–8

5. Tourist Accommodation Study
Purpose: to provide council with an overview of the tourist accommodation
study.

8–9

6. Three Sisters Area Structure Plan Collaboration
Recommendation:
(1) That council direct administration to proceed in accordance with the
Collaborative ASP Working Together Guideline for the preparation of an
ASP for the Smith Creek area (Sites 7, 8 & 9 in Three Sisters)
(2) That council appoint ___________ to be the council representative on
the Community Advisory Group.
I. CORRESPONDENCE/INFORMATION
None
J. REPORTS FROM ADMINISTRATION
None
K. NOTICES OF MOTION
None
L. IN CAMERA
None
M. ADJOURNMENT

Agenda prepared by: Cheryl Hyde, Municipal Clerk
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C-1

The Bow River Lodge Update

15 March, 2015

Keeping you informed about the This is Home project and about the
transition to rent geared to income.

Lodge renewal
on track for 2016
Come the fall of 2016, 63
Bow Valley seniors will be
settling into new homes at
Canmore's Bow River
Lodge. BVRH's This Is Home
project will add a new wing to the Lodge, replacing 43 aging lodge rooms,
and adding an additional 20 new units.
Not only will the This Is Home project enable more seniors to remain in the
Bow Valley, close to their families, it will also offer amenities uniquely
suited to seniors' living. Units will be 380 sq. ft., which is larger than older
Lodge rooms. All will be wheelchair-accessible and barrier free, and each
will include a seating area, bedroom, private three-piece washroom, and
small kitchenette. The new wing also features a modern, efficient kitchen
and a spacious dining room, opening onto an interior courtyard patio.
Construction will begin in the spring of 2015.
The This Is Home project is made possible thanks to support from the Alberta Government, Government of
Canada, and BVRH contributing municipalities Towns of Banff and Canmore, MD of Bighorn, Kananaskis
Improvement District, and Banff National Park ID9. Drawing credit: Sahuri + Partners Architects Inc.
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Rent geared to income transition starts July, 2015
In July, 2015, Bow River Lodge
residents will see their bills split into
“rent” and “hospitality”. Rent covers
the normal expenses of a living space
including rent, utilities and
maintenance. Hospitality covers meals
and table service, housekeeping, linen
changes, 24-hour staffing and similar
expenses.

30% is the recognized national standard
for affordable housing. It is the same
standard that’s in place in all of the
other subsidized housing managed by
Bow Valley Regional Housing. After
implementation, our costs will still
compare favourably to the cost of
staying in your own home. We will be
at approximately the average for notfor-profit lodges in Alberta. Rules are
in place to make sure that every
resident will always have discretionary
spending money available.

Also in July, the Lodge will start the
changeover to a new way of assessing
the rent portion of residents’ costs.
“Rent Geared to Income” (RGI) means
that residents will pay up to 30% of
their income for rent, once the new
system is fully in place. The hospitality
portion of residents’ costs is not
affected by this change.

The RGI system is fair, equitable and
sustainable, for today’s residents and
for future residents. It reduces our
dependency on the taxpayer. Residents
who can afford to pay will pay a
reasonable rent, and everyone who
really cannot pay will be helped.
Taxpayers are willing to subsidize those
who truly need subsidies. Through this
change, Bow Valley Regional Housing
is working to ensure that Bow Valley
seniors will be able to stay in the Bow
Valley, now and into the future.

For existing residents, the transition to
RGI will be gradual. Each resident
will receive an individual information
sheet, showing in detail how their rent
costs will change over time. New
residents will have the new rates as
soon as they move in.
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Rent geared to income, frequently asked questions
hospitality package portion of residents’
costs is not affected by this change.
Who will be affected?
Every existing resident of Bow River
Seniors’ Lodge will see some change in
the rent portion of their costs.
Why is this happening?
For the sake of fairness and
sustainability, and to reduce our
dependence on the taxpayer.
Taxpayers are willing to support
those who really need help, but it’s fair
to ask for an affordable rent from those
who can afford to pay.

How will my bill look different?
In July, 2015, Bow River Lodge
residents will see their bills split into
“rent” and “hospitality”. Rent covers
the normal expenses of a living space
including rent, utilities and
maintenance. Hospitality covers meals
and table service, housekeeping, linen
changes, recreation, 24-hour staffing
and similar expenses.

When will this happen?
Beginning in July, 2015. For existing
residents, the transition will be gradual.
New residents will come in at RGI.

What is “rent geared to income”
(RGI)?
“Rent geared to income” means that
residents will contribute up to 30% of
their income for the rent portion of
their costs. There will be a minimum
charge and a maximum charge. The

What will the effect be on the
average resident?
Every resident will be different,
depending on income. Each resident
will receive a personal information
sheet, showing how their changes will
be gradually phased in.
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What is included in this rent?
Think of the costs of being in your
own home: rent or mortgage
payments, utilities, maintenance – all
these and more are included in the rent
payment at the Lodge. The hospitality
payment will cover the other costs,
such as meals and table service,
housekeeping, linen changes, 24-hour
staffing and similar expenses.

Are you doing this to pay for the
new development?
No. Capital funding for the new
development is completely separate
from the RGI initiative. However,
both projects are focused on the future
sustainability of seniors’ housing and
support services in the Bow Valley.
BVRH’s goal is to ensure that Bow
Valley seniors can continue to live close
to their families in the communities
they love.

Is this fair? Is this affordable?
RGI is being increasingly adopted by
lodges across Alberta because it is fair
and equitable. 30% is the recognized
national standard for affordable
housing. All other subsidized housing
in the Bow Valley is at 30% RGI,
including the seniors’ housing beside
the Lodge. Even after full
implementation, it will be cheaper to
live at the Lodge with full services than
to live on your own.

Where does the extra money go?
This money will be entirely devoted to
providing shelter and services to our
residents, while reducing our
dependence on the taxpayer. Through
this and other changes, we’ll have the
flexibility to respond to the
community’s future needs, such as the
possible need for additional levels of
care.

Still have questions? We’d like to help! Talk to Ian Wilson or
Greg Hutchings in their offices or at 403-678-5922
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Unapproved
D-1
TOWN OF CANMORE
MINUTES
Regular Meeting of Council
Council Chamber at the Canmore Civic Centre, 902 – 7 Avenue
Tuesday, April 7, 2015 at 5:00 p.m.

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT
John Borrowman
Mayor
Vi Sandford
Deputy Mayor
Joanna McCallum
Councillor
Sean Krausert
Councillor
Rob Seeley
Councillor
Esmé Comfort
Councillor
Ed Russell
Councillor
COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT
None
ADMINISTRATION PRESENT
Lisa de Soto
Chief Administrative Officer
Lorrie O’Brien
General Manager of Municipal Services
Michael Fark
General Manager of Infrastructure Services
Kate Van Fraassen
Development Planner
Alaric Fish
Manager of Planning and Development
Brenda Caston
Manager of Community Enrichment
Cheryl Hyde
Municipal Clerk (Recorder)
Mayor Borrowman called the April 7, 2015 regular meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.

86-2015

A. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
1. Agenda for the April 7, 2015 Regular Meeting of Council
Moved by Mayor Borrowman that council approve the agenda for the April 7, 2015
meeting of council as presented.
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY
B. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD
None
C. DELEGATIONS AND PETITIONS
None

Minutes approved by: _______ _______

Town of Canmore Regular Council Meeting
April 7, 2015
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87-2015

Unapproved

D. MINUTES
1. Minutes of the March 31, 2015 Special Meeting of Council
Moved by Mayor Borrowman that council approve the minutes of the March 31, 2015
regular meeting of council as presented, with the following amendments:
 Under C-1 Canmore Mountain Arts Foundation, correct the new artsPlace
executive director’s name from Jeremy Alborn to Jeremy Elbourne.
 Under H-3 MD of Bighorn Recreation Services Agreement, add the following
words shown in underline to motion 84A-2015: that council amend motion
84-2015 by adding “with the following amendment: that the words “and
equitable” be stricken from the first and sixth Whereas clauses in the
preamble of the MD of Bighorn recreation services agreement.”
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY
E. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES
None
F. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
None
G. BYLAW APPROVAL
None

88-2015

H. NEW BUSINESS
1. Old Daycare Lands Process Update
Moved by Mayor Borrowman that council approve the disposition of up to 50% of
Municipal Reserve (1MR Block 2 Plan 7811602), known as the old daycare lands, for
the purpose of development of potential affordable and entry level housing.

88A-2015

Moved by Mayor Borrowman that council amend motion 88-2015 by removing
the words “and entry level.”
CARRIED
In favour: Seeley, Sandford, Comfort, Borrowman, McCallum, Krausert
Opposed: Russell

88B-2015

Moved by Councillor Krausert that council amend motion 88-2015 by inserting
the word “perpetually” before “affordable.”
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

88-2015
POSTPONED

Motion 88-2015 now reads as follows: that council approve the disposition of up to
50% of Municipal Reserve (1MR Block 2 Plan 7811602) known as the old daycare
lands for the purpose of development of potential perpetually affordable housing.

89-2015

Moved by Mayor Borrowman that council postpone the disposition of Municipal
Reserve (1MR Block 2 Plan 7811602) until after a public hearing on the matter is held,
and that council schedule a public hearing for Wednesday, June 17, 2015 at 6:00 p.m.
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

Minutes approved by: _______ _______

Town of Canmore Regular Council Meeting
April 7, 2015
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90-2015

91-2015

91A-2015

91-2015
VOTE

Unapproved

2. Reduction of Residential Development Potential within the Bow Valley
Trail Area
Moved by Mayor Borrowman that council maintain the current
residential/commercial ratio of 50% (with some exceptions) within the Bow Valley
Trail Area.
CARRIED
In favour: Seeley, Sandford, Comfort, McCallum, Krausert, Russell
Opposed: Borrowman
3. Community Grants
Moved by Mayor Borrowman that council approve community grants as
recommended by the Grants Committee:
 Our Lady of the Snows Catholic Academy - $5,000
 The Rockies Institute – $3,000
 Hope for Kids - $1,000
 Valley Winds Music Association – $2,400
 Canmore Museum and Geoscience Centre – $5,000
 Canmore Skating Club – $5,000
 Societe des parents l’education francophone de Canmore - $2,000
 Bighorn Sounds – $5,000
Moved by Councillor Krausert that council amend motion 91-2015 by adding: with
an additional $1,600 provided as a grant to the amount recommended to the Our
Lady of the Snows IGEM team.
DEFEATED
In favour: Krausert, Russell
Opposed: Seeley, Sandford, Comfort, Borrowman, McCallum
The vote followed on motion 91-2015: that council approve community grants as
recommended by the Grants Committee:
 Our Lady of the Snows Catholic Academy - $5,000
 The Rockies Institute – $3,000
 Hope for Kids - $1,000
 Valley Winds Music Association – $2,400
 Canmore Museum And Geoscience Centre – $5,000
 Canmore Skating Club – $5,000
 Societe des parents l’education francophone de Canmore - $2,000
 Bighorn Sounds – $5,000
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY
I. CORRESPONDENCE/INFORMATION
None
J. REPORTS FROM ADMINISTRATION
None
K. NOTICES OF MOTION
None
Minutes approved by: _______ _______

Town of Canmore Regular Council Meeting
April 7, 2015
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Unapproved

L. IN CAMERA
None
92-2015

M. ADJOURNMENT
Moved by Mayor Borrowman that council adjourn the April 7, 2015 regular meeting
of council at 7:12 p.m.
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

_________________________
John Borrowman, Mayor

__________________________
Cheryl Hyde, Municipal Clerk

Minutes approved by: _______ _______

Request for Decision
DATE OF MEETING:

April 21, 2015

Agenda #: G-1

TO:

Council

SUBJECT:

CCHC Loan Guarantee Bylaw 2015-07

SUBMITTED BY:

Katherine Van Keimpema, Manager of Financial Services.

RECOMMENDATION:

That council gives second and third readings to Loan Guarantee Bylaw
2015-07 – CCHC Construction Financing Guarantee – Phase 2.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Council is being requested to provide second and third readings to the bylaw to guarantee 25% of the $2.2
million construction financing being taken by Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) from the
Bow Valley Credit Union (BVCU) for phase 2 construction at Lot 39, Block 4, Plan 041 2844 in Canmore,
Alberta. No changes have been made since first reading and no petitions against it have been received to date.
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION OR POLICY
On May 20, 2014, Council passed resolution 117-2014 accepting the conceptual plans for the development
and authorizing CCHC to proceed with the project.
On November 4, 2014, Council passed resolution 276-2014 providing a grant of $1.7 million from the PAH
reserve to help fund phase 1 of the project.
On November 18, 2014 Council passed resolution 285-2014 giving first reading to loan guarantee bylaw
2014-23 – CCHC Construction Financing Guarantee, guaranteeing 25% of the bank financing for phase 1 of
the project during construction ($1,025,000).
On December 16, 2014 Council passed resolutions 328-2014 and 329-2014 giving second and third reading to
loan guarantee bylaw 2014-23 – CCHC Construction Financing Guarantee.
On March 17, 2015 Council passed resolution 59-2015 giving first reading to Loan Guarantee Bylaw 2015-07
– CCHC Construction Financing Guarantee – Phase 2, guaranteeing 25% of the bank financing for phase 2
of the project during construction ($550,000). Also at this meeting, via resolution 60-2015, Council
authorized an $875,000 grant to CCHC for the phase 2 construction from the PAH and general capital
reserves. CCHC is not required to repay this grant.
DISCUSSION
The Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) has been directed by Council to proceed with the
development of phase 2 of a townhouse project on Lot 39, Block 4, Plan 041 2844. This phase of the project
will be funded by a combination of a draw from CCHC reserves, a grant from the PAH reserve held by the
Town, and construction loan financing of $2.2 million. As part of the construction loan approval, Bow Valley
Credit Union is also requesting that the Town provide a 25% ($550,000) loan guarantee for the duration of
construction, anticipated to be complete in the spring of 2016.

CCHC Loan Guaranteeing Bylaw 2015-07 Second and Third Readings
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Section 266 of the Alberta Municipal Government Act (MGA) permits a municipality to guarantee a loan
between a third party and one of its controlled corporations, but the guarantee must be authorized by bylaw
and this bylaw must be advertised.
The process for enacting guaranteeing bylaws requires that they be advertised for two weeks and the public
be given 15 days to provide comment or to petition against the proposed borrowing. The deadline for
comment and petition was April 10, 2015. No petitions were received up to the time of the agenda package
distribution.
Administration is recommending that second and third readings be given to the bylaw.
ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS
Council could amend the proposed bylaw. This is not recommended until administration has had the
opportunity to review any revisions, since the legal requirements surrounding the wording of guaranteeing
bylaws are very specific.
FINANCIAL IMPACTS
The loan guarantee will count against the Town’s debt limit until construction is complete, and would
increase the level of debt by approximately 0.9%, or to 46.8% of the maximum allowed. The current level of
debt, including the previous $2.2M CCHC loan guarantee, is $29.2M, or 45.9% of the Town’s $63.7M debt
limit.
If CCHC defaults on the loan during construction, section 4 of the bylaw addresses the funding source if the
Town is required to make payments to the lender, which would be rents from any and all CCHC rental
properties and then the Town’s operating budget, which would have to be approved by Council.
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The guaranteeing bylaw approval process requires public advertisement and the opportunity to petition
against it. The bylaw was advertised in the Outlook and on the Town’s website.
STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT
Strategic Goals:
The Town of Canmore delivers services in an effective, innovative, and fiscally responsible manner.
 Implement financial controls, processes and systems to ensure transparency and accountability in
municipal service delivery.
Canmore is a viable community for people of diverse socio-economic backgrounds.
 Implement components of the Comprehensive Housing Action Plan.
ATTACHMENT
Bylaw 2015-07 CCHC Loan Guarantee Bylaw – Phase 2

CCHC Loan Guaranteeing Bylaw 2015-07 Second and Third Readings
AUTHORIZATION

Submitted by:

Katherine Van Keimpema, CPA
Manager of Financial Services

Date:

April 14, 2015

Approved by:

Lisa de Soto, P.Eng.
Chief Administrative Officer

Date:

April 16, 2015
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Attachment 1

BYLAW 2015-07
A BYLAW OF THE TOWN OF CANMORE, IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA, TO
AUTHORIZE A LOAN GUARANTEE FOR THE CANMORE COMMUNITY
HOUSING CORPORATION (CCHC).
WHEREAS pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000, Chapter M- 26
and amendments thereto, a municipality may guarantee the repayment of a loan between a lender and
one of its controlled corporations;
AND WHEREAS the Town of Canmore views the development of affordable housing in Canmore as
beneficial to the community and wishes to support such development;
AND WHEREAS Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) is a not-for-profit body,
controlled corporation duly incorporated under the laws of the Province of Alberta and established to
develop and operate affordable housing in Canmore;
AND WHEREAS Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) is the owner of the following
lands in the Town of Canmore: Lot 39, Block 4, Plan 041 2844;
AND WHEREAS Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) intends to build a 16
unit townhouse project;
AND WHEREAS the Bow Valley Credit Union has committed to finance $2.2 million of the said
construction;
AND WHEREAS Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) has requested assistance in its
housing development project through the provision by the Town of Canmore of a loan guarantee during
construction;
AND WHEREAS the Town’s debt limit as established by the provisions of Section 276(2) of the
Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000, Chapter M-26 was $59,822,274 as of the end of the 2013 fiscal
year, against which $30,426,377 of debt had been taken and a loan guarantee of $1,025,000 provided for
another CCHC construction project;
NOW THEREFORE, the council of the Town of Canmore in the Province of Alberta, duly
assembled, enacts:
1: TITLE
1.1. This bylaw shall be known as the “CCHC Loan Guarantee Bylaw – Phase 2.”
2: INTERPRETATION
2.1. In this bylaw:
Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) means the corporation of that name
created to develop and operate affordable housing in the Town of Canmore and whose address
is 203, 600A – 9th Street, Canmore, Alberta, T1W 2T2;

Town of Canmore Bylaw 2015-07

Bow Valley Credit Union means the Bow Valley Credit Union of 810 – 8 Street, Canmore,
Alberta, T1W 2B7.
3: LOAN GUARANTEE
3.1. Subject to the provisions and limitations herein, council is hereby authorized to guarantee the
indebtedness of Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) to the Bow Valley Credit
Union during the construction of its phase 2, 16-unit townhouse development on Lot 39, Block 4,
Plan 041 2844, in the Town of Canmore.
3.2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3.1 herein, the guarantee of indebtedness authorized in
respect of the development shall not exceed twenty-five (25%) of the financing to which the
guarantee applies, or $550,000, whichever is the lesser sum.
3.3. Council shall not guarantee Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC)’s indebtedness
beyond the date on which the indebtedness converts from construction financing to a term
mortgage, and Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) is required to provide council
with written confirmation from Bow Valley Credit Union that the guarantee is no longer required.
3.4. Interest on the loan to be guaranteed shall be 3.9% per annum.
3.5. Interest shall be applicable if the Town of Canmore is required to repay any amount of CCHC’s
indebtedness.
4: FUNDING SOURCES
4.1. Funding to repay the indebtedness potentially created by the loan guarantee shall be derived from
two sources:
a)

Income to be derived from rental of housing units available to the Town as security for the
loan guarantee; and

b)

In the event such income is insufficient to fully cover the indebtedness, funds derived from the
Town’s operating budget.

5: LOAN GUARANTEE AGREEMENT
5.1. Council hereby authorizes the chief administrative officer to enter into a loan guarantee agreement
with Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) and the Bow Valley Credit Union.
6: ENACTMENT/TRANSITION
6.1. If any provision herein is adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid for any reason,
then that provision shall be severed from the remainder of this bylaw and all other provisions of this
bylaw shall remain valid and enforceable.
6.2. If any provision herein is adjudged to be repugnant to any federal or provincial regulation or
legislation, this Bylaw shall continue in full force and effect but any such repugnant provision shall

Bylaw approved by: _______ _______

Town of Canmore Bylaw 2015-07

be of no force or effect until such time as the repugnancy is removed by repeal or amendment of
the federal or provincial legislation or regulation.
6.3. This bylaw comes into force on the date it is passed.

FIRST READING: March 17, 2015
SECOND READING:
THIRD READING:
Approved on behalf of the Town of Canmore:

John Borrowman
Mayor

Date

Cheryl Hyde
Municipal Clerk

Date

Bylaw approved by: _______

_______

Page 3 of 3

Request for Decision
DATE OF MEETING:

April 21, 2015

Agenda #: H-1

TO:

Council

SUBJECT:

Town of Canmore Consolidated Financial Statements, for the year ended
December 31, 2014

SUBMITTED BY:

Katherine Van Keimpema, Manager of Financial Services

RECOMMENDATION:

That Council accept the Town of Canmore’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, for the year ended December 31, 2014, as presented.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Town of Canmore Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by Young Parkyn McNab LLP,
Chartered Accountants, our external auditors. The audit was conducted in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards on behalf of the Council, residents and ratepayers of the Town.
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION OR POLICY
Young Parkyn McNab LLP, was appointed the Town of Canmore’s external financial statement auditors by
Council on December 26, 2011 through Resolution 452-2011.
DISCUSSION
The independent auditors’ report states that “In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly in all material respects, the financial position of the Town of Canmore as at December 31, 2014 and the
results of its operations, changes in its net financial assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.
The Town of Canmore’s financial statements are included as Attachment 1. The auditor will present a
detailed explanation of the statements and is scheduled for an auditor interview with Council (in-camera)
subsequent to this report presentation.
ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS
Council has the option to postpone acceptance of the 2014 audited financial statements pending further
discussion. This is not being recommended as the auditor has provided an unqualified audit report.
FINANCIAL IMPACTS
There are no financial implications of accepting the 2014 audited financial statements.
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
MGA s276(3) states that each municipality must make its financial statements, or a summary of them, and the
auditor’s report of the financial statements available to the public in the manner the council considers
appropriate by May 1st of the year following the year for which the financial statements have been prepared.
Each year our statements are posted on the Town of Canmore website.

Town of Canmore Consolidated Financial Statements, for the year ended December 31, 2014
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STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT
The Town of Canmore delivers services in an effective, innovative, and fiscally responsible manner.
ATTACHMENTS
1) The Town of Canmore Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, for the year ended December 31,
2014 (Attachment 1.)
AUTHORIZATION
Submitted by:

Katherine Van Keimpema, CPA
Manager of Financial Services

Date:

April 2, 2015

Approved by:

Lisa de Soto, P.Eng.
Chief Administrative Officer

Date:

April 10, 2015

TOWN OF CANMORE
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To:

The Mayor and Members of Council of
the Town of Canmore

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Town of Canmore which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2014, and the consolidated
statements of operations, change in net financial assets (debt) and cash flow for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Town of Canmore as at December 31, 2014 and the results of its operations, changes in
its net financial assets (debt), and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards.

Lethbridge, Alberta
April 21, 2015

Chartered Accountants
1

MANAGEMENT REPORT
The consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Town of Canmore
and have been approved by Council.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared from information provided by management.
Financial statements are not precise since they include certain amounts based on estimates and
judgments. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that
the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects.
The Town maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls that are designed to
provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that
the Town's assets are properly accounted for and adequately safeguarded.
The elected Council of the Town of Canmore is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its
responsibilities for financial statements. Council carries out its responsibility principally through review of
financial information prepared by Management and through the Budget Committee. Relevant matters
are discussed with these parties as well as the external auditors.

Manager of Financial Services

Chief Administrative Officer

April 21, 2015

2

TOWN OF CANMORE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at December 31, 2014

2014
Financial assets
Cash and temporary investments (note 2)
Taxes and grants in place of taxes receivable (note 3)
Trade and other receivables (note 4)
Inventory held for resale
Investments (note 5)

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Employee benefit obligations (note 6)
Deferred revenue (note 7)
Long-term debt (note 8)

Net financial assets (debt)
Non-financial assets
Prepaid expenses
Inventory for consumption
Tangible capital assets (schedule 2)

Accumulated surplus (note 12)

2013
(Restated)

$ 34,568,218 $ 26,044,265
659,844
670,472
11,110,050
6,219,951
340,121
16,612,448
15,738,746
62,950,560

49,013,555

4,546,076
360,095
27,328,208
25,691,615

6,392,792
381,206
13,104,895
30,426,377

57,925,994

50,305,270

5,024,566

(1,291,715)

87,377
93,091
278,710,422

83,756
39,318
263,943,526

278,890,890

264,066,600

$ 283,915,456 $ 262,774,885

Commitments and contingencies (note 18)
Approved on behalf of Council:
Councillor

Councillor
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TOWN OF CANMORE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the year ended December 31, 2014
Budget
(Unaudited)
Revenue
Net municipal property taxes (note 13)
User fees and sales of goods
Government transfers for operating (note 14)
Investment income
Penalties and costs of taxes
Development levies
Licenses and permits
Franchise and concession contracts
Rental
Other

Expenses (note 15)
Legislative
Administration
Protective services
Common and equipment pool
Roads, streets, walks and lighting
Waste management
Other environmental use and protection
Family and community support services
Cemeteries and crematoriums
Other public health and welfare
Land use planning, zoning and development
Economic and agricultural development
Public housing operations
Other planning and development
Parks and recreation
Culture - libraries, museums, halls
Other recreation and culture
Utilities

Deficiency of revenue over expenses before other
Other
Government transfers for capital (note 14)
Contributed tangible capital assets

Excess of revenue over expenses
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year
As previously stated
Prior period adjustment (note 17)
As restated
Accumulated surplus, end of year

2014

2013
(Restated)

$ 19,817,004 $ 18,982,941 $ 18,258,272
12,551,692
13,858,661
11,046,467
1,438,561
1,468,983
1,839,294
517,000
975,036
903,856
250,000
248,885
228,465
245,000
835,905
1,708,010
892,405
1,175,353
1,358,347
1,266,059
1,508,718
1,329,284
1,793,438
2,006,114
1,751,333
427,541
2,127,793
1,363,356
39,198,700

43,188,389

39,786,684

657,087
6,471,815
5,033,097
430,868
3,340,248
2,019,389
388,349
53,489
716,149
958,485
355,500
1,455,556
1,080,020
2,516,774
1,740,289
5,777,595
6,376,504

613,428
6,444,980
5,349,573
451,718
4,051,432
3,147,786
3,420,055
374,567
51,802
770,200
916,790
378,644
956,177
1,013,215
3,250,254
1,346,315
5,829,620
6,309,519

610,888
7,378,322
5,011,935
416,939
4,428,402
1,815,259
5,445,775
351,937
55,850
723,901
945,332
335,927
880,209
1,021,478
2,605,725
1,100,768
5,078,604
6,390,848

39,371,214

44,676,075

44,598,099

(1,487,686)

(4,811,415)

9,595,916
-

21,260,598
1,367,659

13,846,908
536,626

9,595,916

22,628,257

14,383,534

9,423,402

21,140,571

9,572,119

262,129,825
-

262,129,825
645,060

252,462,872
739,894

262,129,825

262,774,885

253,202,766

(172,514)

$ 271,553,227 $ 283,915,456 $ 262,774,885
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TOWN OF CANMORE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (DEBT)
For the year ended December 31, 2014
Budget
(Unaudited)
Excess of revenue over expenses
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization
Contributed tangible capital assets
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets

Net change in inventory for consumption
Net change in prepaid expense

Change in net financial debt
Net financial debt, beginning of year
As previously stated
Prior period adjustment (note 17)
As restated
Net financial assets (debt), end of year

2014

2013
(Restated)

$ 9,423,402 $ 21,140,571 $

9,572,119

(22,100,474)
6,146,517
-

(21,534,347)
7,071,496
(1,367,659)
1,051,663
11,950

(17,547,774)
6,143,311
(536,626)
1,294,062
73,971

(15,953,957)

(14,766,897)

(10,573,056)

-

(53,773)
(3,620)

2,152
202,662

-

(57,393)

204,814

(6,530,555)

6,316,281

(1,291,715)
-

(1,936,775)
645,060

(1,235,486)
739,894

(1,291,715)

(1,291,715)

(495,592)

$ (7,822,270) $ 5,024,566

(796,123)

$ (1,291,715)
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TOWN OF CANMORE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
For the year ended December 31, 2014

2014

2013
(Restated)

Operating transactions
Excess of revenue over expenses
Adjustments for items which do not affect cash
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets
Amortization
Contributed tangible capital assets
Net change in non-cash working capital items
Taxes and grants in place of taxes receivable
Trade and other receivables
Inventory held for resale
Inventory for consumption
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Employee benefit obligations
Deferred revenue
Cash provided by operating transactions
Capital transactions
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Cash applied to capital transactions
Investing transactions
Purchase of investments
Proceeds on sale of investments
Cash applied to investing transactions
Financing transactions
Proceeds of long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Cash applied to financing transactions
Increase in cash and temporary investments
Cash and temporary investments, beginning of year
Cash and temporary investments, end of year

$ 21,140,571 $

9,572,119

1,051,663
7,071,496
(1,367,659)

1,294,062
6,143,311
(536,626)

27,896,071

16,472,866

10,628
(4,890,099)
340,121
(53,773)
(3,620)
(1,846,716)
(21,111)
14,223,313

271,364
(2,109,966)
2,152
202,662
(1,501,260)
(38,820)
7,873,401

35,654,814

21,172,399

11,950
(21,534,347)

73,971
(17,547,774)

(21,522,397)

(17,473,803)

(27,987,076)
27,113,374

(5,771,687)
3,581,529

(873,702)

(2,190,158)

(4,734,762)

5,740,797
(4,515,072)

(4,734,762)

1,225,725

8,523,953

2,734,163

26,044,265

23,310,102

$ 34,568,218 $ 26,044,265
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

1.

Significant accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements of the Town of Canmore are the representations of
management prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for local
government established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants. Significant aspects of the accounting policies adopted by the Town are
as follows:
(a) Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual
basis of accounting records revenue as it is earned and measurable. Expenses are
recognized as they are incurred and measurable based upon receipt of goods or services
and/or the legal obligation to pay.
Funds from external parties and earnings thereon restricted by agreement or legislation are
accounted for as deferred revenue until used for the purpose specified.
Government transfers, contributions and other amounts are received from third parties
pursuant to legislation, regulation or agreement and may only be used for certain programs,
in the completion of specific work, or for the purchase of tangible capital assets. In addition,
certain user charges and fees are collected for which the related services have yet to be
performed. Revenue is recognized in the period when the related expenses are incurred,
services performed or the tangible capital assets are acquired.
(b) Reporting entity
The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses,
changes in fund balances and change in financial position of the reporting entity which
comprises all of the organizations that are owned or controlled by the Town and are,
therefore, accountable to the Council for the administration of their financial affairs and
resources. These financial statements include the Canmore Community Housing
Corporation, the Downtown Canmore Business Revitalization Zone, and the Canmore
Public Library.
Taxes levied also includes requisitions for educational, health care, social and other
external organizations that are not part of the municipal reporting entity.
The statements exclude trust assets that are administered for the benefit of external parties.
Interdepartmental and organizational transactions and balances are eliminated.
(c) Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector
accounting standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and
expense during the period. Where measurement uncertainty exists, the financial statements
have been prepared within reasonable limits of materiality. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

1.

Significant accounting policies, continued
(d) Investments
Investments are recorded at amortized cost. Investment premiums and discounts are
amortized on the net present value basis over the term of the respective investments.
When there has been a loss in value that is other than a temporary decline, the respective
investment is written down to recognize the loss.
(e) Development levies
Development levies are recorded when the amount can be reasonably estimated and
collection is reasonably assured. All levies are due within 24 months of the signing date of
the respective agreement.
(f)

Inventories for resale
Housing inventory held for resale is recorded at the lower of the purchase price of the
property and its net realizable value. Other costs related to the purchase of the PAH units
are recorded as resale administration costs. These administration costs include prorated
property taxes, legal fees, and other administrative fees.

(g) Tax revenue
Tax revenues are recognized when the tax has been authorized by bylaw and the taxable
event has occurred.
Requisitions operate as a flow through and are excluded from municipal revenue.
(h) Requisition over-levy and under-levy
Over-levies and under-levies arise from the difference between the actual property tax levy
made to cover each requisition and the actual amount requisitioned.
If the actual levy exceeds the requisition, the over-levy is accrued as a liability and property
tax revenue is reduced. Where the actual levy is less than the requisition amount, the
under-levy is accrued as a receivable and as property tax revenue.
Requisition tax rates in the subsequent year are adjusted for any over-levies or under-levies
of the prior year.
(i)

Government transfers
Government transfers are the transfer of assets from senior levels of government that are
not the result of an exchange transaction, are not expected to be repaid in the future, or the
result of a direct financial return.
Government transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenue in the period in
which events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any
eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable estimates of the amounts can be
determined.
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

1.

Significant accounting policies, continued
(j)

Non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in
the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are
not intended for sale in the normal course of operations. The change in non-financial assets
during the year, together with the excess of revenues over expenses, provides the Change
in Net Financial Assets (Debt) for the year.
(i)

Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes all amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The
cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life as follows:
Years
Land improvements
Buildings
Engineered structures
Machinery and equipment
Vehicles

8 - 30
25 - 50
5 - 90
5 - 40
10 - 40

One-half of the annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and in the year
of disposal. Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for
productive use.
(ii)

Contributions of tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at fair value at the date
of receipt and also are recorded as revenue.

(iii) Leases
Leases are classified as capital or operating leases. Leases which transfer substantially
all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as
capital leases. All other leases are accounted for as operating leases and the related
lease payments are charged to expenses as incurred.
(iv) Inventories
Inventories held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and replacement
cost.
(v) Cultural and historical tangible capital assets
Works of art for display are not recorded as tangible capital assets. Cultural and
historical tangible capital assets are comprised of buildings, bridges, sculptures and
artwork.
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

2.

Cash and temporary investments
2014
Cash
Temporary investments

2013

$ 20,230,308 $ 24,799,161
14,337,910
1,245,104
$ 34,568,218 $ 26,044,265

Temporary investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of twelve months or less.
The temporary investments are comprised of GICs and short term securities with interest rates of
0.50% to 1.35%.
In order to facilitate temporary financing for expenses, the Town has credit facilities totaling
$5,100,000 that could be utilized. An updated borrowing bylaw passed by Council would be
required to access these facilities. As at December 31, 2014, there were no amounts drawn on
these credit facilities (2013 - nil).
3.

Taxes and grants in place of taxes receivables
2014
Taxes and grants in place of taxes receivable
Arrears

4.

2013

$

421,109 $
238,735

507,705
162,767

$

659,844 $

670,472

Trade and other receivables
2014
Trade receivables
Municipal District of Bighorn #8
Utilities
Due from related organizations
Under collection of requisitions
Accrued interest
Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Accrued receivables
Other receivables
Local improvement tax
Allowance for doubtful accounts

$

577,652 $
594,974
1,324,017
2,190,988
(84)
341,389
62,439
5,093,105
532,707
547,863
(155,000)

$ 11,110,050 $

2013
(Restated)
502,701
921,636
1,150,771
918,416
(29,150)
537,470
47,707
1,199,373
468,330
642,697
(140,000)
6,219,951
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

5.

Investments
Cost
Investments

2014
Market value

Cost

2013
Market value

$ 16,612,448 $ 16,910,147 $ 15,738,746 $ 15,813,057

Guaranteed investment certificates and government guaranteed bonds have effective interest
rates of 1.75% to 9.98% (2013 - 1.20% to 9.98%) with maturity dates from 2015 to 2024.
6.

Employee benefit obligations
2014
Vacation

$

360,095 $

2013
381,206

The vacation liability is comprised of the vacation that employees are deferring to future years.
Employees have either earned the benefits (and are vested) or are entitled to these benefits
within the next budgetary year.
7.

Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue consists of deposits and government transfers.
Government transfers consist of funding received from the federal and provincial governments
for which stipulations have not yet been met. The use of these funds is restricted to eligible
projects approved under the funding agreements.
The Canmore Community Housing Corporation (CCHC) has entered into an agreement with
Mountain Haven Co-operative Home Ltd. (the "Co-op") to lease Lot 41 of Block 4 (TSMV) for an
initial lease term of 45 years. The lease also includes four 25 year renewal terms that can be
exercised at the option of the Co-op. The Co-op has paid CCHC $362,000, which represents the
net present value of the lease payments for the entire 45 year initial term of the lease. These
lease payments will be recognized as revenue over the initial term of the lease which
commenced on August 1,2005.
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

7.

Deferred revenue, continued
2014
Deposits
Lease
Library
MSI capital
FGTF/NDCC
AMIP
BMTG
DRP
FRECP
Flood readiness
Legacy Trail
Dyrgas Gate
Firesmart
Flood insurance
FCSS
SAF

$

1,342,411 $
286,250
9,981
2,076,404
898,529
1,595,384
749,110
19,125,310
209,925
327,363
395,512
172,126
2,475
137,428

2013
1,040,106
294,294
12,031
1,608,855
977,659
1,847,820
1,429
470,202
5,579,356
336,242
609,654
253,975
56,325
16,947
-

$ 27,328,208 $ 13,104,895

8.

Long-term debt
2014
Tax supported debentures - capital
Self supported debentures - capital

2013

$ 20,668,127 $ 25,253,086
5,023,488
5,173,291
$ 25,691,615 $ 30,426,377

Current portion

$

3,361,422 $

4,734,762

Principal and interest repayments are due as follows:
Principal
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Thereafter

$

Interest

Total

3,361,422 $
1,768,029
1,721,592
1,805,063
1,843,037
15,192,472

1,098,521 $ 4,459,943
997,265
2,765,294
907,430
2,629,022
823,959
2,629,022
73,504
1,916,541
5,208,616
20,401,088

$ 25,691,615 $

9,109,295 $ 34,800,910
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

8.

Long-term debt, continued
Debenture debt is repayable to Alberta Capital Finance Authority and bears interest at rates
ranging from 1.383% to 10.000% per annum and matures in periods 2015 through 2038. The
average annual interest rate is 5.05% for 2014 (5.05% for 2013). Debenture debt is issued on the
credit and security of the Town at large.
Interest on long-term debt amounted to $1,197,718 (2013 - $1,145,536).
The Town’s total cash payments for interest in 2014 were $1,216,125 (2013 - $1,163,213).

9.

Debt limits
Section 276(2) of the Municipal Government Act requires that debt and debt limits as defined by
Alberta Regulation 255/00 for the Town be disclosed as follows:
2014
Total debt limit
Total debt

2013

$ 63,658,517 $ 58,474,535
25,691,615
30,426,377
$ 37,966,902 $ 28,048,158

Debt servicing limit
Debt servicing

$ 10,609,753 $
4,459,943

9,745,756
5,962,310

$

3,783,446

6,149,810 $

The debt limit is calculated at 1.5 times revenue of the municipality (as defined in Alberta
Regulation 255/00) and the debt service limit is calculated at 0.25 times such revenue. Incurring
debt beyond these limitations requires approval by the Minister of Municipal Affairs. These
thresholds are guidelines used by Alberta Municipal Affairs to identify municipalities which could
be at financial risk if further debt is acquired. The calculation taken alone does not represent the
financial stability of the municipality. Rather, the financial statements must be interpreted as a
whole.
The debt limit calculation includes only the Town.
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

10.

Reserves
Council has set up reserves for various purposes. These reserves are either required by
legislation or set up at the discretion of Council to provide funding for future expenses.
2014
Operating
General operating
Tax stabilization
Library
Business Revitalization Zone

Capital
General capital
Work in progress - grants
Work in progress - taxes
Work in progress - debt
Photo radar
Art trust fund
Economic development
Utilities
Solid waste
PAH
Offsite levies
Recreation levy
Cash in lieu - bear bins
Cash in lieu - parking
Cash in lieu - municipal reserve
Housing development - CCHC

$

2,257,937
1,714,998
60,000
24,290

2013
(Restated)
$

1,835,053
1,702,005
60,000
14,290

4,057,225

3,611,348

8,481,562
21,544
438,297
245,026
930,859
234,209
124,230
4,068,446
466,913
355,189
2,493,193
27,155
220,242
345,646
680,780
636,929

8,494,552
569
570,332
1,093,613
583,495
194,379
105,488
3,242,595
487,595
1,302,067
1,997,657
21,900
194,181
336,493
662,753
718,590

19,770,220

20,006,259

$ 23,827,445

$ 23,617,807
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

11.

Equity in tangible capital assets
2014
Tangible capital assets (schedule 2)
Accumulated amortization (schedule 2)
Long-term debt (note 8)

2013

$ 364,344,226 $ 343,264,417
(85,633,804)
(79,320,891)
(25,691,615)
(30,426,377)
$ 253,018,807 $ 233,517,149

12.

Accumulated surplus
Accumulated surplus consists of internally restricted and unrestricted amounts and equity in
tangible capital assets as follows:
2014
Unrestricted surplus
Internally restricted surplus (reserves) (note 10)
Equity in tangible capital assets (note 11)

$

2013
(Restated)

7,069,204 $ 5,639,929
23,827,445
23,617,807
253,018,807
233,517,149

$ 283,915,456 $ 262,774,885

13.

Net municipal property taxes
Budget
(Unaudited)
Taxation
Real property taxes
Requisitions
Alberta School Foundation Fund
Bow Valley Regional Housing Authority

2014

2013
(Restated)

$ 35,742,715 $ 34,322,697 $ 34,257,575
15,106,176
819,535

14,520,898
818,858

15,106,177
893,126

15,925,711

15,339,756

15,999,303

$ 19,817,004 $ 18,982,941 $ 18,258,272
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

14.

Government transfers
Budget
(Unaudited)
Transfers for operating:
Provincial conditional grants
Transfers for capital:
Provincial government
Federal government

$

1,438,561 $

2014

1,468,983 $

2013

1,839,294

9,595,916
-

21,260,598
-

13,838,337
8,571

9,595,916

21,260,598

13,846,908

$ 11,034,477 $ 22,729,581 $ 15,686,202

15.

Expenditures by object
Budget
(Unaudited)
Salaries, wages and benefits
Contracted and general services
Materials, goods, supplies and utilities
Bank charges and short term interest
Interest on long term debt
Other expenses
Transfers to organizations and others
Provision for allowances
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets

2014

2013

$ 15,117,374 $ 14,684,168 $ 13,357,773
11,784,200
11,755,547
11,277,417
3,058,767
3,126,601
3,283,121
20,500
16,783
19,466
1,514,561
1,197,718
1,145,551
304,000
5,099,947
7,432,355
1,425,295
670,299
645,043
1,853
6,146,517
7,071,496
6,143,311
1,051,663
1,294,062
$ 39,371,214 $ 44,676,075 $ 44,598,099
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

16.

Salary and benefits disclosure
Disclosure of salaries and benefits for elected municipal officials, the chief administrative officer
and designated officers as required by Alberta Regulation 313/2000 is as follows:
(1)
Salary
Council
Borrowman, John
Krausert, Sean
McCallum, Joanna
Comfort, Esme
Sandford, Vi
Seeley, Robert
Russell, Edward
Helder, Hans
Ridley, Jim
Miskow, Gordon
Chief administrative officer (1)
Designated officers (13)

$

75,162 $
40,162
37,512
34,912
34,533
34,337
33,537
-

198,027
$ 1,461,787 $

(2)
Benefits &
allowances
9,892 $
6,572
6,572
5,363
6,572
6,572
6,572
-

2014
85,054 $
46,734
44,084
40,275
41,105
40,909
40,109
-

2013
83,657
46,188
38,259
7,733
45,143
7,283
7,658
32,600
31,450
27,550

24,837
222,864
215,254
206,874 $ 1,668,661 $ 1,594,733

(1) Salary includes regular base pay, bonuses, overtime, lump sum payments, gross honoraria
and any other direct cash remuneration.
(2) Benefits and allowances include the employer's share of all employee benefits and
contributions or payments made on behalf of employees including pension, health care,
dental coverage, vision coverage, group life insurance, accidental disability and
dismemberment insurance, long- and short-term disability plans, professional memberships,
and tuition.
Benefits and allowances figures also include the employer's share of the costs of additional
taxable benefits including special leave with pay, financial planning services, retirement
planning services, concessionary loans, travel allowances, car allowances, and club
memberships.
17.

Prior period adjustment
The prior year numbers have been adjusted to reflect the full amount of local improvement taxes
previously assessed and GST previously expensed. The effects of these adjustments are:
- an increase in unrestricted net assets of $739,894 as at January 1, 2013
- a decrease in net municipal property taxes of $94,834 for the year ended December 31, 2013
- an increase in trade and other receivables of $645,060 and an increase in unrestricted net
assets of $645,060 as at December 31, 2013.
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TOWN OF CANMORE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2014

18.

Commitments and contingencies
a) The Town has entered into an agreement with EPCOR Water Services Inc. to take over all
aspects of the upgrade, management, operation and maintenance relating to the operation of the
water works system, the waste water system, the storm drainage system, and the utility metering
and account management system for and on behalf of the Town. The term of the agreement is
ten years from the commencement date of January 1, 2010. The annual charges for basic work
shall be $2,499,441 for the 2014 year not including Rehabilitation Fund Maintenance and
Repairs, Biosolids Services, Out-of-Scope Work or Capital Work. Each year in June, the fee will
be adjusted by CPI for the following year.
b) The Town has entered into a contract with A.W.B. Building Inspection Service Agency Ltd. to
provide professional safety code services. The contract is from April 1, 2013 to March 31, 2015.
The contractor shall be paid for services as follows, and the Town shall pay the contractor a
minimum fee of $70,000 per annum for the duration of the contract regardless of the number or
value of permits used.
i) Safety Codes Officer duties:
30% of the building permit fees when the construction value of the permit is between $5,000
and $500,000; plus 10% of the building permit fees when the construction value of the permit
is over $500,000 for the duration of the Contract.
The value which is used to establish the Building Permit Fee as part of the Building Permit
application process shall be the value that determines the fees payable to the Contractor
under Article 4(e).
ii) Any additional work requested of the Contractor by the Town shall be billed out by the
Contractor to the Town at the rate of $50 per hour with a minimum one hour charge.
Additional work shall be any work required by the Town of the Contractor that is not outlined
under Articles 2, 3 and 9 of this contract.
c) The Town has entered into an agreement with RCMP to provide policing services. The Town
pays 70% of the actual Full-Time Equivalent utilization each quarter and actual overtime hours
plus quarterly accommodation charges of $59,087 per quarter for the 2014 - 2015 contract year.
d) The Town has an agreement with Bow Valley Property Valuators (BVPV) to provide
assessment services. Assessment services are required by the municipalities in order to carry
out the assessment of property within each municipality, primarily for taxation purposes. Under
the terms of the agreement the Town is committed to $80,000 until the end of June, 2015.
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19.

Related party transactions
During the year the Town entered into the following transactions with related parties:
2014
Bow Valley Regional Housing Association
Included in accounts payable

$

1,325 $

2013

965

The Bow Valley Regional Housing Association was established as a management body by a
Provincial Ministerial Order dated June 19, 1997, and is regulated by the Alberta Housing Act
and its regulations.
The management body operates and maintains social housing
accommodations and is administered by a Board comprised of seven members, two of which are
appointed by the Town. The management body requisitions the member municipalities to fund
operations.
Centennial Museum Society of Canmore
Appropriation
Leasehold improvement loan receivable

$

130,000 $
19,991

107,000
19,991

The Centennial Museum Society of Canmore is a non-profit organization registered in the
Province of Alberta. The Town pledged to support the Centennial Museum Society of Canmore
by way of a Memorandum of Understanding that was originally signed on January 3, 2003. The
Memorandum of Understanding and Bylaw 12-2004 authorize the lending of $200,000 for
construction of leasehold improvements for the museum within the Civic Centre of the Town. In
addition, the Town supports the museum through funding of operations. Council reviews the
program plan annually and approves funding.
The leasehold improvement loan is non-interest bearing and is repayable at a rate of $20,000
per year over 10 years. As at December 31, 2014, one payment remains outstanding.
Canmore Business and Tourism
Appropriation

$

280,936 $

261,531

The Town has retained the services of Canmore Business and Tourism (CBT) to deliver
economic development services for the Town. CBT is administered by a Board comprised of 9
members, one of which is appointed by the Town.
Bow Valley Regional Transit Services Commission
Appropriation
Included in accounts payable

$

166,500 $
-

151,000
1,410

The Bow Valley Regional Transit Services Commission was established as a service
commission by a Provincial Ministerial Order dated April 21, 2011, and is regulated by the
Municipal Government Act and its regulations. The service commission operates and maintains
transit services and is administered by a Board comprised of six members, two of which are
appointed by the Town. The service commission requisitions the member municipalities to fund
operations.
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19.

Related party transactions, continued
Bow Valley Regional Waste Management Commission
Other income
Appropriation
Included in accounts receivable

$

1,917,000 $
6,249
1,917,000

759,606
37,004
759,606

The Bow Valley Waste Management Commission is a regional services commission serving the
Town of Canmore, Town of Banff and the Municipal District of Bighorn No 8. The commission
provides solid waste management services and is administered by a Board comprised of 6
members, two of which are appointed by the Town. The Town of Canmore operates the Town of
Canmore Waste Transfer Station through contract with the Commission.
Canadian Mountain Arts Foundation
Appropriation

$

200,000 $

90,000

The Town has retained the services of Canadian Mountain Arts Foundation to create, operate
and manage a community arts centre in Canmore Arts Centre Advisory Committee Report. The
foundation is administered by a Board comprised of 9 members, one of which is appointed by
the Town.
The above mentioned transactions occurred in the normal course of operations and were
recorded at the exchange amount, which was the amount agreed to between the related parties.
20.

Financial instruments
The Town of Canmore's financial instruments consist of cash and temporary investments,
accounts receivable, investments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, deposit liabilities,
requisition over-levy, and long-term debt. It is management's opinion that the Town is not
exposed to significant interest or risk arising from these financial instruments.
The Town of Canmore is subject to credit risk with respect to taxes and grants in place of taxes
receivables and trade and other receivables. Credit risk arises from the possibility that taxpayers
and entities to which the Town provides services may experience financial difficulty and be
unable to fulfil their obligations. The large number and diversity of taxpayers and customers
minimizes the credit risk.
Unless otherwise noted, the carrying value of the financial instrument approximates fair value.

21.

Approval of financial statements
These financial statements were approved by Council and Management.
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22.

Budget amounts
The 2014 budget for the Town was approved by Council on December 10, 2013 and has been
reported in the consolidate financial statements for information purposes only. These budget
amounts have not been audited, reviewed, or otherwise verified.
The approved budget contained reserve transfers, capital additions and principal payments on
debt as expenses. Since these items are not included in the amounts reported in the consolidate
financial statements, they have been excluded from the budget amounts presented in these
consolidate financial statements.
In addition, the approved budget did not contain an amount for amortization expense. In order to
enhance comparability, the 2013 actual amortization expense has been included as a budget
amount.
Budgeted surplus per financial statements

$

Less:

(22,100,474)
(4,873,840)
6,146,517
6,714,395
4,690,000
$
-

Capital expenses
Long-term debt repayments
Add:
Amortization
Transfers from reserves
Proceeds from long-term debt
Equals: balanced budget
23.

9,423,402

Comparative figures
Where necessary the comparative figures for the 2013 year, have been reclassified to conform
with 2014 financial statement presentation.

24.

Segmented Disclosures
The Town of Canmore provides a range of services to its ratepayers. For each reported
segment, revenues and expenses represent both amounts that are directly attributable to the
segment and amounts that are allocated on a reasonable basis. The accounting policies used in
these segments are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the consolidate financial
statements as disclosed in Note 1.
Refer to the Schedule of Segmented Disclosure (schedule 3).
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Schedule of changes in accumulated surplus

Unrestricted
Balance, beginning of year
As previously stated
Prior period adjustment

$

(note 17)

645,060

As restated
Excess of revenue over
expenses
Unrestricted funds
designated for future use
Restricted funds used for
operations
Restricted funds used for
tangible capital assets
Current year funds used for
tangible capital assets
Contributed tangible capital
assets
Disposal of tangible capital
assets
Annual amortization expense
Long term debt repaid

5,654,216
21,140,571

Equity in tangible
capital assets

2014

2013
(Restated)

23,603,518 $ 233,517,151 $ 262,129,825 $ 252,462,872
23,603,518
-

-

645,060

739,894

233,517,151

262,774,885

253,202,766

-

21,140,571

9,572,119

8,110,998

-

-

-

2,436,916

(2,436,916)

-

-

-

5,450,155

-

-

(5,450,155)

(16,084,192)

-

16,084,192

-

-

(1,367,659)

-

1,367,659

-

-

1,063,613
7,071,496
(4,734,759)

-

(1,063,613)
(7,071,496)
4,734,759

-

-

1,414,988
$

Internally
restricted
(reserves)

(8,110,998)

-

Change in accumulated
surplus
Balance, end of year

5,009,156 $

Schedule 1

7,069,204 $

223,927

19,501,656

21,140,571

9,572,119

23,827,445 $ 253,018,807 $ 283,915,456 $ 262,774,885
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Schedule of tangible capital assets
Land

Schedule 2
Land
improvements

Buildings

Engineered
structures

Machinery and
equipment

Vehicles

Construction in
progress

2014

2013

Cost:
Balance, beginning of year$
Acquisitions
Construction-in-progress
Disposals

47,552,301 $
224,327
(69,951)

15,903,383 $
1,052,363
98,251
(156,881)

68,551,204 $ 182,037,815 $
313,278
12,808,409
3,243,856
5,152,978
(204,655)

10,646,419 $
1,598,118
1,116,545
(431,731)

4,164,978 $
272,161
(76,762)

14,408,318 $ 343,264,417 $ 327,431,036
6,633,350
22,902,006
18,084,400
(9,611,630)
(882,217)
(1,822,197)
(2,251,019)

Balance, end of year

47,706,677

16,897,116

72,108,338

12,929,351

4,360,377

10,547,821

199,794,547

364,344,226

343,264,417

Accumulated amortization:
Balance, beginning of year
Annual amortization
Disposals

-

6,325,513
824,499
(121,123)

9,365,539
1,680,996
-

56,061,483
3,515,190
(189,190)

5,417,603
777,387
(399,295)

2,150,752
273,425
(48,976)

-

79,320,891
7,071,497
(758,584)

74,060,567
6,143,311
(882,987)

Balance, end of year

-

7,028,889

11,046,535

59,387,483

5,795,695

2,375,201

-

85,633,804

79,320,891

Net book value

$

47,706,677 $

9,868,227 $

61,061,803 $ 140,407,064 $

7,133,656 $

1,985,176 $

10,547,821 $ 278,710,422 $ 263,943,526

2013 net book value

$

47,552,301 $

9,577,870 $

59,185,665 $ 125,976,332 $

5,228,816 $

2,014,226 $

14,408,318 $ 263,943,526
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Schedule of segmented disclosure

Schedule 3
Protective
services

General
government
Revenue
Net municipal property taxes
User fees and sales of goods
Government transfers for operating
Investment income
Penalties and costs of taxes
Development levies
Licenses and permits
Franchise and concession contracts
Rental
Other

$ 18,457,636
59,580
180,327
958,134
248,885
450,657
1,468,984
2,076,645
23,900,848

Expenses
Salaries, wages and benefits
Contracted and general services
Materials, goods, supplies and utilities
Bank charges and short term interest
Interest on long term debt
Other expenditures
Transfers to organizations and others
Provision for allowances
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets

Deficiency of revenue over expenses before other
Other
Government transfers for capital
Contributed tangible capital assets

Excess of revenue over expenses

$

1,438,974
398,536
63,123
6,200

Transportation
services

Environmental
services

Public health
services

Planning and
development

Recreation and
culture

$

$

$

$

$

11,556
-

9,794,608
385,248
-

131,346
769,326
12,246

525,305
32,065
12,126
1,112,230
670,320
8,123

Total

2,390,532
120,794
4,776
39,734
1,335,794
24,579

$ 18,982,941
13,858,661
1,468,983
975,036
248,885
835,905
1,175,353
1,508,718
2,006,114
2,127,793

1,906,833

11,556

10,179,856

912,918

2,360,169

3,916,209

43,188,389

3,543,422
1,850,746
193,590
16,030
64,754
742,217
160,167
489,072
(1,594)

2,104,918
2,891,547
143,200
10,000
37,500
162,409
-

760,979
623,628
718,823
2,976
590,543
1,649,359
156,843

686,843
4,342,893
650,858
592,766
3,469,414
6,249
2,337,633
790,705

942,545
89,636
155,662
644
8,082
-

1,688,885
532,311
87,620
384
255,461
166,673
280,936
1,853
180,753
69,951

4,956,576
1,424,786
1,176,848
369
281,761
120,456
185,447
2,244,188
35,758

14,684,168
11,755,547
3,126,601
16,783
1,197,718
5,099,947
670,299
1,853
7,071,496
1,051,663

7,058,404

5,349,574

4,503,151

12,877,361

1,196,569

3,264,827

10,426,189

44,676,075

16,842,444

(3,442,741)

(4,491,595)

(2,697,505)

(6,509,980)

(1,487,686)

(283,651)

(904,658)

23,835
-

191,849
-

2,217,855
57,621

15,822,324
958,315

-

-

3,004,735
351,723

21,260,598
1,367,659

23,835

191,849

2,275,476

16,780,639

-

-

3,356,458

22,628,257

$ 16,866,279

$ (3,250,892)

$ (2,216,119)

$ 14,083,134

$

(283,651)

$

(904,658)

$ (3,153,522)

$ 21,140,571
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Request for Decision
DATE OF MEETING:

April 21, 2015

TO:

Council

SUBJECT:

2014 Administrative Financial Report

SUBMITTED BY:

Katherine Van Keimpema, Manager of Financial Services

RECOMMENDATION:

That Council approve transferring the 2014 Operating Surplus of
$1,764,711 as follows:



Agenda #: H-2

$436,941 to the General Operating Reserve, and
$1,327,770 to the General Capital Reserve.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The 2014 Audited Financial Statements of the Town of Canmore were audited by Young Parkyn McNab
LLP (YPM) who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements. The 2014 operating surplus as
reported and outlined in Attachment 1 arose as a result of receiving unexpected levels of revenue and
significant savings in staffing costs due to benefit cost savings, position vacancies and staffing turnover. The
recommended allocation of the surplus to two reserves is based upon established regulations, policies, capital
plans, and sound financial strategies.
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION OR POLICY
As part of the 2015 budget, administration proposed to:
“Offset the $84,000 fire and rescue salaries and wages accrual from a draw from the operating reserve. It is
anticipated that salaries and wages accruals made in previous years will exceed the amount needed to fund the
retroactive pay required as a result of the completion of contract negotiations to the end of 2013. When the
2014 financial statements are finalized, administration will be recommending that any actual accrual surplus
be transferred to an operating reserve to be used to fund future retroactive pay adjustments, including those
budgeted for in the 2015 budget.” (Source: December 16, 2014 Request for decision Report – 2015 Budget
and Business Plan Approval)
On April 19, 2011 Council adopted the Perpetually Affordable Housing (PAH) policy via resolution #1452011. The policy stipulates that PAH reserve funding sources could include “any year-end surplus above the
budgeted operating surplus within the Planning and Development Department may be contributed to the
PAH Reserve Fund as directed by Council”. In 2014 the P&D department’s net operating surplus was
$299,026.
At its March 17, 2015 meeting, Council passed resolution 60-2015 drawing $575,000 from the PAH Reserve
and $300,000 from the general capital reserve to help fund phase 2 of the PAH rental project at 100 Dyrgas
Lane, with the understanding that any 2014 planning surplus would be transferred to the general capital
reserve to replenish this draw.

DISCUSSION
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The audited 2014 financial statements are prepared in accordance with Public Sector Accounting Body
accounting principles, which require different reporting of certain items than that used when determining any
internal operating surplus or deficit. A reconciliation of the “deficiency of revenue over expenses” per the
audited, non-consolidated financial statements to the internal $1,764,711 operating surplus is provided in
attachment #1.
Revenues net of offsetting transfers were $1.29M over budget. The main variances were;
• +$655k
increased recreation revenue
• +$257k
increased planning revenue
• +$108k
increased fine revenue
• +$ 88k
unbudgeted gain on investments
• +$ 75k
increased ATCO franchise fees
• +$107k
net increases in all other revenue sources
Expenses net of offsetting transfers were $474k under budget. The main variances were;
• - $397k
payroll savings due to lower benefit costs, position vacancies, and staffing turnover,
net of budgeted slippage.
• - $ 77k
net savings across departments across many expense categorizations
It is administration’s recommendation that $1,327,770 of the surplus be transferred to the general capital
reserve. The Town’s Five Year Capital Plan contains a number of capital projects to be funded by draws from
the general capital reserve, leaving a projected five year reserve balance of under $2M in the absence of
alternative funding sources; the targeted minimum balance is $6M. While Council would not approve future
capital projects unless funding sources could be secured, it’s clear that funds will be needed and it’s prudent
to gather these funds when they become available by transferring them to the general capital reserve account.
At its March 17, 2015 meeting, Council approved drawing $575,000 from the PAH Reserve and $300,000
from the general capital reserve to help fund phase 2 of the PAH rental project at 100 Dyrgas Lane.
Historically, draws for such projects have come from the PAH reserve, but the balance was not sufficient to
cover the entire draw. Administration is recommending that the 2014 planning surplus be returned to general
capital reserve rather than the PAH reserve, so has included it in the recommended transfer to the general
capital reserve.
The target for the general operating reserve is $6M or two months (approximately 20%) of operating
expenditures. At present, the general operating reserve is at 2/3 of this target. Therefore, administration is
recommending that 20% of the operating surplus, or $352,941, be transferred to the general operating
reserve. An additional transfer of $84,000 is earmarked to fund future fire and rescue retroactive pay
adjustments that may arise as a result of continued contract negotiations, in accordance with 2015 budget
planning documents.
ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS
The recommendations above take into consideration the PAH policy, as well as sound financial strategies.
Council can choose to direct the surplus funds to any or all reserves as it sees fit.
FINANCIAL IMPACTS
The surplus represents a variance of 4% of the annual expenditure budget of $41.7M, most of which is as a
result of non-tax revenues exceeding budgeted amounts. At the time the 2014 budget was prepared it was not
foreseen that Elevation Place or the planning department would generate the significant levels of revenue that
they did, or that franchise fees would be significantly larger. Also unanticipated were increased fine revenues
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and extended position vacancies and reduced benefit costs. These results were taken into consideration and
adjustments made as called for when the 2015 budgets were prepared.
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
1) Internal Stakeholders consulted monthly through variance analysis discussion and review.
2) External Stakeholders are updated through interim and annual financial reporting process.
STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT
The Town of Canmore delivers effective and fiscally responsible services while valuing innovation.
ATTACHMENTS
1) Bridge between Town of Canmore Internal Statements and YPM Audited Statements.
2) Town of Canmore 2014 Administrative Financial Report.
AUTHORIZATION
Prepared by:

Katherine Van Keimpema, CPA
Manager of Financial Services

Date:

April 2, 2015

Approved by:

Lisa de Soto, P.Eng.
Chief Administrative Officer

Date:

April 10, 2015

H-2 Attachment 1
BRIDGE BETWEEN TOWN OF CANMORE INTERNAL STATEMENTS
AND YPM AUDITED STATEMENTS
2014 Operating Surplus (Internal Statements - Cash)

$

1,764,711

$

6,582,945
1,954,360
4,584,959
13,122,264

Add:
(1) Transfers to Reserves
(2) Capital Revenues
(3) Debenture Principal

$
Less:
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

Transfers from Reserves
Non TCA expenditures (reclass)
Amortization expense
Loss on disposal of Tangible Capital Assets

2014 Deficiency of revenue over expenses before other
(Non-Consolidated Audited Statements)

$

$

5,204,589
4,843,745
6,862,874
981,711
17,892,919

$

(3,005,944)

(1) TOC recognizes as expense any Transfer to Reserves from operations.
(2) TOC does not recognize Capital funding as revenue in the internal statements.
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

Booked through the capital accounts.
TOC expenses principal payments on debentures.
Only debenture payments related to interest are expensed for external reporting.
TOC recognizes as income the Transfer from Reserves into operations.
TOC budgets these as "Capital". Recorded to expense at year-end if non-qualifying
as a Tangible Capital Asset (TCA).
TOC does not book. Non-cash, therefore no impact on the cash-based surplus/deficit.
External statements book as expense.
Primarily the write off of flood related work that was recorded as a probable asset
(construction in progress) in prior year.

H-2 Attachment 2

Town of Canmore
Summary of All Units
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

REVENUES
Municipal Taxes
Sales and Rentals
Permits and Fines
Internal Transfers
Grants
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue

17,740,140
10,751,808
1,803,705
681,791
1,489,107
5,171,884
37,638,435

18,251,056
12,563,235
2,419,618
646,394
1,742,700
7,367,923
42,990,926

18,877,891
15,279,534
2,767,332
674,979
1,427,712
7,496,786
46,524,234

18,986,463
14,246,495
1,803,405
668,229
1,341,129
4,605,487
41,651,208

(108,572)
1,033,039
963,927
6,750
86,583
2,891,299
4,873,026

(1%)
7%
53%
1%
6%
63%
12%

EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Borrowing Costs
Other
Transfer to Capital
Transfer to Reserve
Internal Transfers
Transfer to Utilities
Transfer to Affiliated Orgs
Non TCA Capital
Total Expenditures

11,455,053
1,148,999
8,772,863
2,677,448
4,105,812
536,127
(446,268)
4,651,051
681,791
1,052,703
1,241,836
1,281,268
37,158,683

12,655,736
1,353,945
9,804,609
3,123,579
5,720,810
310,428
(7,329,830)
5,265,454
646,394
0
1,285,759
8,214,830
41,051,714

13,851,879
1,549,775
10,092,356
2,964,470
5,932,480
263,937
(4,313,584)
6,009,920
674,979
0
2,844,226
4,889,084
44,759,522

14,281,974
1,558,233
10,021,542
2,919,453
5,982,811
304,000
575,500
4,167,801
668,229
0
1,171,665
0
41,651,208

(430,095)
(8,458)
70,814
45,017
(50,331)
(40,063)
(4,889,084)
1,842,119
6,750
0
1,672,561
4,889,084
3,108,314

(3%)
(1%)
1%
2%
(1%)
(13%)
(850%)
44%
1%
0%
143%
0%
7%

Net Surplus / Deficit

479,752

1,939,212

1,764,712

0

1,764,712

0%

Education Requisition
Senior Requisition
BRZ Levy

15,857,187
863,423
99,150

15,106,177
893,126
102,050

14,520,898
818,858
105,050

15,106,176
819,535
102,050

(585,278)
(677)
3,000

(4%)
(0%)
3%

See following departmental sheets for details:

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

Town of Canmore
Summary of Town Operations (excl Utilities / SWS)
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

REVENUES
Municipal Taxes
Sales and Rentals
Permits and Fines
Internal Transfers
Grants
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue

17,692,798
3,248,717
1,803,705
681,791
1,489,107
3,818,198
28,734,316

18,203,714
4,103,897
2,419,618
646,394
1,742,700
6,316,847
33,433,170

18,877,891
5,484,927
2,767,332
674,979
1,427,712
7,111,538
36,344,379

18,941,463
4,527,740
1,803,405
668,229
1,341,129
4,480,487
31,762,453

(63,572)
957,187
963,927
6,750
86,583
2,631,051
4,581,926

(0%)
21%
53%
1%
6%
59%
14%

EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Borrowing Costs
Other
Transfer to Capital
Transfer to Reserve
Internal Transfers
Transfer to Utilities
Transfer to Affiliated Orgs
Non TCA Capital
Total Expenditures

10,889,513
1,138,674
4,813,924
1,897,988
2,754,379
536,127
(446,268)
3,070,690
60,734
1,052,703
1,204,832
1,281,268
28,254,564

12,044,972
1,346,291
5,543,821
2,308,178
4,314,536
310,428
(7,329,830)
3,470,875
21,104
0
1,248,755
8,214,830
31,493,960

13,165,036
1,525,986
5,781,614
2,358,793
4,307,306
263,937
(4,313,584)
3,748,687
14,829
0
2,837,977
4,889,084
34,579,665

13,557,670
1,548,343
5,631,113
2,306,253
4,323,007
304,000
575,500
2,384,958
22,568
0
1,109,041
0
31,762,453

(392,634)
(22,357)
150,501
52,540
(15,701)
(40,063)
(4,889,084)
1,363,729
(7,739)
0
1,728,936
4,889,084
2,817,212

(3%)
(1%)
3%
2%
(0%)
(13%)
(850%)
57%
(34%)
0%
156%
0%
9%

Net Surplus / Deficit

479,752

1,939,210

1,764,714

0

1,764,714

0%

Education Requisition
Senior Requisition
BRZ Levy

15,857,187
863,423
99,150

15,106,177
893,126
102,050

14,520,898
818,858
105,050

15,106,176
819,535
102,050

(585,278)
(677)
3,000

(4%)
(0%)
3%

See following departmental sheets for details:

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

Town of Canmore
General Municipal
2014 Actual - FINAL

REVENUES
Municipal Taxes
Sales and Rentals
Permits and Fines
Grants
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue
EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Borrowing Costs
Other
Transfer to Capital
Transfer to Reserve
Transfer to Utilities
Non TCA Capital
Total Expenditures
Net Surplus / Deficit

2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

17,193,435
1,164,572
320,855
355,544
2,739,085
21,773,491

17,678,685
1,313,994
228,465
597,813
5,253,009
25,071,966

18,352,586
1,468,983
248,885
180,327
4,636,032
24,886,813

18,416,463
1,250,000
250,000
204,000
3,811,335
23,931,798

(63,877)
218,983
(1,115)
(23,673)
824,697
955,015

(0%)
18%
(0%)
(12%)
22%
4%

337,482
2,349,085
229,892
(446,268)
1,995,195
1,052,703
1,281,268
6,799,357

180,919
3,909,256
96,611
(7,329,830)
2,792,470
0
8,214,830
7,864,256

85,422
3,902,042
14,914
(4,313,584)
2,719,174
0
4,889,084
7,297,052

(83,536)
3,917,416
50,000
575,500
1,888,258
0
0
6,347,638

168,958
(15,374)
(35,086)
(4,889,084)
830,916
0
4,889,084
949,414

(202%)
(0%)
(70%)
(850%)
44%
0%
0%
15%

14,974,134

17,207,710

17,589,761

17,584,160

5,601

0%

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Sales and Rentals - increased from better than anticipated electrical & gas franchise fees - this is partially offset
with increase in Transfer to Reserve (T to R).
Grants - decreased MSI operating grant funding from province.
Transfers and Other - increased due to (1) greater investment revenue of $460k due to investment income, timing of
cash flows and interest rates - $370k is offset in (T to R) (2) +$331k in developer monies received that flow to Offsite Levy
Reserve - this is offset in (T to R) and (3) other revenue of +$36k.
Other - decreased as full allowance for doubtful accounts and tax adjustments was not required.
Transfer to Capital - variance is Non TCA capital expenditures booked into operating statement - this is completely offset
in Non TCA Capital.
Transfer to Reserve (T to R) - increased per above - interest, developer levies and electrical franchise fees.
Non TCA Capital - Non TCA capital expenditures offset above - Transfer to Capital. These expenditures are recorded
as capital projects but do not qualify as capital under TCA definition. Primary examples are many 2013 flood expenses (DRP)
that are not related to a future tangible asset, insurance claims from civic centre flood and plans & studies.

Town of Canmore
Council
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual
REVENUES
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue
EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Other
Transfer to Reserve
Total Expenditures
Net Surplus / Deficit

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

59,640
59,640

50,500
50,500

5,895
5,895

25,000
25,000

(19,105)
(19,105)

(76%)
(76%)

274,777
173,017
0
12,394
59,640
50,000
569,828

337,352
206,727
2,000
14,309
50,500
50,000
660,888

328,412
220,363
0
8,756
55,895
0
613,426

335,849
234,038
0
12,200
75,000
0
657,087

(7,437)
(13,675)
0
(3,444)
(19,105)
0
(43,661)

(2%)
(6%)
0%
(28%)
(25%)
0%
(7%)

(510,188)

(610,388)

(607,531)

(632,087)

24,556

(4%)

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Transfers and Other - decreased as council did not require full contingency budget - this is offset below - Other expenses.
Admin and General Services - decreased due to budget savings primarily in travel, training and hosting.
Other - increased per above - contingency budget.

Town of Canmore
Corporate Administration Rollup
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual
REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Internal Transfers
Grants
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue
EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Other
Transfer to Reserve
Total Expenditures
Net Surplus / Deficit

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

51,118
129,475
5,673
20,776
207,042

57,870
130,245
13,021
6,641
207,777

59,580
132,688
77,048
9,331
278,647

52,500
134,188
7,800
8,700
203,188

7,080
(1,500)
69,248
631
75,459

13%
(1%)
888%
7%
37%

1,984,422
292,965
775,715
89,545
142
5,673
3,148,462

2,134,890
434,309
789,036
93,266
798
0
3,452,299

2,421,834
465,379
727,333
123,560
7
0
3,738,113

2,462,970
510,680
829,610
111,070
0
0
3,914,330

(41,136)
(45,301)
(102,277)
12,490
7
0
(176,217)

(2%)
(9%)
(12%)
11%
0%
0%
(5%)

(2,941,420)

(3,244,522)

(3,459,466)

(3,711,142)

251,676

(7%)

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Grants - increased from WCB Partners in Injury Reduction (PIR) actual refund and a WCB special surplus dividend.
Admin and General Services - decreased primarily due to savings in Communications marketing expenses for EP and
general savings in all areas.
Contracted Services - decreased legal and other professional services requirements primarily in Executive Office and
Finance. Savings were identified and reflected in 2015 budget.
Supplies and Energy - increased primarily from motion 204-2014, approving expenditure of $18k for Health & Safety
related items after receiving the WCB PIR refund.

Town of Canmore
Municipal Services Rollup
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Permits and Fines
Internal Transfers
Grants
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue

1,664,109
798,423
11,818
1,119,891
393,708
3,987,949

2,330,218
897,217
2,568
1,127,866
289,056
4,646,925

3,383,898
1,406,217
2,568
1,170,337
287,786
6,250,806

2,723,195
717,750
2,568
1,125,329
229,861
4,798,703

660,703
688,467
0
45,008
57,925
1,452,103

24%
96%
0%
4%
25%
30%

EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Other
Transfer to Reserve
Internal Transfers
Total Expenditures

4,524,059
506,962
2,573,582
285,666
12,827
421,074
60,734
8,384,904

5,129,401
550,214
2,868,815
365,216
1,353
307,677
21,104
9,243,780

5,786,253
699,547
3,054,414
446,436
17,935
725,439
14,829
10,744,853

6,095,690
624,669
2,839,498
386,867
0
218,700
22,568
10,187,992

(309,437)
74,878
214,916
59,569
17,935
506,739
(7,739)
556,861

(5%)
12%
8%
15%
0%
232%
(34%)
5%

(4,396,955)

(4,596,855)

(4,494,047)

(5,389,289)

895,242

(17%)

Net Surplus / Deficit

See following departmental sheets for details:
Municipal Clerk/Records
Community Enrichment Rollup
Protective Services Rollup
Recreation Rollup

Town of Canmore
Municipal Clerk/Records
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual
REVENUES
Internal Transfers
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue
EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Total Expenditures
Net Surplus / Deficit

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

9,250
15,395
24,645

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0%
0%
0%

250,665
261,214
20,410
956
533,245

284,572
311,680
14,302
578
611,132

291,361
385,169
53,120
1,074
730,724

291,629
325,120
52,000
500
669,249

(268)
60,049
1,120
574
61,475

(0%)
18%
2%
115%
9%

(508,600)

(611,132)

(730,724)

(669,249)

(61,475)

9%

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Admin and General Services - increased insurance premium costs resulting from insurance industry claim trends
- per briefing report May 6.

Town of Canmore
Community Enrichment Roll Up
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual
REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Internal Transfers
Grants
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

60,013
2,568
701,834
127,034
891,449

61,497
2,568
704,330
108,631
877,026

61,807
2,568
771,801
109,495
945,671

57,135
2,568
722,293
74,120
856,116

4,672
0
49,508
35,375
89,555

8%
0%
7%
48%
10%

EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Other
Transfer to Reserve
Internal Transfers
Total Expenditures

1,049,044
60,030
77,303
104,377
50
69,230
4,368
1,364,402

1,088,101
44,867
77,792
114,756
1,038
78,814
9,068
1,414,436

1,120,405
53,530
74,949
124,912
7,935
122,195
9,068
1,512,994

1,167,261
65,739
83,975
116,765
0
7,200
10,568
1,451,508

(46,856)
(12,209)
(9,026)
8,147
7,935
114,995
(1,500)
61,486

(4%)
(19%)
(11%)
7%
0%
1597%
(14%)
4%

Net Surplus / Deficit

(472,953)

(537,410)

(567,323)

(595,392)

28,069

(5%)

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Grants - increased primarily from an unanticipated Bow Valley Parent Link (BVPL) program grant & 5% funding adjustment.
Transfers and Other - increased mainly from BVPL grant funding received in prior year for use in Q1 2014. This is
partially offset with reduced transfer from Art Trust reserve for maintenance of public art.
Admin and General Services - decreased due to budget savings primarily in Arts & Culture.
Transfers to Reserve - increased from BVPL & FCSS grant funding received in 2014 for use in Q1 2015.

Town of Canmore
Protective Services Rollup
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Permits and Fines
Grants
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue

483,406
798,423
405,136
238,113
1,925,078

93,681
897,217
423,536
168,336
1,582,770

95,880
1,406,217
398,536
178,291
2,078,924

99,500
717,750
398,536
155,741
1,371,527

(3,620)
688,467
0
22,550
707,397

(4%)
96%
0%
14%
52%

EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Other
Transfer to Reserve
Internal Transfers
Total Expenditures

2,037,964
127,619
2,378,571
138,467
12,777
281,844
56,366
5,033,608

1,871,149
108,099
2,685,656
125,723
0
228,863
12,036
5,031,526

2,104,918
120,921
2,796,608
141,271
10,000
603,244
5,761
5,782,723

2,109,607
124,975
2,581,661
141,342
0
211,500
12,000
5,181,085

(4,689)
(4,054)
214,947
(71)
10,000
391,744
(6,239)
601,638

(0%)
(3%)
8%
(0%)
0%
185%
(52%)
12%

(3,108,530)

(3,448,756)

(3,703,799)

(3,809,558)

105,759

(3%)

Net Surplus / Deficit

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Permits and Fines - increased due to (1) RCMP focus on traffic enforcement $108k (2) photo radar proceeds $585k - violations
have increased due to the availability of the contractor to capture images in multiple directions and change in vehicles used.
Transfers and Other - increase due to (1) carryover emergency management training grant funds from prior year
(2) a private donation received in recognition for efforts during the flood - used for specialized equipment (3) transfer
from Photo Radar Reserve to offset expenses related to I Drive Safely prizes.
Contracted Services - increased due to (1) photo radar contract expenses on increased revenue (2) RCMP contract
costs as budget assumptions were too low - corrected for 2015 (3) partially offset with decrease in emergency management
expenses after receiving AB Emergency Response Grant.
Other - increased primarily due to specialized equipment purchased as result of private donation.
Transfer to Reserve - increased due to photo radar surplus transfer to reserve.

Town of Canmore
Recreation Rollup
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Grants
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue

1,120,691
12,921
13,167
1,146,779

2,175,040
0
12,090
2,187,130

3,226,211
0
0
3,226,211

2,566,560
4,500
0
2,571,060

659,651
(4,500)
0
655,151

26%
(100%)
0%
25%

EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Other
Transfer to Reserve
Total Expenditures

1,186,387
58,099
97,298
41,866
0
70,000
1,453,650

1,885,579
85,568
91,065
124,158
316
0
2,186,686

2,269,570
139,927
129,736
179,179
0
0
2,718,412

2,527,193
108,835
121,862
128,260
0
0
2,886,150

(257,623)
31,092
7,874
50,919
0
0
(167,738)

(10%)
29%
6%
40%
0%
0%
(6%)

Net Surplus / Deficit

(306,871)

444

507,799

(315,090)

822,889

(261%)

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Sales and Rentals - Elevation Place membership and other revenues continued to exceed expectations through 2014. This
level of demand for health & wellness in the community has been reflected in 2015 budget.
Salaries, Wages and Benefits - decrease is a reflection of (1) position vacancies and turnover in most areas (2) staffing
shortages primarily in Aquatics (3) more contracting of program instructors versus employee status.
Admin and General Services - increased primarily due to service fees for online registration and hosted payment system.
Supplies and Energy - increased due to the purchase of recreation programming equipment and overall supplies to meet
the high customer volume.

Town of Canmore
Municipal Infrastructure Rollup
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Permits and Fines
Internal Transfers
Grants
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue

368,918
396,307
540,498
8,000
130,045
1,443,768

401,816
1,014,454
513,581
4,000
302,064
2,235,915

572,466
815,635
539,723
0
53,230
1,981,054

502,045
555,655
531,473
4,000
0
1,593,173

70,421
259,980
8,250
(4,000)
53,230
387,881

14%
47%
2%
(100%)
0%
24%

EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Other
Transfer to Reserve
Total Expenditures

3,768,772
105,376
1,464,627
1,510,383
233,626
292,529
7,375,313

4,262,411
90,377
1,793,970
1,835,387
161,166
42,750
8,186,061

4,543,115
71,722
1,799,868
1,780,041
175,186
24,110
8,394,042

4,746,696
109,981
1,762,005
1,796,116
179,000
0
8,593,798

(203,581)
(38,259)
37,863
(16,075)
(3,814)
24,110
(199,756)

(4%)
(35%)
2%
(1%)
(2%)
0%
(2%)

(5,931,545)

(5,950,146)

(6,412,988)

(7,000,625)

587,637

(8%)

Net Surplus / Deficit

See following departmental sheets for details:
Engineering
Planning & Development
Facilities Rollup
Public Works Rollup

Town of Canmore
Engineering
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Permits and Fines
Internal Transfers
Total Revenue

435
13,979
192,600
207,014

274
26,111
196,840
223,225

1,858
19,920
198,808
220,586

0
14,000
198,808
212,808

1,858
5,920
0
7,778

0%
42%
0%
4%

EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Other
Total Expenditures

703,148
13,860
120,104
8,223
95,397
940,732

717,768
16,444
113,466
22,799
151,000
1,021,477

716,115
10,678
116,796
3,125
166,500
1,013,214

745,360
19,160
135,000
9,500
171,000
1,080,020

(29,245)
(8,482)
(18,204)
(6,375)
(4,500)
(66,806)

(4%)
(44%)
(13%)
(67%)
(3%)
(6%)

(733,718)

(798,252)

(792,628)

(867,212)

74,584

(9%)

Net Surplus / Deficit

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Contracted Services - decreased professional services requirements

Town of Canmore
Planning & Development
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Permits and Fines
Total Revenue

4,498
382,328
386,826

9,971
988,343
998,314

9,796
795,715
805,511

6,525
541,655
548,180

3,271
254,060
257,331

50%
47%
47%

EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Other
Total Expenditures

678,462
15,358
104,243
1,039
0
799,102

712,414
17,894
211,608
2,869
547
945,332

745,884
18,844
142,715
9,174
173
916,790

804,335
22,450
121,500
10,200
0
958,485

(58,451)
(3,606)
21,215
(1,026)
173
(41,695)

(7%)
(16%)
17%
(10%)
0%
(4%)

(412,276)

52,982

(111,279)

(410,305)

299,026

(73%)

Net Surplus / Deficit

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Permits and Fines - Development activity exceeded budget projections particularly in Three Sisters.
Salaries, Wages and Benefits - decreased due to position changes and a temporary leave of absence.
Contracted Services - increased due to (1) permit review and inspection costs resulting from improved development
activity (2) unbudgeted Fire Response Time Study per motion 278-2014.

Town of Canmore
Facilities Rollup
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual
REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Internal Transfers
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue
EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Transfer to Reserve
Total Expenditures
Net Surplus / Deficit

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

307,002
34,545
0
341,547

329,631
33,500
153,144
516,275

460,600
51,800
5,480
517,880

423,003
51,800
0
474,803

37,597
0
5,480
43,077

9%
0%
0%
9%

1,110,353
26,539
430,946
764,072
249,404
2,581,314

1,471,580
19,682
555,528
1,006,077
0
3,052,867

1,644,744
23,261
742,096
931,803
0
3,341,904

1,719,566
41,545
722,950
943,971
0
3,428,032

(74,822)
(18,284)
19,146
(12,168)
0
(86,128)

(4%)
(44%)
3%
(1%)
0%
(3%)

(2,239,767)

(2,536,592)

(2,824,024)

(2,953,229)

129,205

(4%)

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Sales and Rentals - increased due to change of accounting for utility portion of facility lease agreements. Several new
leases have also been initiated (eg: ATM's)
Admin and General Services - decreased as training courses and conference attendance were both less than expected
due to Civic Centre flood and staffing shortages through the year.

Town of Canmore
Public Works Rollup
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual
REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Internal Transfers
Grants
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue
EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Other
Transfer to Reserve
Total Expenditures
Net Surplus / Deficit

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

56,983
313,353
8,000
130,045
508,381

61,940
283,241
4,000
148,920
498,101

100,212
289,115
0
47,750
437,077

72,517
280,865
4,000
0
357,382

27,695
8,250
(4,000)
47,750
79,695

38%
3%
(100%)
0%
22%

1,276,809
49,619
809,336
737,049
138,229
43,125
3,054,167

1,360,648
36,358
913,369
803,641
9,619
42,750
3,166,385

1,436,371
18,939
798,261
835,938
8,512
24,110
3,122,131

1,477,435
26,826
782,555
832,445
8,000
0
3,127,261

(41,064)
(7,887)
15,706
3,493
512
24,110
(5,130)

(3%)
(29%)
2%
0%
6%
0%
(0%)

(2,545,786)

(2,668,284)

(2,685,054)

(2,769,879)

84,825

(3%)

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Sales and Rentals - increase in sales of cemetery plots and niches.
Transfers and Other - increased from ATCO tree replacement funding received in prior year for use in 2014. Some was
expended in contracted services throughout the year and portion was transferred back into reserve for use in 2015.
Contracted Services - although overall variance is less than 5%, snow & ice control was considerably over budget
due to the frequency of snow events. Contracted fleet repairs were also significantly over budget due to volume of work and
increased service delivery delays. These were mostly offset in both Parks and Streets areas with savings in pavement
patching, line marking and tree maintenance.
Transfer to Reserve - remaining ATCO tree replacement & maintenance funds to reserve for use in 2015.

Town of Canmore
Solid Waste Services Rollup
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

REVENUES
Sales and Rentals
Total Revenue

1,620,354
1,620,354

1,831,211
1,831,211

2,145,988
2,145,988

2,112,638
2,112,638

33,350
33,350

2%
2%

EXPENDITURES
Salaries, Wages and Benefits
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Borrowing Costs
Transfer to Reserve
Internal Transfers
Transfer to Affiliated Orgs
Total Expenditures

565,540
10,326
366,783
61,809
0
347,185
231,707
37,004
1,620,354

610,764
7,655
567,834
52,016
54,803
274,006
227,130
37,004
1,831,212

686,843
20,670
600,834
91,544
352,503
128,516
258,829
6,249
2,145,988

724,304
9,890
524,980
63,200
369,249
114,051
244,340
62,624
2,112,638

(37,461)
10,780
75,854
28,344
(16,746)
14,465
14,489
(56,375)
33,350

(5%)
109%
14%
45%
(5%)
13%
6%
(90%)
2%

0

(1)

0

0

0

0%

Net Surplus / Deficit

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Salaries, Wages and Benefits - decreased primarily due to staffing turnover throughout 2014 - partially offset with increase
in Contracted Services.
Admin and General Services - increase is mainly from shipping recyclables.
Contracted Services - increased due to (1) contracted staffing to cover during shortages (2) recycling florescent bulbs
and other hazardous materials (3) repair & maintenance for new transtors and sorting/baler system.
Supplies and Energy - increase is due general supplies required for new Waste Management Centre.
Borrowing Costs - decreased due to lower debt interest rate for waste management facility versus budget assumption.
Transfer to Reserve - increased as SWS is rate model supported and all variances in revenues and expenditures
are offset through the transfer to or from reserve at year end.
Internal Transfers - increase reflects transfer to Fleet Services for fuel costs.
Transfer to Affiliated Orgs - decreased due to delay in ownership transfer of the waste transfer station to Bow Valley Regional
Waste Management Commission and the program requirement to repay the project over 40 years.

Town of Canmore
Utilities
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

REVENUES
Municipal Taxes
Sales and Rentals
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue

47,341
5,882,738
1,353,686
7,283,765

47,341
6,628,126
1,051,076
7,726,543

0
7,648,620
385,248
8,033,868

45,000
7,606,117
125,000
7,776,117

(45,000)
42,503
260,248
257,751

(100%)
1%
208%
3%

EXPENDITURES
Admin and General Services
Contracted Services
Supplies and Energy
Borrowing Costs
Transfer to Reserve
Internal Transfers
Total Expenditures

0
3,592,156
717,651
1,351,433
1,233,176
389,350
7,283,766

0
3,692,953
763,385
1,351,472
1,520,573
398,160
7,726,543

3,118
3,709,908
514,133
1,272,671
2,132,718
401,321
8,033,869

0
3,865,449
550,000
1,290,555
1,668,792
401,321
7,776,117

3,118
(155,541)
(35,867)
(17,884)
463,926
0
257,752

0%
(4%)
(7%)
(1%)
28%
0%
3%

(1)

0

(1)

0

(1)

0%

Net Surplus / Deficit

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Municipal Taxes - decreased to reflect YPM audit adjustment to change the method of accounting for local improvement
property taxes.
Transfers and Other - increase due to developer offsite levy revenue contribution into the Utility rate model - this is offset
with an increase in Transfer to Reserve.
Supplies and Energy - decreased as natural gas and power consumption & contract charges were less than projected.
Transfer to Reserve - increased as Utilities is rate model supported and all variances in revenues and expenditures
are offset through the transfer to or from reserve at year end.

Town of Canmore
Economic Development
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

REVENUES
Permits and Fines
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue

288,120
58,044
346,164

279,483
10,000
289,483

296,595
14,000
310,595

280,000
0
280,000

16,595
14,000
30,595

6%
0%
11%

EXPENDITURES
Transfer to Reserve
Transfer to Affiliated Orgs
Total Expenditures

56,856
289,308
346,164

27,948
261,534
289,482

29,660
280,936
310,596

28,000
252,000
280,000

1,660
28,936
30,596

6%
11%
11%

0

1

(1)

0

(1)

0%

Net Surplus / Deficit

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Permits and Fines - increased as business registry fees collected were better than anticipated - this is offset with
increase in Transfer to Affiliated Orgs - (Canmore Business & Tourism).
Transfers and Other - increased as $14k was transferred from Economic Development Reserve to fund the management of
Mountain Market in 2014 - this is offset with increase in Transfer to Affiliated Orgs (CBT).
Transfer to Affiliated Orgs - per above - excess registry fees & mountain market management.

Town of Canmore
Library
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual
EXPENDITURES
Admin and General Services
Transfer to Affiliated Orgs
Total Expenditures
Net Surplus / Deficit

2013
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

60,353
561,524
621,877

64,664
605,221
669,885

68,975
452,041
521,016

68,975
452,041
521,016

0
0
0

0%
0%
0%

(621,877)

(669,885)

(521,016)

(521,016)

0

0%

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
nothing to comment

2014
Actual

Town of Canmore
Housing
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

REVENUES
Municipal Taxes
Transfers and Other
Total Revenue

499,364
416,899
916,263

525,030
405,576
930,606

525,305
2,105,264
2,630,569

525,000
405,591
930,591

305
1,699,673
1,699,978

0%
419%
183%

EXPENDITURES
Borrowing Costs
Transfer to Reserve
Transfer to Affiliated Orgs
Total Expenditures

405,294
249,364
250,000
904,658

405,279
250,030
275,000
930,309

405,264
250,305
1,975,000
2,630,569

405,591
250,000
275,000
930,591

(327)
305
1,700,000
1,699,978

(0%)
0%
618%
183%

11,605

297

0

0

0

0%

Net Surplus / Deficit

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
Transfers and Other - increased to reflect transfer of $1,700,000 from PAH reserve to fund 32 unit townhouse - per
motion 276-2014.
Transfer to Affiliated Orgs - per above - transfer of funds to CCHC.

Town of Canmore
Museum
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual
EXPENDITURES
Transfer to Affiliated Orgs
Total Expenditures
Net Surplus / Deficit

2013
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

104,000
104,000

107,000
107,000

130,000
130,000

130,000
130,000

0
0

0%
0%

(104,000)

(107,000)

(130,000)

(130,000)

0

0%

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
nothing to comment

2014
Actual

Town of Canmore
artsPlace
2014 Actual - FINAL
2012
Actual

2013
Actual

2014
Actual

2014
Budget

2014 Actual vs Budget
Variance $ Variance %

EXPENDITURES
Contracted Services
Total Expenditures

0
0

90,000
90,000

200,000
200,000

200,000
200,000

0
0

0%
0%

Net Surplus / Deficit

0

(90,000)

(200,000)

(200,000)

0

0%

Notes on variances of $10,000 and 5% from Budget:
nothing to comment

Town of Canmore - 2014 Actual Capital Funding & Project Status
Project Title
Project
Number
1401
1402
1457

1403
1404
1405
1406
1407
1408
1409

1411
1454

1412
1413
1416

1417
1418
1419

1420
1421
1444
1445
1449
1450
1451
1452
1453
1455

1422
1423
1424

<=2013

2014

Total

Actual

Actual

Actual

Administration & Community Enrichment
Corporate Communications Equipment
Public Art - National Competition
Conference Centre Feasibility Study
Administration & Community Enrichment Total
Information Technology
PC Replacement (2014)
IT Infrastructure Lifecycle (2014)
Network Link from Civic Centre to Elevation Place
Data Backup System
Adobe Acrobat Licencing
Council Chambers Renovation
Electronic Invoice Distribution for Payables
Information Technology Total
Protective Services
Fire Smart Program (2014)
Emergency Preparedness Supplies
Protective Services Total
Facilities
Biosphere/CCHC - HVAC Upgrades
Facility & CRC Lifecycle Plan
Arts Centre Renovation
Facilities Total
Planning
Municipal Development Plan Update / Review
Daycare Site Redevelopment
Commercial Needs Study
Planning Total
Engineering - Flood Projects
Flood - Drainage and Dyke Improvements
Flood Projects - Town Contribution
Hazard Mitigation - Pigeon Creek
Hazard Mitigation - Cougar Creek
Hazard Mitigation - Three Sisters Creek
Hazard Mitigation - Stone Creek
Hazard Mitigation - Stoneworks Creek
Hazard Mitigation - General Administraion
Staffing Grant - SAF Municipal Affairs
Alipne Site - Water & Sanitary Service
Engineering - Flood Total
Engineering
Transit Stops and Amenities
BVT CPR Crossing Corridor Improvements
Street & Drainage Rehab (2014)

-

-

19,109
19,109

-

48,833
57,257
5,771
7,455
32,242
1,843
153,401

-

6,270
442,712
448,982

-

51,480
40,075
125,034
216,589

-

2,588
20,619
23,207

115,460
201,190
827,665
305,494
152,639
120,389
113,507
296,313
30,578
2,163,236

107,361
19,656
88,334

Actual 2014 METHOD OF FUNDING
Grants

Operating

Reserve

Debenture

Other

Comment

19,109

-

-

19,109

-

-

-

6,270
442,712
448,982

151,558

-

-

-

-

91,555

125,034
125,034

complete
complete
complete
WIP
complete
WIP
cancelled

-

(167)
(243)
(1,729)
(27,545)
(1,758)
(73,157)
(15,000)
(119,599)

(93,730)
(207,108)
(300,838)

WIP
WIP

-

100,000
649,820
749,820

(3,520)
(39,925)
(2,374,966)
(2,418,411)

WIP
WIP
WIP

-

55,000
80,000
2,500,000
2,635,000

(32,412)
(500,000)
(14,381)
(546,793)

WIP
cancelled
WIP

-

35,000
500,000
35,000
570,000

200,000
3,000,000
346,500
1,120,000
341,000
247,500
330,000
161,700
321,896
15,000
6,083,596

(84,540)
(3,000,000)
(145,310)
(292,335)
(35,506)
(94,861)
(209,611)
(48,193)
(25,583)
15,578
(3,920,360)

WIP
cancelled
WIP
WIP
WIP
WIP
WIP
WIP
WIP
complete
-

115,000
420,000
1,700,000

(7,639)
(400,344)
(1,611,666)

complete
WIP
WIP

General
-

2,588

-

-

2,588

20,619
20,619

General
-

115,460

General

201,190
827,665
305,494
152,639
120,389
113,507
296,313
-

2,017,198

107,361
19,656
88,334

-

14,999
130,460

-

Status

49,000
57,500
7,500
35,000
34,000
75,000
15,000
273,000

51,480
40,075
-

Variance

-

Firesmart
SAF
-

Budget

WIP
WIP
WIP

General

1,843

Project

(454,041)
(95,500)
(50,000)
(599,541)

1,843
-

2014

473,150
95,500
50,000
618,650

48,833
57,257
5,771
7,455
32,242

-

2014 Final

15,578
15,578

FRECP
FRECP
FRECP
FRECP
FRECP
FRECP
SAF
General / Alpine

FGTF
AMIP
AMIP

Town of Canmore - 2014 Actual Capital Funding & Project Status
Project Title
Project
Number
1425
1426
1427
1428
1429
1430
1458

1431
1432
1433
1448

<=2013

2014

Total

Actual

Actual

Actual

Engagement River Road & Riverview Place
CPR Commuter Pathway Lighting Phase 2
Traffic Signals at Main St and 7th Ave
Spur Line Trail Enhancements
Community Signage Lifecycle Replacement
Pedestrian & Cyclist Infrastructure (2014)
Canmore Local Transit Study
Engineering Total

Actual 2014 METHOD OF FUNDING
Grants

Operating

Reserve

Debenture

Other

Comment

270

General
AMIP
General / Offsite /Debt
FGTF
General
Photo Radar

2014 Final

2014

Project

Budget

Variance

Status

-

270
12,045
197,193
118,676
1,814
102,336
647,685

Public Works
Electronic Message Trailer
Fleet Replacement (2014)
Disc Golf Course - Redesign
Public Works Truck
Public Works Total

-

18,987
59,156
11,410
32,343
121,897

-

-

53,497

32,343
68,400

-

-

22,000
66,600
12,000
32,343
132,943

Town Ops Total

-

3,794,106

-

2,812,252

318,307

647,968

-

15,578

14,423,009

(10,628,903)

12,045
197,193
118,676
1,814
102,336
-

346,072

-

301,613

18,987
23,100
11,410

36,056

-

-

General
General

15,000
250,000
275,000
130,000
275,000
150,000
30,000
3,360,000

(14,730)
(237,955)
(77,807)
(11,324)
(273,186)
(47,664)
(30,000)
(2,712,315)

WIP
WIP
WIP
complete
WIP
WIP
WIP

(3,013)
(7,444)
(590)
0
(11,046)

complete
complete
complete
complete

1434
1435

Utilities-SWS
SWS
3 Tonne Collection Vehicle Replacement
Fleet GPS System (SWS)

165,317
26,687

165,317
26,687

Solid Waste
Solid Waste

195,000
45,000

(29,683)
(18,313)

1436
1437
1438
1439
1440
1441
1442
1443

Utilities
Water Main - 7th Avenue
WWTP - Hydrovac Disposal Pad
Pumphouse 1 - New Raw Water Well
Water Meter Lifecycle & Upgrade (2014)
Inflow & Infiltration Detection & Repair (2014)
Force Main Replacement - 5th Avenue
Utility Rate Review
WWTP - Solids Handling Upgrade

12,215
209,976
331,265
119,908
201,417
12,397
9,765
5,540

12,215
209,976
331,265
119,908
201,417
12,397
9,765
5,540

Utilities
Utilities
Utilities / Debt in 2015
Utilities
Utilities
Utilities
Utilities
Utilities

(407,785)
(24)
(173,735)
(92)
(148,583)
(457,603)
(40,235)
(4,994,460)
(6,270,514)
(16,899,417)

Project
Number
1902
1903
1017
1022
1104
1138
1139

Utilities-SWS Total

-

1,094,486

-

-

-

Grand Total

-

4,888,592

-

2,812,252

318,307

Work in Progress (2013 Carry Forward)
ELEVATION PLACE - CONSTRUCTION
ELEVATION PLACE - FF&E
CENTENNIAL PARK REDEVELOPMENT
STONEWORKS CREEK DIVERSION
ASSET MGMT SYSTEM
WATER SYSTEM REGULATORY UPGRADES
WATERMAIN SYDNEY ST TO MOUNTAIN ST

<=2013

2014

Total

Actual

Actual

Actual

36,605,209
1,357,361
587,761
1,253,495
119,584
735,732
5,823

369,767 36,974,976
78,946
1,436,307
11,046
598,807
1,253,495
21,894
141,478
75,488
811,220
5,823

1,094,486
`
1,742,454

-

-

420,000
210,000
505,000
120,000
350,000
470,000
50,000
5,000,000
7,365,000

-

15,578

21,788,009

Actual 2014 METHOD OF FUNDING
Grants

Operating

Reserve

Debenture

Other

Comment

369,767
78,946
11,046

General
General
General

21,894
75,488

General
Utilities

WIP
WIP

WIP
complete
WIP
complete
WIP
WIP
WIP
WIP

2014

2014

Project

WIP Budget

Variance

Status

894,791
242,639
11,240
46,505
25,416
100,000
94,177

(525,024)
(163,693)
(194)
(46,505)
(3,522)
(24,512)
(94,177)

WIP
WIP
complete
WIP
complete
complete
cancelled

Town of Canmore - 2014 Actual Capital Funding & Project Status
Project
Number

Work in Progress (2013 Carry Forward)

1201

REC CENTRE POOL REDEVELOPMENT

1218
1219

DAYCARE SITE REDEVELOPMENT
TRAIL SIGNAGE & MAPPING

<=2013

2014

Total

Actual

Actual

Actual

20,605
104,313
4,412

206,739
28,852
254

Actual 2014 METHOD OF FUNDING
Grants

227,344
133,165
4,666

Operating

Reserve
206,739
28,852
254

Debenture

Other

Comment
General
General
WIP Taxes

2014

2014

Project

WIP Budget

Variance

Status

579,395
35,687
38,588

(372,656)
(6,835)
(38,335)

WIP
WIP
WIP

1222

CPR FENCING - A&W

35,837

-

35,837

37,663

(37,663)

WIP

1223

CPR FENCING - REC CENTRE

59,100

-

59,100

14,400

(14,400)

WIP

2,122,454

10,737

2,133,191

10,737

WIP Taxes

62,675

(51,938)

WIP

2,588

18,464

21,052

18,464

General

22,412

(3,948)

WIP

1225

STREET & DRAINAGE REHAB PROGRAM

1226

RAILWAY AVE CORRIDOR UPGRADES

1228

PALLISER/BVT STORMWATER MGMT

419,895

266

420,161

266

AMIP

430,105

(429,839)

WIP

1230

PAVED PATHWAY REHAB & REPLACE

65,531

5,029

70,560

5,029

FGTF

14,469

(9,440)

WIP

1232

BIKE LANE SIDEWALK & PED CROSSING IMP

93,719

44,623

138,342

44,623

FGTF

63,781

(19,158)

WIP

1239

BALL DIAMOND SAFETY NETTING

9,311

65,775

75,086

65,775

WIP Taxes

69,689

(3,914)

complete

1302

CIVIC CENTRE PAGEANTRY

1,000

7,223

8,223

7,223

WIP Taxes

14,000

(6,777)

WIP

1304

PUBLIC ART- LOCAL COMPETITION

-

7,000

7,000

7,000

Art Trust

10,000

(3,000)

WIP

1306

IT INFRASTRUCTURE LIFECYCLE

19,510

26,350

45,860

26,350

WIP Taxes / General

26,490

(140)

complete

1307

GIS & TAX ROLL INTEGRATION

3,721

11,500

15,221

11,500

WIP Taxes

26,279

(14,779)

complete

1308

WEBSITE REDEVELOPMENT

6,819

1,893

8,712

1,893

WIP Taxes

93,181

(91,288)

1309

FF PROTECTIVE CLOTHING PAID RESP

-

99,447

99,447

99,447

WIP Taxes

100,000

(553)

47,928

187,651

235,579

187,651

WIP Tax / Other Def

252,072

(64,421)

WIP

1,676,109

13,160

1,689,269

FGTF

323,891

(310,731)

WIP

1311

FIRESMART - THINNING PROGRAM

1316

LEGACY TRAIL

1317

LEGACY TRAIL CONNECTIONS

1318

STREET & DRAINAGE REHAB PROGRAM

1319
1320

13,160
21,629

WIP
complete

345,059

21,629

366,688

Other Deferred

404,941

(383,312)

WIP

1,021,666

1,082,945

2,104,611

1,082,945

AMIP / MSI

1,478,334

(395,389)

WIP

TRAIL REHAB & CONSTRUCTION

33,101

409,191

442,292

409,191

FGTF

436,899

(27,708)

WIP

INTEGRATED TRANSPORTATION MASTER PLAN

52,115

97,277

149,392

WIP Tax / General

122,885

(25,608)

WIP

97,277

1321

TOWN CTR BUS SHELTER & PLAZA

62,975

13,985

76,960

13,985

FGTF

62,700

(48,715)

WIP

1322

TRAFFIC NETWORK MONITORING

31,993

51,228

83,221

51,228

FGTF

148,007

(96,779)

WIP

1324

PED CROSSING - BOW RIVER BRIDGE

18,761

1,771

20,532

Photo Radar

281,239

(279,468)

WIP

1325

PED & CYCLIST INFRASTRUCTURE

88,940

-

88,940

61,060

(61,060)

1326

BVT CPR CROSSING CORRIDOR

9,906

20,094

30,000

20,094

General

20,094

(0)

62,200

(18,288)

43,912

(18,288)

General

37,800

(56,088)

-

50,128

50,128

50,128

WIP Tax / General

50,000

7,206

WIP Taxes

22,473

(15,267)

WIP

BVWMC

1,137,394

(20,975)

WIP

1327

TOWNWIDE WAYFINDING SIGNAGE

1329

PUBLIC WORKS SHOP HOIST

1333

RECYCLED ASPHALT RESURFACING

1334

WASTE MANAGEMENT INFRASTRUCTURE

1337

4TH ST SANITARY MAIN UPGRADE

1338

LIFT STATION 1 UPGRADE

1341

WWTP - SOLIDS HANDLING UPRADE (2013)

1342

WWTP INFLUENT PUMP STATION UPGRADE

1343

DYRGAS GATE SINKHOLE

1344

1,771

128

WIP
complete
WIP
complete

2,527

7,206

9,733

4,917,606

1,116,419

6,034,025

165,681

84,319

250,000

84,319

Utilities

84,319

(0)

54,333

710,831

765,164

710,831

WIP Debt / Utilities

895,667

(184,836)

335,953

64,047

400,000

64,047

Utilities

64,047

(0)

27,081

200,954

228,035

200,954

WIP Debt / Utilities

472,919

(271,965)

WIP

-

229,726

229,726

229,726

Other Deferred

600,000

(370,274)

WIP

MOUNTAIN CR FLOOD MITIGATION PLAN

577,762

11,357

589,119

100,000

(88,643)

FRECP / General

22,238

(10,881)

WIP

1345

COUGAR CREEK SHORT TERM MITIGATION

803,560

11,630,072

12,433,632

10,255,072

1,375,000

Fld Grants / General

12,926,440

(1,296,368)

WIP

1346

THREE SISTERS CR MTIGATION

35,172

1,494,473

1,529,645

1,494,473

FRECP / AB Trans

2,679,828

(1,185,355)

WIP

1347

STONEWORKS CR MITIGATION

32,037

13,780

45,817

13,780

DRP

317,963

(304,183)

WIP

1348

STONE CREEK MITIGATION

36,492

684,463

720,955

683,508

FRECP / General

683,508

955

WIP

1350

FLD - EMERGENCY OPERATIONS

4,253,490

329,150

4,582,640

329,150

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1351

FLD - COUGAR CREEK

385,651

(385,651)

0

(385,651)

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1,116,419

955

complete
WIP
complete
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Project
Number

Work in Progress (2013 Carry Forward)

<=2013

2014

Total

Actual

Actual

Actual

Actual 2014 METHOD OF FUNDING
Grants

Operating

Reserve

Debenture

Other

Comment

2014

2014

Project

WIP Budget

Variance

Status

1353

FLD - PALLISER AREA

166,550

315,459

482,009

315,459

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1354

FLD - BOW VALLEY TRAIL

133,070

10,743

143,813

10,743

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1355

FLD - THREE SISTERS PARKWAY

11,658

26,145

37,803

26,145

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1356

FLD - G BIGGY/PIGEON CR RD

3,590

112,726

116,316

112,726

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1357

FLD - SILVER TIP/STONE CR RD

62

283

345

283

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1358

FLD - TRAIL DAMAGE - VARIOUS

7,816

47,184

55,000

47,184

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1360

FLD - OUTDOOR RINK AT CCC

-

28,628

28,628

28,628

Insurance

n/a

n/a

WIP

1361

FLD - ENGINE BRIDGE

17,182

-

17,182

-

n/a

n/a

WIP

1362

FLD - ALPINE HELICOPTERS SITE

1363

FLD - G&A & CROSS PROJECT COSTS

1364

FLD - PROPERTY TAX RELIEF

1365

FLD - INSURANCE CLAIMS
Work in Progress Total
Total 2014 Capital (including Work in Progress)

60,441

84,749

145,190

84,749

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

343,876

260,309

604,185

260,309

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

13,291

14,484

27,775

14,484

SAF

n/a

n/a

WIP

3,375

49,707

53,082

49,707

Insurance

n/a

n/a

WIP

59,472,789

20,163,629

79,636,418

16,177,595

-

3,986,033

-

-

26,640,300

(6,476,671)

18,989,848

318,307

5,728,488

-

15,578

48,428,309

(23,376,088)

25,052,221

Town of Canmore
Schedule of Reserves and Deferred Revenue
For the Period ending December 31, 2014
BALANCE
Dec 2013

TRANSFERS
Increases
Decreases

CAPITAL
Increases
Decreases

OPERATING
Increases
Decreases

BALANCE
Dec 2014

Reserves
General Operating Reserve
Tax Stabilization

2,226,285
1,702,005

Subtotal - Operating

3,928,290

General Capital
Work in Progress - Grants
Work in Progress - Taxes
Work in Progress - Debt
Photo Radar
Art Trust Fund
Economic Development
Utilities
Solid Waste
PAH
Offsite Levy
Recreation Levy
Cash in lieu of Bear Bins
Cash in lieu of Parking
Cash in lieu of Municipal Reserve

9,568,515
569
570,332
1,093,613
583,495
194,379
105,488
3,242,595
487,595
1,776,285
1,997,657
21,900
194,181
336,493
662,753

120,674

Subtotal - Capital

20,835,848

130,674

39,151

356,102

Total Reserves

24,764,138

130,674

39,151

356,102

1,429

739,020
681,356
4,327,448
103,730
339,964
5,209,106
22,194,700
459,672
1,431,465

795,566
904,611
436,935
396,289
5,692,600
8,880,221
310,797
1,224,357

331,475
1,844
2,817

-

19,906
19,245

10,000

59,933
20,976
234,693

20,000

202,915
46,295

171,263
33,303

2,257,937
1,714,998

249,210

204,565

3,972,934

1,844,586

386,416

616,963
61,470
32,742
2,062,728
141,323
278,904
511,007
5,255
5,561
9,153
18,027

165,491
14,640
14,000
47,341
1,700,000

8,481,562
21,544
438,297
245,026
930,859
234,209
124,230
4,068,446
466,913
355,189
2,493,193
27,155
220,242
345,646
680,780

5,410,010

5,587,718

2,327,888

19,133,292

5,410,010

5,836,928

2,532,454

23,106,226

298,635

46,199
10,090
25,174
49,447
30,810

2,705,824
347,483
848,586
104,107
7,000
1,189,535
192,004
15,471

20,500

Capital Grants - Deferred Revenue
AMIP
BMTG
FGTF
MSI Capital
Other Deferred Revenue
Insurance - Flood & Other
Flood - DRP
Flood - FRECP
Flood - SAF
Flood - Other Grants

1,847,820
1,429
977,659
1,608,856
1,216,817
56,325
470,202
5,579,356
-

Total Deferred Revenue

11,758,464

23,198

131,667

35,486,461

18,940,010

497,856

3,004,735

25,689,566

Total Reserves & Deferred Revenue

36,522,602

153,872

170,819

35,842,563

24,350,020

6,334,784

5,537,189

48,795,793

9,906
16,947
13,291
100,000
13,291

3,004,735

1,595,384
749,110
898,529
2,076,406
897,476
19,125,310
137,428
209,925

Briefing Report
DATE OF MEETING:

April 21, 2015

Agenda #: H-3

TO:

Council

SUBJECT:

2014 Completed Capital Project Summaries

SUBMITTED BY:

Katherine Van Keimpema, Manager of Finance
Michael Fark, General Manager of Municipal Infrastructure

PURPOSE:

To provide a summary of capital projects completed in 2014.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Administration annually presents a summary of the capital projects that were completed in the previous year.
This report provides information on projects completed during calendar year 2014 and those that have been
carried forward to 2015 as Work In Progress (WIP).
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION OF POLICY
Via resolution #326-2013, at its December 10, 2013 meeting it approved the 2014 Capital Budget.
DISCUSSION
As part of ongoing reporting to council, periodic updates on capital project progress and spending are
provided for information. In addition, annual reports are provided on those capital projects that were
completed in 2014. Some of these projects were started and completed in 2014, while others were started in
earlier years and concluded in 2014. Attachment 1 presents the overall picture (or rollup) of all capital projects
started, ongoing, or completed in 2014.
The rollup indicates that we are doing an effective job of budgeting our capital projects, and ensuring that
they remain on budget through to completion. However, what is also of note is that the list of WIP (“work in
progress”) projects is substantive and a long list at the end of 2013 is now longer. This is due in part to
shifting priorities following the 2013 June flood and the flood of the Civic Centre in January 2014, with the
upheaval that caused. Administration will be working diligently to finalize and close these projects in 2015.
Attachment 2 provides a project by project summary of the details of each individual project completed in
2014.
FINANCIAL IMPACTS
All of the capital projects have been approved under budgets and as a whole, they came in under budget.
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
No additional public engagement is being proposed.

2014 Capital Close Out Summary
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STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT
The Town of Canmore delivers services in an effective, innovative, and fiscally responsible manner.
ATTACHMENTS
1) Attachment 1: 2014 Actual Capital Funding & Project Status
2) Attachment 2: Detailed Project Closeout Sheets
AUTHORIZATION
Submitted by:

Katherine Van Keimpema, CPA
Manager of Financial Services

Date:

April 2, 2015

Approved by:

Lisa de Soto, P.Eng.
Chief Administrative Officer

Date:

April 10, 2015

H-3 Attachment 1

Town of Canmore - 2014 Actual Capital Funding & Project Status
Project Title
Project
Number
1401
1402
1457

1403
1404
1405
1406
1407
1408
1409

1411
1454

1412
1413
1416

1417
1418
1419

1420
1421
1444
1445
1449
1450
1451
1452
1453
1455

1422
1423
1424

<=2013

2014

Total

Actual

Actual

Actual

Administration & Community Enrichment
Corporate Communications Equipment
Public Art - National Competition
Conference Centre Feasibility Study
Administration & Community Enrichment Total
Information Technology
PC Replacement (2014)
IT Infrastructure Lifecycle (2014)
Network Link from Civic Centre to Elevation Place
Data Backup System
Adobe Acrobat Licencing
Council Chambers Renovation
Electronic Invoice Distribution for Payables
Information Technology Total
Protective Services
Fire Smart Program (2014)
Emergency Preparedness Supplies
Protective Services Total
Facilities
Biosphere/CCHC - HVAC Upgrades
Facility & CRC Lifecycle Plan
Arts Centre Renovation
Facilities Total
Planning
Municipal Development Plan Update / Review
Daycare Site Redevelopment
Commercial Needs Study
Planning Total
Engineering - Flood Projects
Flood - Drainage and Dyke Improvements
Flood Projects - Town Contribution
Hazard Mitigation - Pigeon Creek
Hazard Mitigation - Cougar Creek
Hazard Mitigation - Three Sisters Creek
Hazard Mitigation - Stone Creek
Hazard Mitigation - Stoneworks Creek
Hazard Mitigation - General Administraion
Staffing Grant - SAF Municipal Affairs
Alipne Site - Water & Sanitary Service
Engineering - Flood Total
Engineering
Transit Stops and Amenities
BVT CPR Crossing Corridor Improvements
Street & Drainage Rehab (2014)

-

-

19,109
19,109

-

48,833
57,257
5,771
7,455
32,242
1,843
153,401

-

6,270
442,712
448,982

-

51,480
40,075
125,034
216,589

-

2,588
20,619
23,207

115,460
201,190
827,665
305,494
152,639
120,389
113,507
296,313
30,578
2,163,236

107,361
19,656
88,334

Actual 2014 METHOD OF FUNDING
Grants

Operating

Reserve

Debenture

Other

Comment

19,109

-

-

19,109

-

-

-

6,270
442,712
448,982

151,558

-

-

-

-

91,555

125,034
125,034

complete
complete
complete
WIP
complete
WIP
cancelled

-

(167)
(243)
(1,729)
(27,545)
(1,758)
(73,157)
(15,000)
(119,599)

(93,730)
(207,108)
(300,838)

WIP
WIP

-

100,000
649,820
749,820

(3,520)
(39,925)
(2,374,966)
(2,418,411)

WIP
WIP
WIP

-

55,000
80,000
2,500,000
2,635,000

(32,412)
(500,000)
(14,381)
(546,793)

WIP
cancelled
WIP

-

35,000
500,000
35,000
570,000

200,000
3,000,000
346,500
1,120,000
341,000
247,500
330,000
161,700
321,896
15,000
6,083,596

(84,540)
(3,000,000)
(145,310)
(292,335)
(35,506)
(94,861)
(209,611)
(48,193)
(25,583)
15,578
(3,920,360)

WIP
cancelled
WIP
WIP
WIP
WIP
WIP
WIP
WIP
complete
-

115,000
420,000
1,700,000

(7,639)
(400,344)
(1,611,666)

complete
WIP
WIP

General
-

2,588

-

-

2,588

20,619
20,619

General
-

115,460

General

201,190
827,665
305,494
152,639
120,389
113,507
296,313
-

2,017,198

107,361
19,656
88,334

-

14,999
130,460

-

Status

49,000
57,500
7,500
35,000
34,000
75,000
15,000
273,000

51,480
40,075
-

Variance

-

Firesmart
SAF
-

Budget

WIP
WIP
WIP

General

1,843

Project

(454,041)
(95,500)
(50,000)
(599,541)

1,843
-

2014

473,150
95,500
50,000
618,650

48,833
57,257
5,771
7,455
32,242

-

2014 Final

15,578
15,578

FRECP
FRECP
FRECP
FRECP
FRECP
FRECP
SAF
General / Alpine

FGTF
AMIP
AMIP
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Project Title
Project
Number
1425
1426
1427
1428
1429
1430
1458

1431
1432
1433
1448

<=2013

2014

Total

Actual

Actual

Actual

Engagement River Road & Riverview Place
CPR Commuter Pathway Lighting Phase 2
Traffic Signals at Main St and 7th Ave
Spur Line Trail Enhancements
Community Signage Lifecycle Replacement
Pedestrian & Cyclist Infrastructure (2014)
Canmore Local Transit Study
Engineering Total

Actual 2014 METHOD OF FUNDING
Grants

Operating

Reserve

Debenture

Other

Comment

270

General
AMIP
General / Offsite /Debt
FGTF
General
Photo Radar

2014 Final

2014

Project

Budget

Variance

Status

-

270
12,045
197,193
118,676
1,814
102,336
647,685

Public Works
Electronic Message Trailer
Fleet Replacement (2014)
Disc Golf Course - Redesign
Public Works Truck
Public Works Total

-

18,987
59,156
11,410
32,343
121,897

-

-

53,497

32,343
68,400

-

-

22,000
66,600
12,000
32,343
132,943

Town Ops Total

-

3,794,106

-

2,812,252

318,307

647,968

-

15,578

14,423,009

(10,628,903)

12,045
197,193
118,676
1,814
102,336
-

346,072

-

301,613

18,987
23,100
11,410

36,056

-

-

General
General

15,000
250,000
275,000
130,000
275,000
150,000
30,000
3,360,000

(14,730)
(237,955)
(77,807)
(11,324)
(273,186)
(47,664)
(30,000)
(2,712,315)

WIP
WIP
WIP
complete
WIP
WIP
WIP

(3,013)
(7,444)
(590)
0
(11,046)

complete
complete
complete
complete

1434
1435

Utilities-SWS
SWS
3 Tonne Collection Vehicle Replacement
Fleet GPS System (SWS)

165,317
26,687

165,317
26,687

Solid Waste
Solid Waste

195,000
45,000

(29,683)
(18,313)

1436
1437
1438
1439
1440
1441
1442
1443

Utilities
Water Main - 7th Avenue
WWTP - Hydrovac Disposal Pad
Pumphouse 1 - New Raw Water Well
Water Meter Lifecycle & Upgrade (2014)
Inflow & Infiltration Detection & Repair (2014)
Force Main Replacement - 5th Avenue
Utility Rate Review
WWTP - Solids Handling Upgrade

12,215
209,976
331,265
119,908
201,417
12,397
9,765
5,540

12,215
209,976
331,265
119,908
201,417
12,397
9,765
5,540

Utilities
Utilities
Utilities / Debt in 2015
Utilities
Utilities
Utilities
Utilities
Utilities

(407,785)
(24)
(173,735)
(92)
(148,583)
(457,603)
(40,235)
(4,994,460)
(6,270,514)
(16,899,417)

Project
Number
1902
1903
1017
1022
1104
1138
1139

Utilities-SWS Total

-

1,094,486

-

-

-

Grand Total

-

4,888,592

-

2,812,252

318,307

Work in Progress (2013 Carry Forward)
ELEVATION PLACE - CONSTRUCTION
ELEVATION PLACE - FF&E
CENTENNIAL PARK REDEVELOPMENT
STONEWORKS CREEK DIVERSION
ASSET MGMT SYSTEM
WATER SYSTEM REGULATORY UPGRADES
WATERMAIN SYDNEY ST TO MOUNTAIN ST

<=2013

2014

Total

Actual

Actual

Actual

36,605,209
1,357,361
587,761
1,253,495
119,584
735,732
5,823

369,767 36,974,976
78,946
1,436,307
11,046
598,807
1,253,495
21,894
141,478
75,488
811,220
5,823

1,094,486
`
1,742,454

-

-

420,000
210,000
505,000
120,000
350,000
470,000
50,000
5,000,000
7,365,000

-

15,578

21,788,009

Actual 2014 METHOD OF FUNDING
Grants

Operating

Reserve

Debenture

Other

Comment

369,767
78,946
11,046

General
General
General

21,894
75,488

General
Utilities

WIP
WIP

WIP
complete
WIP
complete
WIP
WIP
WIP
WIP

2014

2014

Project

WIP Budget

Variance

Status

894,791
242,639
11,240
46,505
25,416
100,000
94,177

(525,024)
(163,693)
(194)
(46,505)
(3,522)
(24,512)
(94,177)

WIP
WIP
complete
WIP
complete
complete
cancelled

Town of Canmore - 2014 Actual Capital Funding & Project Status
Project
Number

Work in Progress (2013 Carry Forward)

1201

REC CENTRE POOL REDEVELOPMENT

1218
1219

DAYCARE SITE REDEVELOPMENT
TRAIL SIGNAGE & MAPPING

<=2013

2014

Total

Actual

Actual

Actual

20,605
104,313
4,412

206,739
28,852
254

Actual 2014 METHOD OF FUNDING
Grants

227,344
133,165
4,666

Operating

Reserve
206,739
28,852
254

Debenture

Other

Comment
General
General
WIP Taxes

2014

2014

Project

WIP Budget

Variance

Status

579,395
35,687
38,588

(372,656)
(6,835)
(38,335)

WIP
WIP
WIP

1222

CPR FENCING - A&W

35,837

-

35,837

37,663

(37,663)

WIP

1223

CPR FENCING - REC CENTRE

59,100

-

59,100

14,400

(14,400)

WIP

2,122,454

10,737

2,133,191

10,737

WIP Taxes

62,675

(51,938)

WIP

2,588

18,464

21,052

18,464

General

22,412

(3,948)

WIP

1225

STREET & DRAINAGE REHAB PROGRAM

1226

RAILWAY AVE CORRIDOR UPGRADES

1228

PALLISER/BVT STORMWATER MGMT

419,895

266

420,161

266

AMIP

430,105

(429,839)

WIP

1230

PAVED PATHWAY REHAB & REPLACE

65,531

5,029

70,560

5,029

FGTF

14,469

(9,440)

WIP

1232

BIKE LANE SIDEWALK & PED CROSSING IMP

93,719

44,623

138,342

44,623

FGTF

63,781

(19,158)

WIP

1239

BALL DIAMOND SAFETY NETTING

9,311

65,775

75,086

65,775

WIP Taxes

69,689

(3,914)

complete

1302

CIVIC CENTRE PAGEANTRY

1,000

7,223

8,223

7,223

WIP Taxes

14,000

(6,777)

WIP

1304

PUBLIC ART- LOCAL COMPETITION

-

7,000

7,000

7,000

Art Trust

10,000

(3,000)

WIP

1306

IT INFRASTRUCTURE LIFECYCLE

19,510

26,350

45,860

26,350

WIP Taxes / General

26,490

(140)

complete

1307

GIS & TAX ROLL INTEGRATION

3,721

11,500

15,221

11,500

WIP Taxes

26,279

(14,779)

complete

1308

WEBSITE REDEVELOPMENT

6,819

1,893

8,712

1,893

WIP Taxes

93,181

(91,288)

1309

FF PROTECTIVE CLOTHING PAID RESP

-

99,447

99,447

99,447

WIP Taxes

100,000

(553)

47,928

187,651

235,579

187,651

WIP Tax / Other Def

252,072

(64,421)

WIP

1,676,109

13,160

1,689,269

FGTF

323,891

(310,731)

WIP

1311

FIRESMART - THINNING PROGRAM

1316

LEGACY TRAIL

1317

LEGACY TRAIL CONNECTIONS

1318

STREET & DRAINAGE REHAB PROGRAM

1319
1320

13,160
21,629

WIP
complete

345,059

21,629

366,688

Other Deferred

404,941

(383,312)

WIP

1,021,666

1,082,945

2,104,611

1,082,945

AMIP / MSI

1,478,334

(395,389)

WIP

TRAIL REHAB & CONSTRUCTION

33,101

409,191

442,292

409,191

FGTF

436,899

(27,708)

WIP

INTEGRATED TRANSPORTATION MASTER PLAN

52,115

97,277

149,392

WIP Tax / General

122,885

(25,608)

WIP

97,277

1321

TOWN CTR BUS SHELTER & PLAZA

62,975

13,985

76,960

13,985

FGTF

62,700

(48,715)

WIP

1322

TRAFFIC NETWORK MONITORING

31,993

51,228

83,221

51,228

FGTF

148,007

(96,779)

WIP

1324

PED CROSSING - BOW RIVER BRIDGE

18,761

1,771

20,532

Photo Radar

281,239

(279,468)

WIP

1325

PED & CYCLIST INFRASTRUCTURE

88,940

-

88,940

61,060

(61,060)

1326

BVT CPR CROSSING CORRIDOR

9,906

20,094

30,000

20,094

General

20,094

(0)

62,200

(18,288)

43,912

(18,288)

General

37,800

(56,088)

-

50,128

50,128

50,128

WIP Tax / General

50,000

7,206

WIP Taxes

22,473

(15,267)

WIP

BVWMC

1,137,394

(20,975)

WIP

1327

TOWNWIDE WAYFINDING SIGNAGE

1329

PUBLIC WORKS SHOP HOIST

1333

RECYCLED ASPHALT RESURFACING

1334

WASTE MANAGEMENT INFRASTRUCTURE

1337

4TH ST SANITARY MAIN UPGRADE

1338

LIFT STATION 1 UPGRADE

1341

WWTP - SOLIDS HANDLING UPRADE (2013)

1342

WWTP INFLUENT PUMP STATION UPGRADE

1343

DYRGAS GATE SINKHOLE

1344

1,771

128

WIP
complete
WIP
complete

2,527

7,206

9,733

4,917,606

1,116,419

6,034,025

165,681

84,319

250,000

84,319

Utilities

84,319

(0)

54,333

710,831

765,164

710,831

WIP Debt / Utilities

895,667

(184,836)

335,953

64,047

400,000

64,047

Utilities

64,047

(0)

27,081

200,954

228,035

200,954

WIP Debt / Utilities

472,919

(271,965)

WIP

-

229,726

229,726

229,726

Other Deferred

600,000

(370,274)

WIP

MOUNTAIN CR FLOOD MITIGATION PLAN

577,762

11,357

589,119

100,000

(88,643)

FRECP / General

22,238

(10,881)

WIP

1345

COUGAR CREEK SHORT TERM MITIGATION

803,560

11,630,072

12,433,632

10,255,072

1,375,000

Fld Grants / General

12,926,440

(1,296,368)

WIP

1346

THREE SISTERS CR MTIGATION

35,172

1,494,473

1,529,645

1,494,473

FRECP / AB Trans

2,679,828

(1,185,355)

WIP

1347

STONEWORKS CR MITIGATION

32,037

13,780

45,817

13,780

DRP

317,963

(304,183)

WIP

1348

STONE CREEK MITIGATION

36,492

684,463

720,955

683,508

FRECP / General

683,508

955

WIP

1350

FLD - EMERGENCY OPERATIONS

4,253,490

329,150

4,582,640

329,150

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1351

FLD - COUGAR CREEK

385,651

(385,651)

0

(385,651)

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1,116,419

955

complete
WIP
complete

Town of Canmore - 2014 Actual Capital Funding & Project Status
Project
Number

Work in Progress (2013 Carry Forward)

<=2013

2014

Total

Actual

Actual

Actual

Actual 2014 METHOD OF FUNDING
Grants

Operating

Reserve

Debenture

Other

Comment

2014

2014

Project

WIP Budget

Variance

Status

1353

FLD - PALLISER AREA

166,550

315,459

482,009

315,459

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1354

FLD - BOW VALLEY TRAIL

133,070

10,743

143,813

10,743

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1355

FLD - THREE SISTERS PARKWAY

11,658

26,145

37,803

26,145

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1356

FLD - G BIGGY/PIGEON CR RD

3,590

112,726

116,316

112,726

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1357

FLD - SILVER TIP/STONE CR RD

62

283

345

283

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1358

FLD - TRAIL DAMAGE - VARIOUS

7,816

47,184

55,000

47,184

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

1360

FLD - OUTDOOR RINK AT CCC

-

28,628

28,628

28,628

Insurance

n/a

n/a

WIP

1361

FLD - ENGINE BRIDGE

17,182

-

17,182

-

n/a

n/a

WIP

1362

FLD - ALPINE HELICOPTERS SITE

1363

FLD - G&A & CROSS PROJECT COSTS

1364

FLD - PROPERTY TAX RELIEF

1365

FLD - INSURANCE CLAIMS
Work in Progress Total
Total 2014 Capital (including Work in Progress)

60,441

84,749

145,190

84,749

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

343,876

260,309

604,185

260,309

DRP

n/a

n/a

WIP

13,291

14,484

27,775

14,484

SAF

n/a

n/a

WIP

3,375

49,707

53,082

49,707

Insurance

n/a

n/a

WIP

59,472,789

20,163,629

79,636,418

16,177,595

-

3,986,033

-

-

26,640,300

(6,476,671)

18,989,848

318,307

5,728,488

-

15,578

48,428,309

(23,376,088)

25,052,221

H-3 Attachment 2
Town of Canmore

Information Technology
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1403
PC REPLACEMENT (2014)
Lifecycle replacement of computers and new computers as
required

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Hardware Purchases

Total

Final Expenditures

49,000

48,833

49,000

48,833

Variance (%)
Consultants:
Vendors:
Milestones:
Description:
Completion

Variance
(167)
(167)
0%

Insight Canada, Dell, Lenovo, Apple

Date:

Notes:

29 Workstations, 9 Laptops, 12 iPads, 2 Windows Tablets, 33 Monitors

1-Dec-14

Town of Canmore

Information Technology
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1404
IT INFRASTRUCTURE LIFECYCLE (2014)
Lifecycle replacement of IT equipment including network,
servers and printers

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component

Final Expenditures

Variance

57,500
25,098
5,701
21,714
3,450
1,294

Printers
Network Switches & Hardware
Servers
A/V Equipment
Cables & Cabling
57,500

Total

57,257

Variance (%)

(57,500)
25,098
5,701
21,714
3,450
1,294
(243)
0%

Consultants:
Contractors:
Vendors:

n/a
Rocky Mountain Telecom, Cap's Electric
Insight Canada, CDW, Dell, HP

Milestones:
Description:
Completion

Date:
31-Dec-14

Notes:

Planned replacements were reevaluated after Civic Centre flood and changes made as necessary.

Town of Canmore

Information Technology
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1405
NETWORK LINK CC TO EP
Provides a primary network link to Elevation Place from the
Civic Centre to replace the Supernet link which did not meet
our needs.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component

Final Expenditures
7,500
1,920
3,851

Hardware (PtP Link)
Installation, mounting and cabling

7,500

Total

5,771

Variance (%)

Variance
(7,500)
1,920
3,851
(1,729)
-23%

Consultants:
Contractors:
Vendors:

n/a
Rocky Mountain Telecom
Ubiquity Networks, CDW

Milestones:
Description:
Completion

Date:
19-Dec-14

Notes:

Industry advances in point to point wireless equipment have resulted in larger capacities and greatly reduced
costs.

Town of Canmore

Information Technology
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1407
ADOBE ACROBAT LICENCING
Purchase of Abode Acrobat software licencses with long
term support for future versions.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Software Licences & Maintainance

Total

Final Expenditures

34,000

32,242

34,000

32,242

Variance (%)

Variance
(1,758)
(1,758)
-5%

Consultants:
Contractors:
Vendors:

n/a
n/a
Insight Canada, CDW

Milestones:
Description:
Completion

Date:
30-Apr-14

Notes:

Purchased and deployed 135 instances of Adobe Acrobat standard edition and 10 instances of Adobe Acrobat
Professional edition.

Town of Canmore

Department name: Engineering
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1455
Alpine Helicopters Water and Sanitary Sewer Services
New water and sanaitary sewer services to serve the
expanded hangar and office building. Replaces the old
services across the site to the 'log building'. These services
are now intended to be leasehold improvements, an
responsibility of the leaseholer.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Component
Engineering Consultants (ISL & Curtis)
Design and materials testing
Construction (MODCO)

Budget

Less Alpine Helicopters Contribution
Total (Town Share)

Final Expenditures
5,000

4,148

(852)

25,000

26,429

1,429

(15,000)
15,000

(15,578)
14,999

(578)
(1)

Variance (%)

0%

NOTE: Total costs split 50/50 between Town and Alpine Helicopters. Original budget $15,000 each.
ISL Engineering and Curtis Engineering
Consultants:
Contractors:
Milestones:
Description:
Commencement
Substantial Completion
Completion
CCC
FAC
As Built Drawings Submitted
Notes:

Variance

MODCO Structures Ltd.

Date:
May, 2014
June, 2014
June 12, 2014
N/A
June 20th, 2014

Town of Canmore

Department name: Engineering
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1422
Transit Stops & Amenities
The need for improved infrastructure at ROAM Transit stop
locations and several School bus stops is important for the
safety and comfort of students and the public that use these
services.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Roam Transit Stop Improvements
School Bus Strop Improvements

Total

Final Expenditures

85,000
30,000

107,361
-

115,000

107,361

Variance (%)

Variance
22,361
(30,000)
(7,639)
-7%

NOTE:
Consultants:
Contractors:

MMM Group
Bogdan

Milestones:
Description:
Commencement
Consultant Award
Contractor Award
Substantial Performance

Date:
January 2014
March 2014
June 2014
October 2014

Notes:

Through engagement with the various schools, no feasible stops were identified for improvements. Costs to provide
basic transit stops on the regional Roam route were also higher than anticipated due to market conditions.

Town of Canmore

Department name: Engineering
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1428
Spurline Trail Enhancements
Upgrade existing 2.5m gravel trail surface with a 2.5m
asphalt surface following the same trail alignment. This
improvement will allow snow removal during the winter
months of this very community utilized section of trail.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Eng Consultants Design & Inspection
Services (McElhanney)
Design and materials testing
Construction (Pro-Con)
Miscellaneous Expenses
Contingency

20,000
110,000
130,000

Total

Final Expenditures
19,615
99,061
118,676

Variance (%)
NOTE:
Consultants:
Contractors:
Milestones:
Description:
Commencement
Substantial Completion
Completion
CCC
FAC
As Built Drawings Submitted

Variance
(385)
(10,939)
(11,324)
-9%

McElhanney
Pro-Con Road Works Ltd.

Date:
4-Aug-14
6-Oct-14
28-Oct-14
28-Oct-14
28-Oct-16
24-Oct-14

Notes:

The Project went very well, the contractor's work was done very quickly from the point of mobilization. Most of the
work has been done in an exceptional manner and there are some minor deficiencies that will be corrected in early
spring 2015.

Town of Canmore

Public Works
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1431
Electronic Message Trailer
Purchase of solar powered electronic message sign, trailer
mounted

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Base unit
Data logic modem
contingency

Total

Final Expenditures

18,000
2,000
2,000

18,987

22,000

18,987

Variance (%)
Contractors:

RFQ selected & unit ordered
Unit received, staff trained & unit in service

Notes:

987
(2,000)
(2,000)
(3,013)
-14%

Details

Alberta Traffic Supply, Calgary

Milestones:
Description:
RFQ issed & posted on Town & APC web
sites

Variance

Date:
January 20 2014
January 30 2014
March 19 2014

Town of Canmore

Public Works
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1432
Fleet Replacement (2014)
Two part project. Replace Unit 001 (Prius) and purchase a
new unit for Facilities

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Prius replacement
Faciliteis unit
Decalling
Facilities topper,tool box & lighting
Total

Final Expenditures

33,300
33,300

23,796
28,995
50
6,315

66,600

59,156

Variance (%)
Details

Can-Bow Motors
Can- Bow Motors

Prius replaced with a GMC Trax

CPT Distributors

Facilities Topper/Tool box & slider

Quest Fabrication

Facilities truck work lighting package

Ben's Tire

Winter tires for both vehicles

Milestones:
Description:

Date:

Facilities RFQ selected, unit ordered
Unit in Service
Prius replacement RFQ posted
RFQ selected unit ordered
Unit in Service

Notes:

(9,504)
(4,305)
50
6,315
(7,444)
-11%

Contractors:

Facilities truck RFQ posted

Variance

Purchase of 1/2 ton truck

March 20-2014
May 6 2014
July 21/2014
July/11/14
July/23/2014
August/18/2014

Town of Canmore

Public Works
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1433
Disc Golf Course Redesign
Redesign of the Three Sisters disc golf course to improve
playability and mitigate security and safety issues

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
course design

Total

Final Expenditures

12,000

11,410

12,000

11,410

Variance (%)
Consultants:

Variance
(590)
(590)
-5%

McElhanney Consulting Services

Contractors:
Milestones:
Description:
Commencement

Date:
18-Aug-14

Substantial Completion
Completion

17-Nov-14

CCC
FAC
As Built Drawings Submitted
Notes:

Redesign included shrinking the north end of the course by removing 2 holes so that it would be farther away
from impacted homes plus realigning the paved path to minimize incidents between course users and
pathway users

Town of Canmore

Public Works
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1448
Public Works Truck
Replace damaged S & R pick-up truck, truck was rear
ended by another vehicle. Portion of funding from insurance
coverage

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Base unit

Total

Final Expenditures

32,343

32,343

32,343

32,343

Variance (%)
Details

Bow Valley Ford Ltd

Supply replacement vehicle

Quote received- unit ordered
All reuseable tools/equipment removed
from damaged unit
New unit received, tools/equipment installed
& unit in service

Notes:

0
0
0%

Contractors:

Milestones:
Description:
Issue request for replacement unit to Bow
Vally Ford

Variance

Date:
15-Jan-14
20-Jan-14
30-Jan-14
14-Feb-14

Town of Canmore

Public Works
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1437
WWTP - Hydrovac Disposal Pad
Engineering and construction of hydrovac disposal facilities
at the WWTP

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Design & Inspection Services
Geotechnical
Construction
Miscellaneous Expenses
Management Fee (7.5%)

33,500
157,000
4,849
14,651
210,000

Total

Final Expenditures

Variance

33,500
157,000
4,827
14,649
209,976

Variance (%)

(22)
(2)
(24)
0%

Details

Contractors:
Stantec

Design

ProCat Contracting Ltd.

Construction

Milestones:
Description:

Date:

Design Team Award

1-Feb-14

Construction Award

1-Apr-14

Substantial Completion

1-Oct-14

CCC

1-Dec-14

Notes:

Stantec has experience on such facility and was awarded for the engineering design and inspection during
construction.
Procat was awarded the construction because of its lowest bid price among five Contractors.

Town of Canmore

Public Works
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1439
Water Meter Replacement
Purchase and install 400 AMR meters

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
400 AMR meters (including installation)
Management Fee (7.5%)

Total

Final Expenditures

111,000
9,000

111,542
8,366

120,000

119,908

Variance (%)
Details
Meter supplier

EPCOR Water Services

Installion of new meters

Milestones:
Description:

Date:

Notes:

542
(634)
(92)
0%

Contractors:
Metercor

Install all 400 AMW meters

Variance

17-Oct-14

Town of Canmore

Engineering Services
Initial Budget Year:

2010

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1017
Centennial Park Upgarde
Engineering managed the park's construction upgrade
project as designed by the Parks and Open Space Planner
who provided the construction drawings and design criteria.
The design criteria was developed by public engagement
with the special event groups, Health Foundation, CRPS
school board and the general public that utilze the park.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Professional Services
Construction Contractor
Misc Expenses
Contingency

Final Expenditures

$
$
$
$

970 $
535,436 $
19,575 $
43,019

Total $

599,000 $

970 $
578,262 $
19,575 $
$
$
598,807 $

Variance (%)
Consultants:

Variance
42,826
(0)
(43,019)
(193)
0%

IBI/Landplan
Year-Round Landscaping/ Inline landscaping / Alpine Land Surveyors /
Greengym Fitness Equip / Outdoor Museum / Safe & Lock / Caps
Electric / Bow-Cor Welding/ Bloomin' Landscapes/ Rainman Irrigation /
Scott Mankelo Design / Haul-All Equipment

Contractors:
Milestones:
Description:
Commencement
Substantial Completion
Completion
CCC
FAC
As Built Drawings Submitted

Date:
1-Jul-10
1-Jun-11
1-Aug-11
1-Aug-11
1-Aug-12
12-Jan-12

Notes:

The Project had its trials and tribulations with numerous unforeseen expenses but ended quite well with
meeting the design goals for all the stakeholders. The project started off with all bids coming in higher than
anticipated and by the time we were able to finally award after negotiating with the low bid it delayed the
mobilization and setback the whole conceived schedule. This caused additional costs with relocating the
contractor's laydown area midway through the project due to the middle school reconvening in the fall. The
project also suffered many setbacks with constant third party damage repairs that was not the responsibility
of the contractor and we had to do some excessive third party repairs even after the warranty period expired.
It was extremely hard keeping up to the third party damages let alone trying to complete the project as per
the conceived scheduled.

Town of Canmore

Information Technology
Initial Budget Year:

2011

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1104
Asset Management System
Software and systems for tracking and maintaing Town own
assets including roads, signs, facilities and equipment for
both operational and accounting processes.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component

Final Expenditures

145,000
96,451
45,027

Software Licencing
Inplementation Services

Total
Variance (%)

145,000

(145,000)
96,451
45,027
(3,522)
-2%

Consultants:
Contractors:
Vendors:

n/a
Worktech Inc.
Worktech Inc.

Milestones:
Description:
Completion

Date:
Dec 31 2014

Notes:

141,478

Variance

Town of Canmore

Public Works
Initial Budget Year:

2011

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1138
Water System Regulatory Upgrades
Reservoir baffles and chlorine scrubbers

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Evaluation
Design
Construction
Equipment
Contingency
EPCOR Out of Scope
EPCOR Management Fee

Final Expenditures

28,566
88,114
433,200
140,000
102,513
13,153
44,454
850,000

Total

26,218
144,776
551,309
26,190
25,000
37,726
811,220

Variance (%)

(2,348)
56,662
118,109
(140,000)
(76,323)
11,847
(6,728)
(38,780)
-5%

Details

Contractors:
Stantec

Consultant

Tritech

Contractor - General

Layfield Environmental

Contractor - Baffles

Vector

Contractor - Electrical

Alpha Construction

Contractor - Chlorine Scrubber

Milestones:
Description:

Date:

Evaluation / Design Completed
Baffles Completed
Scrubber Commisioned
Final Record Drawing Submission

Variance

16-Mar-12
30-Nov-12
30-Oct-13
26-Mar-14

Notes:

Project was completed in 3 phases with 3 different schedule D3s. Some values have been estimated based on
best available information.

Town of Canmore

Department name: Engineering
Initial Budget Year:

2012

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1239
Ball Diamond Safety Netting - Elk Run
Supply & Install protective netting structure to protect
adjacent private properties/homes from erratic fly balls.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Eng Consultants Design/Inspection (ISL)
Geotechnical (Clifton)
Construction (AJB Contracting Ltd)
Miscellaneous Expenses
Contingency
Total

5,000
49,000
25,000
79,000

Final Expenditures
6,162
9,722
47,550
11,653
75,086

Variance
1,162
9,722
(1,450)
11,653
(25,000)
(3,914)

Variance (%)
NOTE:
Consultants:
Contractors:

Milestones:
Description:
Commencement
Substantial Completion
Completion
CCC
FAC
As Built Drawings Submitted

-5%
ISL Engineering & Land Services/Clifton Associates/McElhanney
Geomatics
AJB Contracting Ltd/ Netex Canada Netting Inc /Alpine Tree Services

Date:
13-May-14
17-Jul-14
25-Jul-14
25-Jul-14
25-Jul-16
Spring of 2015

Notes:
Throughout 2012 and 2013 we had problems with the original awarded contractor not committing to a project mobilization
and project completion date and avoided to enter into a binding contract. When it became apparent to us that the contractor
showed little interest with finalizing the contract and would not commit to any type of time line, and after arduous
negotiations it was mutually agreed to rescind the Town's notice of award and the project was retendered in 2014. The
project in 2014 was awarded to a local contractor and although the project went through some trials & tribulations regarding
sourcing the specified special pole hardware the local Fortis utility group came forward to assist with providing the required
hardware. The project moved along quite successfully from that point on as a true community effort and was completed in a
timely manner to the appreciation of the affected adjacent property owners.

Town of Canmore

Information Technology
Initial Budget Year:

2013

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1306
IT INFRASTRUCTURE LIFECYCLE (2013)
Lifecycle replacement of IT equipment including network,
servers and printers

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component

Final Expenditures

46,000
Network Firewalls
Network Switches & Hardware
WAN Link
Printers
UPS Equipment
Cables & Cabling
A/V Equipment for Recreation
46,000

Total

9,940
7,979
5,114
5,338
11,986
3,201
2,302
45,860

Variance (%)

(46,000)
9,940
7,979
5,114
5,338
11,986
3,201
2,302
(140)
0%

Consultants:
Contractors:
Vendors:

n/a
Rocky Mountain Telecom, Cap's Electric
Insight Canada, CDW, Dell, HP

Milestones:
Description:
Completion

Date:

Notes:

Variance

1-Dec-14

Town of Canmore

Information Technology
Initial Budget Year:

2013

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1307
GIS & TAX ROLL INTEGRATION
Integrates Tax Roll data from financial system to GIS.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component

Final Expenditures

Variance

30,000
7,221
8,000

Software Licences
Implementation & Support

30,000

Total

15,221

Variance (%)

(30,000)
7,221
8,000
(14,779)
-49%

Consultants:
Contractors:
Vendors:

Pacific Alliance Technologies
n/a
Pacific Alliance Technologies, Diamond Municipal Solutions

Milestones:
Description:
Completion

Date:
19-Dec-14

Notes:

Significant cost savings realized due to re‐configuring existing GIS server deployments and changes to vendor's
implementation methodology. All objectives of project were met.

Town of Canmore

Fire-Rescue
Initial Budget Year:

2014

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1309
FF Protective Clothing Paid Response
Life Cycling of 36 Sets (Jacket and pants) for the Paid
Response members.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Turn out Gear Sets

100,000
100,000

Total
Variance (%)
Contractors:
Milestones:
Description:
Commencement
RFP Award

Final Expenditures
99,447
99,447

Variance
(553)
(553)
-1%

Starfield Lion- Canada

Date:
1-Jan-14
1-Oct-14

Notes:

Fire-Rescue initiated a multi step process in order to obtain the life cycle replacement gear. Vendors were
asked to present their technologies and specs to a committee comprised of career and paid response
firefighters. The vendors were provided a Canmore Fire-Rescue Specification and all vendors provided a trial
sample that was graded against the original committee specification. After the trial wearing, the award of the
contract was determined by Price, completeness of specification and staff opinion that trialed the gear in fireRescue operations.

Town of Canmore

Engineering
Initial Budget Year:

2013

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1326
BVT CPR Crossing Corridor Improvements Design
Design to provide residents and visitors with an easily
identifiable, safe, and pleasant access to the
shopping and town centre areas we can move towards a
greater mode share for cyclists and pedestrians.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Component
Design

Budget
$
Total $

30,000
30,000

Final Expenditures
$
$

30,000
30,000

Variance (%)
Associated Engineering

Milestones:
Description:

Date:

Substantial Completion

$
$

(0)
(0)
0%

Consultants:

Commencement

Variance

March 2013
April 2014

Notes:

Further Design and Tender work was undertaken as part of CAP1426 totalling $12,193.53. With near tender
ready package complete it has been realized that a construction project would likely not be within budget and
key objectives for identifiable, safe, and pleasant access needed to be improved on. Rework of the design (and
possibly construction) will be undertaken as part of CAP1426 in 2015.

Town of Canmore

Public Works
Initial Budget Year:

2013

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1329
Public Works Shop Hoist
Purchase of a four colum shop hoist, capable of lifting light
& heavy vehicles

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
4 point hoist

Total

Final Expenditures

50,000

50,128

50,000

50,128

Variance

Variance (%)
Contractors:
WestVac Industries

Milestones:
Description:
RFQ issued, posted on APC & Town web
sites.

0%
Details
supply & install new hoist, staff training & removal of old hoist

Date:
26-Sep-13

RFQ closed, selected & ordered

12-Nov-13

Unit installed, staff trained & hoist in use

21-Jan-14

Notes:

128
128

Town of Canmore

Public Works
Initial Budget Year:

2013

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1337
4th Street Sanitary Main Upgrade
Replace old sewer pipes with new 200mm or 300mm PVC
pipes. Upgrades to manholes, sanitary services and other
component were also done. Some sections have been
insulated due to shallownes of the sewer.

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:

Financial - Budget & Expenditures
Budget

Component
Upgrade

Total

Final Expenditures

250,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

Variance

Variance (%)
Contractors:

0%
Details
All the work associated with this upgrade

BECL

Milestones:
Description:

-

Date:

Project tendered

End of February. 2013

Project awarded

26-Mar-13

Project Substantially Complete

Notes:

This project was awarded as part of CAP 1318. It has not been CCCed yet.

4-Aug-14

Town of Canmore

Public Works
Initial Budget Year:

2013

Capital Project Close-Out Sheet
1341
WWTP DAF Upgrade - Design
Design of system to increase plant capacity

Capital Project #:
Project Title:
Brief Project Description:
Financial - Budget & Expenditures

Budget

Component
Design & Inspection Services
Miscellaneous Expenses
Contingency
Total

Final Expenditures

343,000
40,000
17,000

343,000
40,000
17,000

400,000

400,000

Variance

Variance (%)

-

0%

Details

Contractors:
Stantec

Design

Milestones:
Description:

Date:

60% Design

9-Aug-13

90% Design

27-Sep-13

IFQ

1-Nov-13

IFC

10-Sep-14

Notes:

EPCOR considers this project and 1443 (WWTP Solids Upgrade Construction) as one project and prepared
budgets as such. Full design budget was consumed by invoicing cost savings re-design against this budget.
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Project Introduction


In Fall 2014, GP Rollo & Associates and Reurbanist jointly
engaged to undertake a Short Term Visitor Accommodation
Study for the Town of Canmore. The purpose of this study is to
inventory the current supply of accommodation in Canmore,
to evaluate Canmore against peer communities in terms of
supply and policy, and to prepare some guidelines for
successful taxation and land use management of
commercial accommodation. This report looks solely at shortterm accommodation; long-term renting is not discussed.



This document is the Final Report of the project, presenting
the team’s methodology and findings. It builds on the work
already presented to the project’s Advisory Committee in
January 2015.



The first section – the Environmental Scan – provides an
overview of current supply and demand conditions in
Canmore’s accommodation market. It consists of two
overarching analyses:





A supply inventory process, which presents a detailed
numerical breakdown of accommodation by type and
location. This data was gathered through online
research, processing of municipal property data, and
stakeholder interviews.



An demand analysis, which combines supply and
occupancy rate data from 2000 to 2014.

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Market Analysis

The Environmental Scan is not a market analysis, and cannot
be used in the place of one. For example, it takes no
consideration of the quality of accommodation in Canmore,
nor of accommodation age, size, or bedroom count.
Source: weddingmapper.com

Source: tourismcanmore.com
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The second section presents community
comparables; it identifies a number of
communities that resemble Canmore or differ
in unique and interesting ways. The supply
inventories of accommodation within each of
these communities is then compared by type,
and trends are revealed in order to gain
perspective
on
the
uniqueness
of
accommodation in Canmore.



The third section – the Comparative Policy
Analysis – analyzes the accommodation
policy frameworks of a wide range of
communities in the United States and Canada
selected on the basis of regional stature,
market position, and similarity to Canmore.
They are compared on the basis of:






Critical definitions




Fines and enforcement

Limitations and regulations imposed on
commercial accommodation
Goals and effectiveness

In the Report’s final section, the findings and
themes of the various sections are brought
together to forge a strategic direction to
guide Canmore’s accommodation policy as
the Town flourishes over the next several
decades.
Source: weddingmapper.com

Source: tourismcanmore.com
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This project was very data-intensive. At every stage of the process, the project
team was required to collect and synthesize data from stakeholders in
Canmore, from municipal staff in peer communities, and from primary sources.
The team performed numerous telephone interviews, built models and maps to
make data from conflicting sources mutually intelligible, and designed and
implemented a custom online survey. Gathering and synthesizing data took
time, but the effort has produced unique insights drawn from data streams that
have never been combined in the past.



Collaboration was the key to this study’s success. Without the support of Town of
Canmore staff and the Advisory Committee members, the team would never
have gained access to the data and contacts required to build the study’s
models and analyses. Members of the Committee did not always agree with the
team’s approach, or even with one another, but from this dialogue emerged a
sounder and more robust set of conclusions. The team is especially pleased that
the Committee assisted with stakeholder outreach, dramatically improving the
coverage and quality of the Commercial Accommodation Survey.



Economic growth never occurs in a vacuum, and the economics of the
accommodation industry are intimately tied to those of the residential industry.
Although this report provides sound analysis and actionable conclusions, it
would be even more potent in combination with a Canmore Residential Study.
Such a study could include creating an inventory of housing supply in Canmore,
comparing Canmore’s residential policy framework to those of peer
communities, and identifying the factors that are likely to impact demand for
housing in Canmore in the future. A residential study would help guide
Canmore’s zoning and community vision in a more comprehensive way, and
would provide further explanation for many of this report’s findings.



Finally, this is intended as a “living document” that reflects recent trends and a
current “snapshot” of Canmore’s accommodation market. Although it presents
recommendations for the next twenty years, this report should be updated and
revised regularly to ensure effective policy.

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
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Market Analysis

Source: tourismcanmore.com
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Project Understanding
Canmore stands at a critical juncture with regards to its
accommodation industry. The Town’s tourist economy recently
recovered from the 2008 Financial Crisis. Prior to and during the crisis,
more than 750 new condominium hotel units and Tourist Homes were
constructed. This dramatically changed the balance of supply and
demand. As tourism in Canmore shifts towards a new market balance,
the time is ripe for the Town and the commercial accommodation
community to assess the situation and evaluate their policy options. To
that end, this report will address the following questions:



How many commercial accommodation units existed in
Canmore in 2014?



How was this supply of units divided between categories such as
condo hotel, single-owner hotel, Tourist Homes, and private
dwellings?



What were the occupancy rates of each category of
accommodation?



How do Canmore’s accommodation supply and policy
framework compare to peer communities?



What are the trends governing the growth of overnight tourism
in Canmore?



What are the best practices for policy-makers in Canmore with
regards to commercial accommodation and particularly Tourist
Homes?



Specifically, how should property tax be applied to these
properties in a way that respects stakeholders and supports
growth?
Source: weddingmapper.com
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Source: tourismcanmore.com
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Project Understanding
Report Methodology



This study required a robust starting-point of timely,
comprehensive, and relevant data based solely on
Canmore. To produce such a database, the team
designed and implemented an online Commercial
Accommodation Survey which was distributed to
accommodation owners and managers throughout the
community. This Survey reached 23% of the
accommodation market, and produced data on
occupancy rates and community vision that would form
the basis of later analyses, most notably the demand
analysis (Section 1.2). Although not all of the Survey’s
results are discussed in the main text of this Report, the
findings are presented in the Appendix (Section 5.0).



The Survey was vetted by multiple Town staff members
and project advisors, and was distributed successfully in
large part due to the outreach efforts of the Advisory
Committee. The Survey’s Cover Letter was a helpful
foreword from Canmore Business & Tourism President
and CEO Andrew Nickerson.



Other critical sources of data for this study included
phone interviews with staff, Advisory Committee
members, community stakeholders, and representatives
from peer communities; as well as a great deal of online
research using Google, Google Maps, and Google
Street View to identify and verify accommodation supply
in Canmore and peer communities.



Further detail on analytic methodology is presented
throughout the report.
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1.1

Environmental Scan

1.2

Demand Analysis
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1.0 Introduction
The purpose of the accommodation market scan is to
understand the current market through the mapping of
existing accommodation supply followed by a trendbased demand analysis. The market scan provides a
baseline of both graphic, mapping and database
information from which the demand and policy analyses
will evolve.

Edmonton –
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A number of methods were used in the GIS analysis and
the market scan. Magnified supply maps have been
added for areas within Canmore that are key points of
interest.
The demand analysis determines the quantity of demand
for commercial accommodation in Canmore between
2000 and 2014 based on numerous data sources including
the Commercial Accommodation Survey.
The following section will provide an overview of the
market supply through GIS mapping and will be followed
by the accommodation demand model.

12
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1.1 Environmental Scan




The accommodation market scan was conducted
using a variety of secondary and primary research
methods. Property assessment data, as well as input
from town staff, was utilized to compile a list of all
accommodation locations and amounts. Where data
was unavailable or incomplete, primary research was
conducted to fill in gaps.
Throughout this report, the primary unit of commercial
accommodation is referred to as a “unit”. A unit of
accommodation is a distinct rentable space like a suite.
In a hotel context, these might be thought of as “doors”
or “keys”. Many units have multiple bedrooms, but in
such cases, the rooms are rented altogether. The
consultant team chose to use this as the basis of
analysis because units are the easiest item to inventory.



The supply of accommodation was found dispersed
throughout the Town of Canmore with a number of
units found to be concentrated within specific areas.



Canmore is unique amongst its peer communities as
there were very few accommodation units located
within the Town Centre. Rather there was a fairly wide
spread in the distribution of accommodation units. Bow
Valley Trail and adjacent and parallel areas showed
the highest concentrations of accommodation supply.



A supply reference table is included in this section with
the names and unit counts of each commercial
accommodation property in the supply maps.

1 km

2 km

3 km

Accommodation Room
Density
High Unit/Room Density

Low Unit/Room Density

1 km

2 km
1 km
3 km

Accommodation Type
Bed & Breakfast
Condo Hotel Multiple Ownership
Hostels
Rental of Private Dwellings
Single Ownership

13
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Infillland use
The following definitions are used in the Supply Inventory and throughout the report. The report deals with
both the
Residential
and taxation systems, which contain separate classification systems for properties. In an attempt to discuss
these subjects
Analysis
cogently, this report uses a set of definitions that do not match either system entirely. The definitions areMarket
also informed
by the

1.1A Accommodation Supply Definitions

limits of the available data, and the fact that all units are assumed to be equivalent in terms of size, quality, amenity, etc. The
definitions used in this report are as follows:

Single Owner Hotel: a building or group of buildings not intended for residential use where sleeping facilities are provided for
persons for periods of up to 30 days and which may also contain recreational facilities, commercial uses and additional
facilities including but not limited to eating establishments, drinking establishments, room service, meeting rooms, public
convention rooms, and laundry service. These properties are found in commercial zones and are charged the commercial
property tax rate. The Zoning Bylaw refers to this use as “visitor accommodation”, which is not used in this report for the sake of
clarity.
Condo Hotel: For the purposes of this report, this classification has the same definition as Single Owner Hotel with the key
difference being that each unit is owned separately by an individual or group of owners. In addition, owners of the unit can
stay in the unit for up to 30 days at a time.
Tourist Home: This category is fairly unique to Canmore. These units are intended for use by tourist owners but can be rented out
to travellers. Tourist Home owners have the option of formally declaring that the Tourist Home is their primary residence, and in
those cases the property is charged according to the residential property tax rate. Tourist Homes that are not used as primary
residences by their owners receive a tax rate that is lower than the commercial rate but higher than the residential rate.
Rental of Private Dwellings: This category refers to residential units that have been rented out to visitors. Most of the units in this
category are considered illegal use within the existing policy framework of the Town of Canmore. They may take the form of
single rooms or beds actively rented for use in Canmore as accommodation.
Bed and Breakfast: an ancillary commercial use operated by the permanent resident of the dwelling and providing a
maximum accommodation of two guest rooms to a maximum of six persons (or pillows) for periods of 14 days or less with one
meal provided by the operator to the registered guests on a daily basis. Bed & Breakfasts are found in residential zones and are
charged the residential property tax rate.
Hostel: a facility containing commercial accommodation and/or dormitory units operated to provide temporary
accommodation with some communal kitchen and sanitary facilities and which may also provide services for longer-term
guests. Hostels may include such ancillary uses as cafeterias, meeting rooms and outdoor recreational services as well as one
auxiliary residential dwelling unit for the purpose of on-site management.
14

1.1B Accommodation Supply Master List
ID Accommodation
1 Akai Motor Hotel
2 A Bear and Bison Inn
3 Best Western Pocaterra Inn
4 Bow Valley Motel
5 Canmore Lodge
6 Canmore Rocky Mountain Inn
Coast Canmore Hotel &
7
Conference Centre
8 Creekside Country Inn
9 The Drake Inn
10 EconoLodge
11 The Georgetown Inn
12 Holiday Inn Canmore
13 Lady McDonald Inn
14 Mountain View Inn
15 Paintbox Lodge
Quality Resort Chateau
16
Canmore
17 Ramada Inn & Suites
18 Rocky Mountain Ski Lodge
19 Rundle Mountain Motel
20 Wyndham Time Share

ID
21
22
23
24
25
26
164 27
28
12
26 29
66
20 30
99
12 31
44 32
5 33

Units
42
10
86
25
12
54

98 34

189 35
82 20
61
36
83
37
38
21
39
40
Note:
41
Some buildings are
25
27
listed twice, but no
28
units are listed twice.
42
Buildings listed twice
31
contain multiple types 43
44
of units. These
35

buildings are
indicated by altered
colours, as detailed in
the Legend.

Accommodation
Alpine Plaza
Blackstone Mountain Lodge
Bow Valley Chalets
Canadian Rockies Chalets
Falcon Crest Lodge
Fire Mountain Lodge
Grande Rockies Resort
The Lodges at Canmore
Mystic Springs Chalets & Hot
Pools
Rundle Cliffs Luxury Mountain
Lodge
Silver Creek Lodge
Solara Resort
Stoneridge Mountain Resort
Sunset Resorts / Panorama Plaza
I
Windtower Lodge & Suites
Wyndham Time Share
621 10th Street (Cascade
Creekside)
1306 Bow Valley Trail
999 Bow Valley Trail
Alpine Plaza
Alpine Village
Boardwalk Building
Canmore Place
Falcon Crest Lodge
Grande Rockies Resort
The Lodges at Canmore
Mistaya Place
Silver Creek Lodge
Silvertip Heights
Spring Creek
Windtower Lodge & Suites

Units
10
131
26
40
86
24
61
184
44
57

57
214
110
52
58
36
1
2
6
15
10
15
20
19
83
41
1
16
1
31
29
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VRBO Rental Analysis 1
Market

ID Accommodation
Units ID Accommodation
Units ID
Alberta Rocky Mountain High B
1
81 379 Spring Creek Drive
117
2
45
&B
82 Alpine Escape in the Rockies 1
118
2
46 Ambleside Lodge
Mountain Home Away from
1
119 VRBO Rental
1
83
1
47 Assiniboine B & B
Home
1
120 VRBO Rental
2
1
48 Avalon House
84 Mountain Peaks
1
121 VRBO Rental
1
1
49 Avens ReNaissance B & B
85 Rocky Mountain Retreat
1
122 VRBO Rental
1
12 123 VRBO Rental
50 Bear Necessities
86 Sobeys CRU
1
1
1
51 B & B Grassi Heights
87 Tanner Building
1
124 VRBO Rental
1
1
52 B & B Yamasan
88 Three Peaks Getaway
1
125 VRBO Rental
2
1
53 By the Brook B & B
89 Wapati House
1
126 VRBO Rental
2
1
54 Canadian Artisans
90 AirBNB Rental
1
127 VRBO Rental
2
55 Cat’s Meow B & B
1
91 AirBNB Rental
1
128 VRBO Rental
2
56 Cedar Springs B & B
1
92 AirBNB Rental
VRBO Rental
1
129
2
57 Chickadee Pines B & B
1
93 AirBNB Rental
VRBO
Rental
1
130
2
58 Cougar Canyon B & B
1
94 AirBNB Rental
Alpine
Club
of
Canada
1
131
Eagle’s
Nest
3
59
1
95 AirBNB Rental
9
132 Hostel Bear
1
60 Enchanted Forest B & B
1
96 AirBNB Rental
2
61 Grandview Chalet
1
97 AirBNB Rental
3
62 Hidden Falls B & B
1
98 AirBNB Rental
1
63 A Homestead B & B
1
99 AirBNB Rental
2
64 Monarch B & B
1
100 AirBNB Rental
2
65 Mountain Breezes B & B
AirBNB
Rental
1
101
1
66 Mountain Lily B & B
AirBNB
Rental
1
102
2
67 Off Our Rockies B & B
AirBNB
Rental
1
103
2
68 Quilter’s Inn
Legend
AirBNB
Rental
1
104
2
69 Riverview & Main B & B
ID Accommodation
Units
1
105 AirBNB Rental
1
70 Rocky Mountain Grotto
Single Owner Hotel
1
106 AirBNB Rental
2
71 A Room with a View B & B
Condo Hotel
1
107 AirBNB Rental
2
72 Stella Alpina B & B
Tourist Home
1
108 AirBNB Rental
1
80 Up Country B & B
Bed & Breakfast
1
109 AirBNB Rental
Rental of Private Dwelling
Hostel
1
110 AirBNB Rental
1
111 VRBO Rental
Single Owner Hotel units in
1
112 VRBO Rental
mixed building
1
113 VRBO Rental
Condo Hotel units in mixed
1
114 VRBO Rental
building with Single Owner
Condo Hotel units in mixed
1
115 VRBO Rental
building with Tourist Homes
1
116 VRBO Rental
Tourist Home units in mixed
building
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1.1C Canmore Accommodation Inventory
Market Overview
Canmore
Demographic Overview
Permanent Population 2014
Non-Permanent Population 2005
Non-Permanent Population 2014
Non-Permanent Population Change
Annual Growth Rate (CAGR)

Major Tourist Attractions and
Unique Points of Difference

13,077
3,790
3,890
100
0.29%

1. Canmore Nordic Centreworld-class trails for use by
cross-country skiers, mountain
bikers, unicyclists, trail runners,
roller skiers, and hikers. It also
has disc golf courses, and
orienteering. It has provincial
park status and is administered
by Alberta Parks.

An overview of the high level demographics of Canmore
has been provided and accompanied by the total
accommodation inventory for the accommodation
market in the Town of Canmore.

As of the completion of this report, a total of 2,791
accommodation units were accounted for within the

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Market Analysis

Accommodations Inventory
Single Ownership Hotels
Condo Hotel Multiple Ownership
Tourist Homes
Bed & Breakfast
Rental of Private Dwellings
Hostels

Units #
%
1190
43%
1190
43%
290
10%
50
2%
61
2%
10
0.4%
2,791
2. Elevation Place- located just steps
3. Outdoor Recreation- a number
away from the town centre, elevation
of national parks and a number
place offers a 77,000 square foot facilitiy of outdoor activities such as
with aquatics centre, climbing gym,
hiking, skiing, mountain bike
cardio & weight room, Library and the
trails and camping.
Canmore Art Guild.

market in Canmore. The largest two accommodation
categories were Condo Hotels and Single Owner Hotels,
each with exactly 1190 units and each making up 43% of
the supply. Tourist Homes was the third largest category,
but accounts for only 10% of accommodation units. Each
remaining category makes up 2% or less, including the
category that contains all illegal rentals.
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1.1D Accommodation Supply Map
Comprehensive View

This map is a comprehensive overview of the locations
of all commercial accommodation in Canmore,
classified by accommodation type (see legend at
bottom-left).
There are no large single blocks or districts with
significant concentrations of accommodation supply. A
total of 2,791 units were inventoried among 6
distinct categories in Canmore.

1 km

2 km

3 km

Accommodation Type
Bed & Breakfast
Condo Hotel
Hostel
Rental of Private Dwellings
Single Owner Hotel
Tourist Home
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1.1D Accommodation Supply Map
Single Ownership

The highest density of Single Owner Hotels, based on
the Town of Canmore accommodation inventory, is
found to follow Bow Valley Trail as well as areas
adjacent to that corridor.
The supply analysis found a total of 1,190 Single
Owner Hotel units in Canmore.

1 km

2 km

3 km

Accommodation Type
Single Owner Hotel
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1.1D Accommodation Supply Map
Condo Hotels & Tourist Homes

Condo Hotels and non-residential Tourist Homes are
found in similar areas and in many of the same
buildings. They are clustered in the Gateway District
and around the Kananaskis Way area.

There are 1190 Condo hotel units in Canmore and
290 non-residential Tourist Homes.

1 km

2 km

3 km

Accommodation Type
Condo Hotel
Tourist Home

19

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Market Analysis

1.1D Accommodation Supply Map
Bed & Breakfast

It was observed that Bed and Breakfasts are located
toward the periphery of the Town Centre as well as in
areas apart from the main concentration of
accommodation supply along Bow Valley Trail.

Bed and Breakfasts accounted for 2% (50 units) of
Canmore’s accommodation supply.

1 km

2 km

3 km

Accommodation Type
Bed & Breakfast
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1.1D Accommodation Supply Map
Rental of Private Dwellings & Other

Private Dwellings for rent are located throughout Canmore with
a wide spatial distribution in both residential and commercial
areas. These units are not located along main streets or
prominently in the Town Centre. The locations of Canmore’s
two hostels are also shown.

Rental of Private Dwellings accounts for 2% (61 units) of
the total accommodation supply, although this represents
only a two-month snapshot of activity in this market, and
the true number likely differs somewhat.
1 km

2 km

3 km

Accommodation Type
Hostel
Rental of Private Dwellings
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1.1E Canmore Supply Observations

d
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Observations:
Interestingly, there are few accommodation units located in the Town Centre. The distribution and density
of accommodation units were generally spread throughout the entire town. There were very few units
directly on 8th street.
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Observations:
The Gateway District, which is adjacent to the Bow Valley Trail developments, shows a level of
accommodation supply greater than that of areas in the Town Centre.
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1.1E Canmore Supply Observations
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Observations:
A number of accommodation units are located along Bow Valley Trail in the many mid-rise
developments, with a majority of the supply categorized as Condo Hotel, Single Owner Hotel and Rental
of Private Dwellings.
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Observations:
As expected, there are a larger number of accommodation units located along Bow Valley Trail than in
other districts and areas of Canmore. The North Bow Valley Trail area has fewer units in comparison to the
Central Bow Valley Trail area.
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Observations:
The densities of accommodation units in these specific areas are what would be expected given the
development types prominent in these districts. South Bow Valley Trail and Kananaskis Way account for
the highest concentration of accommodation supply in the Town of Canmore.
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1.2 Demand Analysis








In order to make appropriate policies to govern the
accommodation industry in Canmore over the next 20
years, it is first necessary to understand what
accommodation currently exists (as outlined in Section
1.1), how much it is currently used, and how demand
for accommodation has changed in recent years.
Demand for accommodation can be quantified in unit
nights. An upward trend in the number of occupied
hotels, Tourist Homes, and bed & breakfasts in Canmore
would suggest continuing growth, while an ongoing
decline in the number of occupied units would suggest
that further declines in demand should be anticipated.

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
 In this model, current demand for Residential
accommodation in
Canmore is represented by total unit nights in 2014.
Because no estimate of this numberMarket
existed Analysis
prior to this
study, the demand was calculated.



Total unit nights is equal to the number of units
available, multiplied by the occupancy rate (what
proportion actually get rented), multiplied by the
number of nights (in this case 365, the number of nights
in 2014). Thus, unit nights can be calculated based on a
supply estimate and an occupancy rate estimate.



To more accurately estimate the supply and
occupancy rate of commercial accommodation, it is
useful to divide the market into a number of categories
which can be estimated and added up separately. In
this model, the following categories are used:

No source of data on total annual unit nights in
Canmore existed prior to this study. The consulting team
constructed its own model that would capture the
current breakdown of units by type and the occupancy
rates of each type, as well as the historic data required
to identify trends.
The demand model is made up of two segments, both
of which are required to evaluate demand. The first
segment is a snapshot of current demand, showing
what accommodation currently exists in Canmore and
how much it is used. The second segment is a trend
analysis, identifying how demand has changed over
time.









Single-owner hotels, which were defined previously
Condo hotels, which were defined previously

Tourist Homes other than primary residences
Bed & Breakfasts, which were defined previously
Rental of private dwellings, as defined previously
Hostel, as defined previously.

Generating an inventory of supply and a 2014
occupancy rate for each of these categories required
slightly different approaches.
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Residential
 The estimated supply of hotel units and Tourist Homes was based on the 2014 Town of Canmore Property
Roll,
which lists
Market
Analysis

1.2A Data Collection Supply Estimate

each property, its number of units, and its property tax category. Single-owner hotels and condo hotels are separately
enumerated on the Roll, which makes calculating a supply total as easy as tallying up the units in each category.



In 2014 there were 20 single-owner hotels in Canmore with 1190 units in total, and 16 properties with condo hotel units,
containing 1190 units in total, for a grand total of 2380 hotel units in Canmore.

Supply: Tourist Homes



To calculate the total supply of Tourist Homes that are used by visitors, it is important to first understand who counts as a
visitor and who counts as a resident. For the sake of simplicity, this model defines a visitor as anyone who spends a night
in Canmore but whose primary residence is not Canmore.



Some Tourist Homes are used primarily by residents, whereas others are used primarily by visitors. Fortunately for this
analysis, the Property Roll makes these two kinds of Tourist Home easy to tell apart. There are two property tax rates
applied to Tourist Homes: Tourist Homes that are primary residences are taxed at the residential rate, and Tourist Homes
not used as primary residences are taxed at a higher rate. In order to access the lower residential rate, owners must sign
an annual Application for Tourist Home Personal Use which declares that the property “will not…operate as a Tourist
Home or for rental purposes.” The minimum fine for a false declaration is $10,000 at time of writing.
28

1.2A Data Collection Supply Estimate




While some declarations of personal use may be
disingenuous, leading to an over-count of Tourist Homes
as residences, it is unlikely that any Tourist Home owners
using the unit as a residence would fail to file the
application for personal use given the tax implications
of not doing so. This means that the number of nonresidential Tourist Homes as reported in the Property Roll
is a reliable lower bound for the unit supply estimate.
Some Tourist Homes are rented on a short-term basis,
while others are occupied for multiple months per year
by visitor owners. Distinguishing these two kinds of use is
very difficult. However, since neither type of visitor is a
resident of Canmore, this model treats them both as
tourists that contribute to the total demand for unit
nights. Long-term renters of Tourist Homes are included
in the “tourist” category of this tax distinction, which
complicates the interpretation of this variable.



Despite this one shortcoming, it is reasonable to use the
Non-primary Residence Tourist Home category in the
Property Roll to roughly estimate the supply of Tourist
Homes used by visitors.



In 2014, the total number of Tourist Homes other than
primary residences was 290.

Edmonton –
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Supply: Bed & Breakfasts and Hostels
Residential
 The Property Roll data that was reviewed
contained
Market
Analysis no
information on bed & breakfasts or hostels. To estimate
the supply totals for these categories, the consulting
team needed to take a more active approach.



A comprehensive internet search was performed to
identify the maximum possible number of bed &
breakfasts and hostels in Canmore.



Google Street View was used to verify each of the
identified properties.



In cases where the consulting team was still uncertain
on the current use of a property, property managers
and owners were contacted to verify the use.



Altogether, there were 50 bed & breakfasts and two
hostels with 10 rooms containing 61 beds.
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Supply: Rental of private dwellings



The supply of accommodation that violates the
Zoning Bylaw is especially difficult to estimate
because the dwellings are visually indistinguishable
and the proprietors of these properties do not always
advertise openly and are unlikely to admit their illegal
activity to a stranger on the phone. As such, a
different strategy for identifying these units was
needed.



A number of websites have recently emerged to
advertise small-scale accommodation. In Canmore,
the two most popular websites of this type are VRBO
and AirBNB. Data was collected from these websites
to build an inventory of small-scale accommodation.



Each property was identified using VRBO or Airbnb,
then cross-referenced in the Property Roll to
determine its category; is it a condo hotel unit, an
official bed & breakfast, a licensed tourist home, or is
it actually operating in violation of the Zoning Bylaw?



Although we found hundreds of properties being
advertised on the two websites, it is estimated that
only 61 properties were non-conforming illegal
rentals. These are the properties that are termed
“Rental of Private Dwellings.”



Note that this is a two-month seasonal snapshot of
rental activity, and that the true annual unit number
for this category could differ from this estimate.
Rentals of private dwellings should be monitored in
the future to produce more accurate data.
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Source: vrbo.com
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Total supply estimate

1400



1200

These various sources of data were combined to
produce the following estimates of total rentable units
by category:





1,190 Single-owner hotel units, or 43%





50 Bed & Breakfasts, or 2%



1,190 Condo hotel units, or 43%
290 Tourist homes other than primary residences,
or 10%

1190
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1190

1000

800
600

290

400

50

200

61

10

0

61 Rentals of private dwellings, or 2%
10 hostel rooms consisting of 61 hostel beds that
are likely to accommodate about 10 visiting
parties. Each of the 10 hostel rooms is thus
equivalent to an accommodation unit. These 10
units account for 0.4% of Canmore’s total
2,791 accommodation units in total.

Total = 2,791
2% 2% 0.4%
10%

Single-owner hotel

43%

Condo hotel
Tourist homes
Bed & Breakfast

43%

Rental of private dwellings
Hostel
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1.2B Data Collection Occupancy Estimate
The next step in the data collection process was to
determine the occupancy rates of each accommodation
category. Just as with supply, producing an occupancy
estimate for each category of unit requires several data
sources and strategies.









Records from the Canmore Hotel & Lodging Association
(CHLA) showing annual occupancy rates among their
member establishments from 2000 to 2010, which
ranged from 44% to 63%, were used. Data from Alberta
Tourism, Parks & Recreation showing provincial and
regional occupancy rates from 2006 to 2013 was also
reviewed.
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1070

1000

800
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600

613

Not captured
400
200

279
120
11

0

50

0

61

0 10

0
Single
Owner
Hotels

Condo
Hotels

To get a detailed perspective on occupancy rates in
Canmore in 2014, by category and by season, an
online Commercial Accommodation Survey was
designed, implemented then delivered to commercial
accommodation managers and owners with help from
Canmore Business and Tourism and members of the
project Advisory Committee.

Tourist
Homes

Bed &
Rentals of
Breakfasts Private
Dwellings

Hostel

Total = 2,791

The Survey captured 120 out of 1190 single-owner hotel
units (10%), 577 out of 1190 condo hotel units (48%), and
11 out of 290 non-residential Tourist Homes (4%). Overall,
this equals 708 accommodation units out of 2,791, or
25% of the local market.
Detailed Survey results are presented in the Appendix
(Section 5.0)

Captured

25%
Captured
Not captured

75%
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To better understand the seasonal differences in
occupancy in Canmore, Survey participants were
asked to report the occupancy rate for four threemonth periods in the year. The results are presented in
the graph to the right.

100%

According to the Survey, single-owner hotels saw a
2014 occupancy rate of 65%, condo hotels saw an
occupancy rate of 57%, and Tourist Homes were rented
by short-term visitors 45% of the nights that they were
available.

80%

Based on these numbers, it would appear that singleowner hotels have a higher occupancy rate than
condo hotels. However, as mentioned above, this
model treats tourist property owners as tourists rather
than residents, and the occupancy rate figures
captured here reflect only the presence of short-term
renters. Phone conversations with staff at several condo
hotels in Canmore, reveals that although there is a
great deal of variation, condo hotels are occupied by
their tourist owners about 10% of the time. An
assumption was made that this rate was also true of
non-residential Tourist Homes.

60%

Note that occupancy is not being evaluated based on
the quality, size, number of rooms, age of units, or any
other variable except for land use. These results do not
constitute a market study and should not be used as
such.
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92%
90%

86%

Single-owner hotel
Condo hotel
Tourist homes

70%

66%

65%
61%
57%
54%

50%

54%

52%

47%

45%
44%

43%

39%

40%

30%

30%

20%

10%

0%
Summer
Fall occupancy
occupancy
rate
rate

Winter
occupancy
rate

Spring
occupancy
rate

Annual
occupancy
rate
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After this adjustment for tourist owners is introduced,
and the best available data from other sources is taken
into account, the following occupancy rates were
estimated for 2014:



Survey
CHLA data

Survey

40%

30%

CHLA data

Tourist homes: 51%, adjusted for owner occupancy
and based on the survey.
Bed & Breakfast: 45%, equal to Tourist Home
occupancy rate as reported in the survey



Rental of private dwellings: 28%, inferred from
systematic weekly observations of listing website
activity for the duration of January and February
2015, in combination with Survey data. Reduced by
half to reflect occupancy by owner residents for
part of the year.

57%

59%
51%

Alberta Tourism, Parks & Recreation data





50%

Alberta Tourism, Parks & Recreation data

Condo hotel: 59%, adjusted for owner occupancy,
and based on:






60%

Single-owner hotel: 57%, based on:
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70%

45%

45%

20%
28%
10%

0%

Hostel: 45%, equal to Tourist Home occupancy rate
as reported in the survey.
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300,000

Having estimated the total supply of all six categories of
commercial accommodation units in Canmore in 2014 250,000
as well as the 2014 occupancy rate of each category, 200,000
the two estimates can be combined to estimate the
150,000
total unit nights sold within each category:









248,000 Single-owner hotel unit nights, or 43%

257,000 Condo hotel unit nights, or 45%

247,580
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256,875

100,000

53,454

50,000

8,213

6,318

1,643

0

53,500 Tourist Home visitor unit nights, or 9%
8,200 Bed & Breakfast unit nights, or 1%
6,300 Rentals of private dwelling nights, or 1%
1,643 hostel unit nights, or 0.3%
574,000 accommodation unit nights sold in total.

1%
1%

Total = 574,000
0.3%

9%

Single-owner hotel

43%

Condo hotel
Tourist homes
Bed & Breakfast

45%

Rental of private dwellings
Hostel
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1.2D Data Collection Trend Analysis



Data from Alberta Tourism, Parks & Recreation going back to 2000 shows no long-term increase in overnight visits to Alberta,
to Calgary, to the Rocky Mountain Region, or to resort towns collectively.



However, combining historical occupancy rate data from the CHLA and other Canmore-specific sources with historical hotel
construction data from the Town of Canmore indicates that in the last 15 years, demand for accommodation in Canmore
has increased slowly but consistently.



Altogether, demand for accommodation in Canmore has increased by about 14,300 unit nights per year each year for the
last 15 years.

Demand for accommodation in
Canmore, 2000 - 2014
0.70
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500000

2000
0.40
1500
0.30
1000

Supply
0.20

Unit Nights

3000

Occupancy Rate

Accommodation Units

Accommodation Supply &
Occupancy
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300000
200000

Occupancy rate
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100000

0
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0
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1.2E Model Outputs & Key Observations
 This commercial accommodation demand model does
not constitute a market study, as research on the
macro market forces influencing demand for hotel
space in Canmore was not performed.



The model is also not a financial feasibility analysis. The
revenues required for a hotel to survive in Canmore
were not examined, and the consultant team makes
no comment on the advisability of building a new hotel
in the town.



A number of factors could make new hotel ventures
viable. For example, specialized accommodation such
as a hotel spa might pull visitors from Canmore’s existing
hotels, or might attract new visitors entirely.



There are other macro-economic factors that could
alter this long-term trend. For example, another global
recession could dampen demand growth, whereas a
persistently weak Canadian Dollar could promote
increased tourism.



This demand analysis is also limited by the fact that it
does not distinguish between units on the basis of
quality, size, number of rooms, or amenities such as
kitchens, etc.

Edmonton –
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Ultimately, the model indicates four things:
Market Analysis

1.

Demand for accommodation in Canmore has followed
a trend of slow but steady increase over time, which is
anticipated to continue.

2.

Between 2008 and 2010, more than 750 condo hotel
units and non-residential Tourist Homes were added to
the market. This sudden increase in supply coincided
with a decrease in accommodation demand due to
the global financial crisis, leading to a decrease in
hotel unit occupancy from which Canmore has since
recovered.

3.

Single owner hotels and Condo Hotels capture the vast
majority of visitor accommodation demand in
Canmore.

4.

Based on this study’s seasonally limited inventory of
private dwellings for rent, it appears that illegal rentals
capture only a tiny portion (about 1%) of visitor
accommodation demand in Canmore.
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2.0 Introduction
As part of the policy analysis, the consulting team undertook a study
and review of comparable communities in Canada and the United
States. The comparable communities were chosen based on their
relative positions in their regional markets as well as similarities in
accommodation issues to those faced by Canmore.
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The peer communities chosen – Mont-Tremblant, Quebec; Banff,
Alberta; Sylvan Lake, Alberta; Osoyoos, British Columbia; Whistler, British
Columbia and Aspen, Colorado – were finalized following the initial
Advisory Committee session in November of 2014.
Accommodation supply inventories have been compiled into data
tables for use in the comparative analysis with the Town of Canmore.
The purpose of the analysis is to understand if there are commonalities
or patterns in the supply markets in select mountain communities.
Accommodation inventories in Canmore and the peer communities
were conducted using pre-determined categories for purposes of
consistency. A glossary of terms is provided in section 1.1A and can be
referred to for reference. The following categories were used in the
inventory process:







Bed & Breakfast
Condo Hotels
Single Owner Hotels
Hostel
Rental of Private Dwelling
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2.0 Introduction: Methodology
Inventories of selected communities were conducted
through Google Earth and Street View, aerials, secondary
sources (website scraping & desktop research) and primary
methods (through phone calls to specific properties when
desktop research was inadequate).
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Following an initial scraping of hotel and accommodation
websites
(Airbnb,
VRBO,
Expedia,
Tripadvisor,
BBCanada.com),
further
secondary
research
was
conducted in order to fully capture the total number of
buildings and units in the accommodation supply pool.
Private listings with little to no online information were
contacted by the consulting team through phone or via
email in order to fill gaps in data following the secondary
research efforts.
All related data and information was compiled into an
Excel database for use during the analysis phase of this
section.
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2.1A Comparable Inventory Analysis
As part of the community comparable analysis, an
inventory of the accommodation markets was conducted
on 6 communities, based on the categories mentioned on
the previous page. The comparable communities were
selected on the basis of a discussion with the Advisory
Committee, as well as Town of Canmore staff.
A selection of towns and cities are presented in the table
below. Based on this analysis, it appears that Canmore’s
accommodation market is similar to the peer communities
in terms of market share by category. In Canmore, as in all

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
peer communities, the majority of accommodation supply
Residential
is Condo Hotels and Single Owner Hotels. Outliers in this
Market
Analysis
analysis include Sylvan Lake and Banff as
their respective
inventories are heavily weighted towards Single Owner
Hotels.

Whistler, Mont-Tremblant and Aspen showed the highest
concentration of the private dwellings for rent. It should be
noted that the inventories’ differences can be largely
attributed to their relatively different market positions.

1. Total Inventory - Number of Units/Rooms
%

Condo Hotel
Multiple
Ownership

%

Single
Ownership
Hotel

%

Hostels

50

2%

1,190

43%

1,190

43%

10

Osoyoos

38

3%

567

42%

673

50%

Whistler

159

2%

5,287

60%

2,059

23%

136

Mont Tremblant

130

3%

1,328

31%

2,156

50%

42

Aspen

259

8%

1,392

40%

885

61

19%

251

Bed &
Breakfast

Canmore

Sylvan Lake

%

*Rental
of Private
Dwellings

%

Total

%

0.4%

351

13%

2,791

100%

73

5%

1,351

100%

2%

1,193

14%

8,834

100%

1%

640

15%

4,296

100%

26%

911

26%

3,447

100%

79%

4

1%

316

100%

72

2%

4,591

100%

Banff
128
3%
469
10%
3,831
83%
91
2%
*Due to differences in definitions, Rental of Private Dwellings includes Tourist Homes.
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2.1A Comparable Inventory Analysis
90%

80%

70%

This histogram representation of the inventory comparison
visually shows the supply of accommodation in each
category and in each community. Each community’s
accommodation inventory reflects its market position and
policy framework.

83%
79%

Overall, the Rental of Private Dwellings does not account
for a large percentage of the accommodation supply in the
peer communities, with the exception of Aspen, Colorado.
60%

60%

50%

43% 42%

Aspen showed the highest proportion of the
Rental of Private Dwellings in comparison to
other mountain communities. The policy
framework of Aspen is open with few to no
fees for an Annual Vacation Rental Permit.

50%

50%
43%

40%

40%

31%
30%

23%

26%

26%

19%

20%

10%

10%

8%
3%
2% 3% 2%

14%

13%

15%

5%

3%

0.4%

2%

2% 1%

1% 2%

0%
Bed & Breakfast

Condo Hotel Multiple Ownership
Canmore

Osoyoos

Whistler

Single Ownership Hotel
Mont Tremblant

Hostels
Aspen

Sylvan Lake

*Rental of Private Dwellings
Banff
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Sylvan Lake & Banff had Edmonton
the highest proportions
–
of Single Owner Hotels. In the case of Sylvan
Evolving Infill
Lake, the lower diversity in other accommodation
Residential
types helps explain the high
percentage. Banff’s
Market
Analysis
significant domestic and international
tourism
position might account for its high number of
Single Owner Hotel units.

2.1A Comparable Inventory Analysis
90%

Interestingly, other resort and tourist destinations such
as Whistler, Aspen and Mont-Tremblant have fewer
Single Owner Hotel accommodation units,
proportionally, than Sylvan Lake and Banff.

83%
79%

80%

70%

The percentages of Condo Hotel units were
correspondingly low for Sylvan Lake and Banff. The
preponderance of Single-Owner Hotels in Banff is a
result of its status as a National Park.
60%

60%

50%

50%

50%

43% 42%

43%

40%

40%

31%
30%

23%

26%

26%

19%

20%

10%

10%

8%
3%
2% 3% 2%

14%

13%

15%

5%

3%

0.4%

2%

2% 1%

1% 2%

0%
Bed & Breakfast

Condo Hotel Multiple Ownership
Canmore

Osoyoos

Whistler

Single Ownership Hotel
Mont Tremblant

Hostels
Aspen

Sylvan Lake

*Rental of Private Dwellings
Banff
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2.1A Comparable Inventory Analysis
90%

The markets of certain resort communities have
shifted to include Condo Hotel units. This is
observed in the inventories of Canmore, Osoyoos,
Whistler and Aspen.

83%
79%

80%

70%

60%

60%

50%

50%

43% 42%

43%

40%

40%

31%
30%

23%

Whistler has the highest percentage of Condo
Hotel accommodation units compared to the other
50%peer communities. Its policy framework is
conducive to the development of this category and
has given rise to a concentration of these
accommodation units. By comparison, Canmore is
a fairly typical community compared to its peers,
most of which have a share of condo hotels
accounting for 31% to 42% of accommodation
supply.
Sylvan Lake and Banff have fewer.
26%

26%

19%

20%

10%

10%

8%
3%
2% 3% 2%

14%

13%

15%

5%

3%

0.4%

2%

2% 1%

1% 2%

0%
Bed & Breakfast

Condo Hotel Multiple Ownership
Canmore

Osoyoos

Whistler

Single Ownership Hotel
Mont Tremblant

Hostels
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Sylvan Lake

*Rental of Private Dwellings
Banff
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2.1A Comparable Inventory Analysis
90%

80%

Overall, Bed and Breakfast and Hostel
accommodation units account for the lowest
percentages across all peer communities. Aspen
and Osoyoos do not have any inventoried hostel
accommodation units.

83%
79%

Aspen has the highest percentage of Bed and
Breakfast accommodation units, Whistler and
Banff have the highest percentage of hostel
accommodation units, and Sylvan Lake is an
outlier with no listed or inventoried Bed and
Breakfast or Hostel units.
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0.4%

2%

2% 1%

1% 2%

0%
Bed & Breakfast

Condo Hotel Multiple Ownership
Canmore

Osoyoos

Whistler

Single Ownership Hotel
Mont Tremblant
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*Rental of Private Dwellings
Banff
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2.2 Key Observations and Lessons
 The combination of distinct market positions and policy
frameworks has led to the unique accommodation
supply combinations and inventories as found during
the
inventory
process.
Selected
case
study
communities all exhibit different proportions of
accommodation supply by category.







Canmore, while having the largest population of any
inventoried community, displays a fairly even
distribution in its accommodation inventory, and is
similar
to
the
other
communities
both
in
accommodation supply size and makeup.
Certain communities, such as Sylvan Lake and Banff
are weighted heavily in specific categories. This
weighting is most likely attributed to the unique tourism
and visitor markets they service. Banff is a National Park,
and this limits condo hotels and other forms of private
accommodation in that location. For example, Tourist
Homes in Banff are illegal.
Interestingly, the two Albertan peer communities of
Sylvan Lake and Banff are the closest comparable
communities to one another with almost identical
inventory percentages by category.

Edmonton –
Evolving
Infill are
 Rental of Private Dwellings, across all
communities,
Residential
a minor source of accommodation
supply in
Analysis
comparison to the Condo Hotel Market
and Single
Owner
Hotel categories, with the exception of Aspen.



Condo Hotel and Single Owner Hotel are the dominant
accommodation supply categories found in all
inventoried communities, including Canmore. These
two categories account for the majority of
accommodation
supply
within
all
surveyed
communities.



Both Bed and Breakfasts and Hostels make only minor
contributions to the communities’ accommodation
supply.



Differing policy and licensing regulations, researched as
part of the following policy analysis, are important
indicators of the overall composition of a community’s
accommodation supply. Aspen, which has no
significant regulation or policy limitations on Tourist
Homes, has the highest proportion of private dwellings
for rent.
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3.0 Introduction
Understanding the unique challenges faced by the Town of
Canmore and the underlying context within which the policy of
commercial accommodation operates is an essential part of the
comparative policy analysis.
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Market Analysis

The purpose of this section is to identify the underlying issues and
provide a comprehensive analysis of the differing policy frameworks
governing commercial accommodation in a number of selected
communities in Canada and the United States, with particular focus
on the issue of Tourist Homes.
Tourist Home-related accommodation policies have taken a number
of permutations throughout Canada and the United States, even in
similar communities. These differences in approach can be studied to
help understand the taxation and planning implications of policies.
The following section of this report provides clarification and analysis
of comparative policies. Key observations and applicable concepts
for the Town of Canmore will be identified.
The consultant team recognizes that many specific policy tools and
legislative frameworks are dependent on jurisdiction and are thus not
available to policy-makers in Canmore. However, there are
important lessons and key points of interest in the application of
specific, municipal-level policy tools and strategies employed by the
comparison communities.

Source: tourismcanmore.com
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Town

Canmore, AB

Tourist Accommodation Definitions

Tourist Home means a dwelling unit operated as a temporary place to
stay, with or without compensation, and includes all v acation rentals
of a dwelling unit. The Tourist Home designation is a flexible use-based
category where a property can be rented out short term as a quasicommercial use or liv ed in permanently as a residence.

Taxation
Penalties
Enforcement
Other Information

Policy Issues

Areas
Allowed

Issues

Permit/License

Definitions

3.1 Existing Policy Overview

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Taxation fairness was a point of concern for many members of the Advisory Committee.
Residential
The difference in rates between accommodation unit types has led to well-intentioned
Analysis
but reactive policy initiatives that created the unique policy Market
context in
the Town of
Canmore today.

Canmore’s current Tourist Home policy differentiates the use of specific units within a
larger development/building. This creates the unique situation of identical units within
the same condominium being taxed at different rates on the basis of differences in use.
Dev elopment Permit
Business License ($25 - $600 depending on residency & license term)

The Town of Canmore is currently studying how to deal with illegal
Tourist Homes with the consultant team and the Adv isory Group
Primarily only allowed in commercial districts. Only three residential
areas can hav e Tourist Homes.

The vast majority of Tourist Homes in Canmore are found in Commercial districts, and in
apartment-style buildings. Only three residential districts in Canmore permit Tourist
Homes.
The current mill rate applicable to the Tourist Home category is 7.0724, but the
Residential mill rate is only 2.43939. These rates and others are shown in the table below.
Taxation Rates for 2014

Tourist Home mill rate of 7.0724

2014-13 Rate of Taxation Bylaw

If Tourist Home is used only for personal use then they are taxed at
Residential mill rate of 2.43939

Source: canmore.ca/Municipal-Services/Property-Tax/Tax-Rate-Information.html

Residential

Cease Use Order may be issued
$2,500 fine for the first offence and $5,000 for subsequent offences.

Non Residential

Tourist Home

Vacant Serviced Land

Municipal

2.43939 Municipal

8.55629

Municipal

7.07424 Municipal

2.43939

Enforcement in Canmore has been difficult in the past because
officials are required to prov e the illegal use in order to proceed with
enforcement measures. Other municipalities simply require the
operator to get a permit.

School Support

2.51782 School Support

3.81184

School Support

2.51782 School Support

2.51782

BVRH*

0.15253 BVRH*

0.15253

BVRH*

0.15253 BVRH*

0.15253

Canmore is the only municipality that allows a mix of hotel, tourist
home, and residential uses in a single building.

PAH**

0.05724 PAH

0.33535

PAH

0.05724 PAH

0.05724

Total

Mill Rate

5.167

*Bow Valley Regional Housing

Total

Mill Rate 12.85601 Total

Mill Rate 9.80183 Total

Mill Rate 5.16698

**Perpetualy Affordable Housing

The Application for ‘Tourist Home – Personal Use’ declaration allows Tourist Home owners
to have their property tax rates changed to the much lower residential mill rate.
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3.1 Existing Policy Overview
The policy frameworks of each of the individual communities
researched differed according to each municipality’s legislative
power.
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Differing systems of property assessment, such as those in British
Columbia and Ontario, gave rise to specific taxation abilities that
cannot be implemented in Canmore (e.g. splitting the
commercial rate; charging commercial rates for days used as a
commercial accommodation, and others). In Colorado
communities for instance, taxation and land use jurisdiction at
the municipal level allow municipalities to levy lodging/hotel
taxes in addition to other licensing and permitting fees.
Mill rates from communities in Colorado have not been included
due to the difference in American taxation policy and legislation.
The consultant team recognizes that Canmore is limited by
Alberta’s legislative framework. As such, note that the Town is
unable to do the following:

•
•
•
•

collect, create or charge a hotel-specific tax
split the commercial tax rate
effect change on previous land use approvals
regulate ownership.
• The Town can only regulate the use of land through
existing planning regulations
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Infill
The table below is an overview of the related case study policies. A larger table will be provided in theEvolving
Appendix.
Residential
Policy Comparison Table
Market Analysis

3.1A Case Study Policy Table

Penalties
Enforcement
Other Information

Policy Issues

Taxation

Areas Allowed

Issues

Permit/License

Definitions

Tourist Accommodation
Definitions

Town

Canmore, AB

Sylvan Lake, AB

Blue Mountain, ON

Whistler, BC

Kimberley, BC

Aspen, CO

Short Term Accommodation (STA) is
the "use of a building or structure or
any part thereof that operates or
offers a place of temporary
residence, lodging or occupancy
by w ay of concession, permit,
lease, license, rental agreement or
similar commercial arrangement for
any period less than 30
consecutiv e calendar days,
throughout all or any part of a
calendar
year.
STA License
- Valid for 2 years

Temporary Tourist Accommodation
means a building containing 1 or
more habitable rooms or dw elling
units that are used primarily for
temporary (a total of less than 4
consecutiv e w eeks) lodging by
v isitors

Tourist Accommodation means a
building or portions of a building
containing 1 or more habitable
rooms that are used for temporary
lodging by v isitors w here payment
for occupancy is on a daily or
w eekly basis

Vacation rental. The short term
occupancy of a residential
dw elling unit by the general public
for a fee. A v acation rental shall
not include the rental of indiv idual
rooms w ithin a residential dw elling
unit.

Nightly Rental – A structure,
dw elling or dw elling unit that is
rented for periods of time of
less than 30 consecutiv e days. The
term “Nightly rental” shall not
include hotel,
motel, or bed and breakfast
establishments.

Accommodation Unit. Means any
separately ow ned property w ith 1
or more sleeping units w hich are
not defined as a lodging
establishment and w hich is rented
for a period of less than 1 month
increments.

Vacation Home Rental (VHR) shall
mean the rental of a single-family
home or duplex to a single party of
related persons or un-related
persons know n to one another,
w ithout the Ow ner residing in the
single family home or duplex, for
periods of time not to exceed 29
consecutiv e days.

No Permits or licensing in place

No Permits or licensing in place

(A) Annual Vacation Rental Permit
$0 for new permit
$0 for renew al
(B) Business License

Annual Nightly Rental License
$400 for new permit + $150
application fee for properties
located in Commercial,
Commercial Transitional and
Residential zones.
$400 for renew
alimpact on
Concern
on the

Annual Business License
$165 for new permit + $22 per
sleeping room
$165 for renew al + $22 per sleeping
room

Annual Vacation Home Rental
License
$500 for new permit
$50/sleeping room for renew al

Most ow ners and property
management hav e been v ery
good at self-reporting

Established property management
companies w ill take care of the
licensing
taxes for a priv ate
All
zoned and
districts
Allow ed in all zones except
I ndustrial

Only single family homes and
tow nhouses are required to be
licensed. Secondary home ow ners
are the main renters and the tow n
has decided to not tax them.

Select Residential Districts
Select Mixed Use District

Purpose
of regulations
to license,
Select
Residential
Districts
Select Resort District
Select Commercial Districts
Select Mixed Use Districts

Residential rate of 5.2935

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

no specific penalty, but w ill be a
fine that is lesss than $2,650.00

Notified by certified mail to cease Minimum fine of $500.00 up to a
Fine of $1,000.00 for each day of
and desist all adv ertisements. After maximum fine of $1,000.00 for each operation w ithout a license.
10 day grace period, fine of up to day of a v iolation
$300 per day
Property being operated as a VHR
shall not be eligible for a VHR
License for 2 years after conv iction

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints. Properties are rarely
fined.

Generally little to no enforcement. Must include VHR License number
in all adv ertising
Must include the business license
number for the subject property in Planning staff look at w eb listings
any and all adv ertisements for use daily, looking for VHR number
and/or rental of the property

Condos and priv ate homes make
up as much as 40 percent of
Aspen’s tourist bed base.

I f STR is located in residential zone,
during application process, tow n
staff w ill notify all neighbors w ithin
100’ of the property

Property Management, shall ensure
that each Short Term Rental obtains
a business license prior to renting
such Accommodation Unit

Tourist Home means a dw elling unit
operated as a temporary place to
stay, w ith or w ithout compensation,
and includes all v acation rentals of
a dw elling unit. The Tourist Home
designation is a "use" based
designation that isflexible w here a
property can be rented out short
term as a quasi-commercial use or
liv ed in permanently as a
residence.

Tourist Home is a commercial use
w herein a dw elling unit is offered
for rent to guests for a period of 7
days or more, to a maximum of 28
days

Dev elopment Permit
Business License ($25 - $600
depending on residency & license
term)

(A) Dev elopment Permit - v alid for
2 years
$300 for new permit
$150 for renew al
(B) Business License

The Tow n of Canmore is currently
studying how to deal w ith illegal
Tourist Homes w ith the consultant
team and the Adv isory Group

Loophole - if you rent less than 7
days then do not need permit

Passed STA licensing Bylaw in
Nov .2013, had a requirement that
properties had to register by July
2014, how ev er due to low number
of ow ners registering they’v e
extended it to Dec. 2014

Primarily only allow ed in
commercial districts. Only three
residential areas can hav e Tourist
Homes.

Select Residential Districts
Select Mix Use Districts

STA is not permitted in a low density Select Residential Districts
residential zone. Only an existing
Select Tourist Accommodation
STA may continue to operate in a
Districts
low density residential zone in nonconformance.

Select Commercial Districts
Select Comprehensiv e
Dev elopment Districts

Tourist Home mill rate of 7.0724

Commercial mill rate of 10.042

Commercial rate of 0.0047926
I f STA ow ner/operator is a member
of Blue Mountain Village
Association is charge the Resort
Condominium Rate (same as
Residential) of 0.00366708

Ow ners are charged commercial
rate of 10.894 for the days they
rent out their property and
residential rate of 2.824 for the
remainder.

Cease Use Order may be issued
First offense - $500
Fine of $250.00
$2,500 fine for the first offence and Second offense - $1,000
$5,000 for subsequent offences.
Third of Subsequent offense - $2,000

Fines of $1,000 per day to the
property ow ner.

Enforcement in Canmore has been Enforcement is driv en by
difficult in the past because officals complaints
are required to prov e the illegal
use in order to proceed w ith
enforcement measures. Other
municipalities simply require the
operator to get a permit.

Using listing sites to find illegal
rentals and fining them

Find v iolations on a complaint basis, No enforcement
and if their inv estigation draw s
their attention to other obv ious
v iolations, they’ll send letters to
other operators.

Canmore is the only municipality
that allow s a mix of v isitor
accommodation/tourist
home/residential uses in a single
building.

BMVA Basic fee is $1.08/sf inside
the v illage core and $0.27 outside
the v illage core w hich is
determined annually. One time
entry fee is 2% or 1% of the
proeprty v alue, inside the v illage
core and not, respectiv ely.
Members renting w ithout rental
managers are required to remint a
2% royalty of gross rev enues to the
BMVA. I f the property uses a rental
manager, that royalty is 1%.

I f Tourist Home ow ner completes
the declaration for personal use
then they are taxed at Residential
mill rate of 2.43939

$2,000 for new permit
$750 for renew al

I f TTA is the w rong zone is an illegal No specific regulations regarding
activ ity, how ev er it is not actually Short Term Rentals
against the bylaw to adv ertise the
unit

Successes of the program hav e
been inv olv ement of the PM
companies.

When applying for permit,
applicant must send letter to their
Home Ow ners Association
prov iding notice of application for
v acation rental permit

Grand Lake, CO

residential neighbourhoods

Mountain Village, CO

Steamboat Springs, CO

Property management companies
are major driv ers to keep and
maintain compliance. They collect
taxes and do all the administrativ e
w orks for rental property.
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3.1B Case Study Policy Analysis

Tourist Home means a dw elling unit
operated as a temporary place to
stay, w ith or w ithout compensation,
and includes all v acation rentals of
a dw elling unit. The Tourist Home
designation is a "use" based
designation that isflexible w here a
property can be rented out short
term as a quasi-commercial use or
liv ed in permanently as a
residence.

Tourist Home is a commercial use
w herein a dw elling unit is offered
for rent to guests for a period of 7
days or more, to a maximum of 28
days

Dev elopment Permit
Business License ($25 - $600
depending on residency & license
term)

(A) Dev elopment Permit - v alid for
2 years
$300 for new permit
$150 for renew al
(B) Business License

The Tow n of Canmore is currently
studying how to deal w ith illegal
Tourist Homes w ith the consultant
team and the Adv isory Group

Loophole - if you rent less than 7
days then do not need permit

Passed STA licensing Bylaw in
Nov .2013, had a requirement that
properties had to register by July
2014, how ev er due to low number
of ow ners registering they’v e
extended it to Dec. 2014

Primarily only allow ed in
commercial districts. Only three
residential areas can hav e Tourist
Homes.

Select Residential Districts
Select Mix Use Districts

STA is not permitted in a low density Select Residential Districts
residential zone. Only an existing
Select Tourist Accommodation
STA may continue to operate in a
Districts
low density residential zone in nonconformance.

Select Commercial Districts
Select Comprehensiv e
Dev elopment Districts

Tourist Home mill rate of 7.0724

Commercial mill rate of 10.042

Commercial rate of 0.0047926
I f STA ow ner/operator is a member
of Blue Mountain Village
Association is charge the Resort
Condominium Rate (same as
Residential) of 0.00366708

Ow ners are charged commercial
rate of 10.894 for the days they
rent out their property and
residential rate of 2.824 for the
remainder.

Residential rate of 5.2935

Cease Use Order may be issued
First offense - $500
Fine of $250.00
$2,500 fine for the first offence and Second offense - $1,000
$5,000 for subsequent offences.
Third of Subsequent offense - $2,000

Fines of $1,000 per day to the
property ow ner.

N/A

Enforcement in Canmore has been Enforcement is driv en by
difficult in the past because officals complaints
are required to prov e the illegal
use in order to proceed w ith
enforcement measures. Other
municipalities simply require the
operator to get a permit.

Using listing sites to find illegal
rentals and fining them

Find v iolations on a complaint basis, No enforcement
and if their inv estigation draw s
their attention to other obv ious
v iolations, they’ll send letters to
other operators.

Canmore is the only municipality
that allow s a mix of v isitor
accommodation/tourist
home/residential uses in a single
building.

BMVA Basic fee is $1.08/sf inside
the v illage core and $0.27 outside
the v illage core w hich is
determined annually. One time
entry fee is 2% or 1% of the
proeprty v alue, inside the v illage
core and not, respectiv ely.
Members renting w ithout rental
managers are required to remint a
2% royalty of gross rev enues to the
BMVA. I f the property uses a rental
manager, that royalty is 1%.

Penalties
Enforcement
Other Information

Policy Issues

Taxation

Areas Allowed

Issues

Permit/License

Definitions

Canmore, AB

Tourist Accommodation
Definitions

Policy Comparison Table
Town

Sylvan Lake, AB

I f Tourist Home ow ner completes
the declaration for personal use
then they are taxed at Residential
mill rate of 2.43939

Blue Mountain, ON

Whistler, BC

Kimberley, BC

Aspen, CO

Short Term Accommodation (STA) is
the "use of a building or structure or
any part thereof that operates or
offers a place of temporary
residence, lodging or occupancy
by w ay of concession, permit,
lease, license, rental agreement or
similar commercial arrangement for
any period less than 30
consecutiv e calendar days,
throughout all or any part of a
calendar
year.
STA License
- Valid for 2 years

Temporary Tourist Accommodation
means a building containing 1 or
more habitable rooms or dw elling
units that are used primarily for
temporary (a total of less than 4
consecutiv e w eeks) lodging by
v isitors

Tourist Accommodation means a
building or portions of a building
containing 1 or more habitable
rooms that are used for temporary
lodging by v isitors w here payment
for occupancy is on a daily or
w eekly basis

Vacation rental. The short term
occupancy of a residential
dw elling unit by the general public
for a fee. A v acation rental shall
not include the rental of indiv idual
rooms w ithin a residential dw elling
unit.

Grand Lake, CO

Mountain Village, CO

Steamboat Springs, CO

Sylvan Lake has a specific definition of “Tourist Home” and applies time period limitations to
Tourist Homes. Sylvan Lake has specifically defined the Tourist Home as a commercial use in their
policy.
Nightly Rental – A structure,
dw elling or dw elling unit that is
rented for periods of time of
less than 30 consecutiv e days. The
term “Nightly rental” shall not
include hotel,
motel, or bed and breakfast
establishments.

Accommodation Unit. Means any
separately ow ned property w ith 1
or more sleeping units w hich are
not defined as a lodging
establishment and w hich is rented
for a period of less than 1 month
increments.

Vacation Home Rental (VHR) shall
mean the rental of a single-family
home or duplex to a single party of
related persons or un-related
persons know n to one another,
w ithout the Ow ner residing in the
single family home or duplex, for
periods of time not to exceed 29
consecutiv e days.

Annual Nightly Rental License
$400 for new permit + $150
application fee for properties
located in Commercial,
Commercial Transitional and
Residential zones.
$400 for renew
alimpact on
Concern
on the

Annual Business License
$165 for new permit + $22 per
sleeping room
$165 for renew al + $22 per sleeping
room

Annual Vacation Home Rental
License
$500 for new permit
$50/sleeping room for renew al

Most ow ners and property
management hav e been v ery
good at self-reporting

Only single family homes and
tow nhouses are required to be
licensed. Secondary home ow ners
are the main renters and the tow n
has decided to not tax them.

Sylvan Lake has permit and business license requirements in place with corresponding fees for
renewal.
No Permits or licensing in place

No Permits or licensing in place

$2,000 for new permit
$750 for renew al

(A) Annual Vacation Rental Permit
$0 for new permit
$0 for renew al
(B) Business License

Sylvan Lake has fewer land use regulations regarding the location of Tourist Homes as they are
allowed in select mixed used districts.
I f TTA is the w rong zone is an illegal No specific regulations regarding
activ ity, how ev er it is not actually Short Term Rentals
against the bylaw to adv ertise the
unit

Successes of the program hav e
been inv olv ement of the PM
companies.

residential neighbourhoods

Sylvan Lake permits have 2 year terms with fines that can range in severity from $500 to $2,000 for
illegal rentals with additional per day fines for continuing offences.
A tiered penalty fee structure is used, with the first offence at $500, the second at $1,000 and the
third and subsequent offences at $2,000.
Established property management
companies w ill take care of the
licensing
taxes for a priv ate
All
zoned and
districts
Allow ed in all zones except
I ndustrial

Select Residential Districts
Select Mixed Use District

Purpose
of regulations
to license,
Select
Residential
Districts
Select Resort District
Select Commercial Districts
Select Mixed Use Districts

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Enforcement of the policies has been largely complaint-driven with little to no pro-active
enforcement on behalf of Sylvan Lake.
no specific penalty, but w ill be a
fine that is lesss than $2,650.00

Notified by certified mail to cease Minimum fine of $500.00 up to a
Fine of $1,000.00 for each day of
and desist all adv ertisements. After maximum fine of $1,000.00 for each operation w ithout a license.
10 day grace period, fine of up to day of a v iolation
$300 per day
Property being operated as a VHR
shall not be eligible for a VHR
License for 2 years after conv iction

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints. Properties are rarely
fined.

Generally little to no enforcement. Must include VHR License number
in all adv ertising
Must include the business license
number for the subject property in Planning staff look at w eb listings
any and all adv ertisements for use daily, looking for VHR number
and/or rental of the property

Condos and priv ate homes make
up as much as 40 percent of
Aspen’s tourist bed base.

I f STR is located in residential zone,
during application process, tow n
staff w ill notify all neighbors w ithin
100’ of the property

Property Management, shall ensure
that each Short Term Rental obtains
a business license prior to renting
such Accommodation Unit

When applying for permit,
applicant must send letter to their
Home Ow ners Association
prov iding notice of application for
v acation rental permit

Property management companies
are major driv ers to keep and
maintain compliance. They collect
taxes and do all the administrativ e
w orks for rental property.
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Tourist Home means a dw elling unit
operated as a temporary place to
stay, w ith or w ithout compensation,
and includes all v acation rentals of
a dw elling unit. The Tourist Home
designation is a "use" based
designation that isflexible w here a
property can be rented out short
term as a quasi-commercial use or
liv ed in permanently as a
residence.

Tourist Home is a commercial use
w herein a dw elling unit is offered
for rent to guests for a period of 7
days or more, to a maximum of 28
days

Dev elopment Permit
Business License ($25 - $600
depending on residency & license
term)

(A) Dev elopment Permit - v alid for
2 years
$300 for new permit
$150 for renew al
(B) Business License

The Tow n of Canmore is currently
studying how to deal w ith illegal
Tourist Homes w ith the consultant
team and the Adv isory Group

Loophole - if you rent less than 7
days then do not need permit

Passed STA licensing Bylaw in
Nov .2013, had a requirement that
properties had to register by July
2014, how ev er due to low number
of ow ners registering they’v e
extended it to Dec. 2014

Primarily only allow ed in
commercial districts. Only three
residential areas can hav e Tourist
Homes.

Select Residential Districts
Select Mix Use Districts

STA is not permitted in a low density Select Residential Districts
residential zone. Only an existing
Select Tourist Accommodation
STA may continue to operate in a
Districts
low density residential zone in nonconformance.

Select Commercial Districts
Select Comprehensiv e
Dev elopment Districts

Tourist Home mill rate of 7.0724

Commercial mill rate of 10.042

Commercial rate of 0.0047926
I f STA ow ner/operator is a member
of Blue Mountain Village
Association is charge the Resort
Condominium Rate (same as
Residential) of 0.00366708

Ow ners are charged commercial
rate of 10.894 for the days they
rent out their property and
residential rate of 2.824 for the
remainder.

Cease Use Order may be issued
First offense - $500
Fine of $250.00
$2,500 fine for the first offence and Second offense - $1,000
$5,000 for subsequent offences.
Third of Subsequent offense - $2,000

Fines of $1,000 per day to the
property ow ner.

Enforcement in Canmore has been Enforcement is driv en by
difficult in the past because officals complaints
are required to prov e the illegal
use in order to proceed w ith
enforcement measures. Other
municipalities simply require the
operator to get a permit.

Using listing sites to find illegal
rentals and fining them

Find v iolations on a complaint basis, No enforcement
and if their inv estigation draw s
their attention to other obv ious
v iolations, they’ll send letters to
other operators.

Canmore is the only municipality
that allow s a mix of v isitor
accommodation/tourist
home/residential uses in a single
building.

BMVA Basic fee is $1.08/sf inside
the v illage core and $0.27 outside
the v illage core w hich is
determined annually. One time
entry fee is 2% or 1% of the
proeprty v alue, inside the v illage
core and not, respectiv ely.
Members renting w ithout rental
managers are required to remint a
2% royalty of gross rev enues to the
BMVA. I f the property uses a rental
manager, that royalty is 1%.

Other Information

Enforcement

Penalties

Taxation

Areas Allowed

Issues

Permit/License

Definitions
Policy Issues

Sylvan Lake, AB

I f Tourist Home ow ner completes
the declaration for personal use
then they are taxed at Residential
mill rate of 2.43939

Blue Mountain, ON

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Policy Comparison Table
Market Analysis
Blue Mountain has defined Tourist Homes as Short Term Accommodation
(STA),

Tourist Accommodation
Definitions

3.1B Case Study Policy Analysis

Short Term Accommodation (STA) is
the "use of a building or structure or
any part thereof that operates or
offers a place of temporary
residence, lodging or occupancy
by w ay of concession, permit,
lease, license, rental agreement or
similar commercial arrangement for
any period less than 30
consecutiv e calendar days,
throughout all or any part of a
calendar
year.
STA License
- Valid for 2 years
$2,000 for new permit
$750 for renew al

Whistler, BC

Kimberley, BC

Aspen, CO

Temporary Tourist Accommodation
means a building containing 1 or
more habitable rooms or dw elling
units that are used primarily for
temporary (a total of less than 4
consecutiv e w eeks) lodging by
v isitors

Tourist Accommodation means a
building or portions of a building
containing 1 or more habitable
rooms that are used for temporary
lodging by v isitors w here payment
for occupancy is on a daily or
w eekly basis

Vacation rental. The short term
occupancy of a residential
dw elling unit by the general public
for a fee. A v acation rental shall
not include the rental of indiv idual
rooms w ithin a residential dw elling
unit.

Nightly Rental – A structure,
dw elling or dw elling unit that is
rented for periods of time of
less than 30 consecutiv e days. The
term “Nightly rental” shall not
include hotel,
motel, or bed and breakfast
establishments.

Grand Lake, CO

Accommodation Unit. Means any
separately ow ned property w ith 1
or more sleeping units w hich are
not defined as a lodging
establishment and w hich is rented
for a period of less than 1 month
increments.

Mountain Village, CO

Vacation Home Rental (VHR) shall
mean the rental of a single-family
home or duplex to a single party of
related persons or un-related
persons know n to one another,
w ithout the Ow ner residing in the
single family home or duplex, for
periods of time not to exceed 29
consecutiv e days.

Steamboat Springs, CO

No Permits or licensing in place

No Permits or licensing in place

(A) Annual Vacation Rental Permit
$0 for new permit
$0 for renew al
(B) Business License

Annual Nightly Rental License
$400 for new permit + $150
application fee for properties
located in Commercial,
Commercial Transitional and
Residential zones.
$400 for renew
alimpact on
Concern
on the

Annual Business License
$165 for new permit + $22 per
sleeping room
$165 for renew al + $22 per sleeping
room

Annual Vacation Home Rental
License
$500 for new permit
$50/sleeping room for renew al

Most ow ners and property
management hav e been v ery
good at self-reporting

Established property management
companies w ill take care of the
licensing
taxes for a priv ate
All
zoned and
districts
Allow ed in all zones except
I ndustrial

Only single family homes and
tow nhouses are required to be
licensed. Secondary home ow ners
are the main renters and the tow n
has decided to not tax them.

Select Residential Districts
Select Mixed Use District

Purpose
of regulations
to license,
Select
Residential
Districts
Select Resort District
Select Commercial Districts
Select Mixed Use Districts

Residential rate of 5.2935

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

no specific penalty, but w ill be a
fine that is lesss than $2,650.00

Notified by certified mail to cease Minimum fine of $500.00 up to a
Fine of $1,000.00 for each day of
and desist all adv ertisements. After maximum fine of $1,000.00 for each operation w ithout a license.
10 day grace period, fine of up to day of a v iolation
$300 per day
Property being operated as a VHR
shall not be eligible for a VHR
License for 2 years after conv iction

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints. Properties are rarely
fined.

Generally little to no enforcement. Must include VHR License number
in all adv ertising
Must include the business license
number for the subject property in Planning staff look at w eb listings
any and all adv ertisements for use daily, looking for VHR number
and/or rental of the property

Condos and priv ate homes make
up as much as 40 percent of
Aspen’s tourist bed base.

I f STR is located in residential zone,
during application process, tow n
staff w ill notify all neighbors w ithin
100’ of the property

Property Management, shall ensure
that each Short Term Rental obtains
a business license prior to renting
such Accommodation Unit

which is defined as a building or part of a structure that operates or offers a
temporary residence or lodging capacity through a permit, lease, license or rental
agreement for any periods less than 30 consecutive days of stay/use. A license is
not required for renting a property or unit longer than 30 days. User capacity
limitations (a maximum of 8 users per STA) and distance buffers of 120 metres
between STAs are also in force.

As with Sylvan Lake, the permit or STA license is valid for a period of 2 years with an
initial permit fee of $2,000 and $750 for renewal. The STA bylaw was passed in 2013
with a requirement for properties and owners to be registered by 2014.

I f TTA is the w rong zone is an illegal No specific regulations regarding
activ ity, how ev er it is not actually Short Term Rentals
against the bylaw to adv ertise the
unit

Successes of the program hav e
been inv olv ement of the PM
companies.

residential neighbourhoods

STAs are not allowed or approved in areas of low density residential and may only
be operated if they are legal non-conforming uses. Interestingly, the tax rates are
based on the commercial rate, however they can meet reassessment
requirements if they are members of the Blue Mountain Village Association,
effectively reducing costs to residential rates.

Fines were listed as $250 per day with enforcement limited to staff reviewing the
popular and most widely used listing sites and platforms to check for illegal listings.
No specific techniques other than this were identified by staff. The Town has
determined the cost of enforcement to be $180,000 for the first year and $146,000
annually thereafter.

Property management companies
are major driv ers to keep and
maintain compliance. They collect
taxes and do all the administrativ e
w orks for rental property.

The STA license process is comprehensive and includes requirements of approvals
from planning in addition to fire & building. A comprehensive list of license
requirements are provided by the Town of The Blue Mountain.
When applying for permit,
applicant must send letter to their
Home Ow ners Association
prov iding notice of application for
v acation rental permit
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Town

Canmore, AB
Tourist Home means a dw elling unit
operated as a temporary place to
stay, w ith or w ithout compensation,
and includes all v acation rentals of
a dw elling unit. The Tourist Home
designation is a "use" based
designation that isflexible w here a
property can be rented out short
term as a quasi-commercial use or
liv ed in permanently as a
residence.

Tourist Home is a commercial use
w herein a dw elling unit is offered
for rent to guests for a period of 7
days or more, to a maximum of 28
days

Dev elopment Permit
Business License ($25 - $600
depending on residency & license
term)

(A) Dev elopment Permit - v alid for
2 years
$300 for new permit
$150 for renew al
(B) Business License

The Tow n of Canmore is currently
studying how to deal w ith illegal
Tourist Homes w ith the consultant
team and the Adv isory Group

Loophole - if you rent less than 7
days then do not need permit

Passed STA licensing Bylaw in
Nov .2013, had a requirement that
properties had to register by July
2014, how ev er due to low number
of ow ners registering they’v e
extended it to Dec. 2014

Primarily only allow ed in
commercial districts. Only three
residential areas can hav e Tourist
Homes.

Select Residential Districts
Select Mix Use Districts

STA is not permitted in a low density Select Residential Districts
residential zone. Only an existing
Select Tourist Accommodation
STA may continue to operate in a
Districts
low density residential zone in nonconformance.

Select Commercial Districts
Select Comprehensiv e
Dev elopment Districts

Tourist Home mill rate of 7.0724

Commercial mill rate of 10.042

Commercial rate of 0.0047926
I f STA ow ner/operator is a member
of Blue Mountain Village
Association is charge the Resort
Condominium Rate (same as
Residential) of 0.00366708

Ow ners are charged commercial
rate of 10.894 for the days they
rent out their property and
residential rate of 2.824 for the
remainder.

Residential rate of 5.2935

Cease Use Order may be issued
First offense - $500
Fine of $250.00
$2,500 fine for the first offence and Second offense - $1,000
$5,000 for subsequent offences.
Third of Subsequent offense - $2,000

Fines of $1,000 per day to the
property ow ner.

N/A

Enforcement in Canmore has been Enforcement is driv en by
difficult in the past because officals complaints
are required to prov e the illegal
use in order to proceed w ith
enforcement measures. Other
municipalities simply require the
operator to get a permit.

Using listing sites to find illegal
rentals and fining them

Find v iolations on a complaint basis, No enforcement
and if their inv estigation draw s
their attention to other obv ious
v iolations, they’ll send letters to
other operators.

Canmore is the only municipality
that allow s a mix of v isitor
accommodation/tourist
home/residential uses in a single
building.

BMVA Basic fee is $1.08/sf inside
the v illage core and $0.27 outside
the v illage core w hich is
determined annually. One time
entry fee is 2% or 1% of the
proeprty v alue, inside the v illage
core and not, respectiv ely.
Members renting w ithout rental
managers are required to remint a
2% royalty of gross rev enues to the
BMVA. I f the property uses a rental
manager, that royalty is 1%.

Other Information

Enforcement

Penalties

Taxation

Areas Allowed

Issues

Permit/License

Definitions
Policy Issues

Sylvan Lake, AB

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Policy Comparison Table
Market
Analysis
Whistler and Kimberly both use the
definition
of a

Tourist Accommodation
Definitions

3.1B Case Study Policy Analysis

I f Tourist Home ow ner completes
the declaration for personal use
then they are taxed at Residential
mill rate of 2.43939

Blue Mountain, ON

Whistler, BC

Kimberley, BC

Aspen, CO

Short Term Accommodation (STA) is
the "use of a building or structure or
any part thereof that operates or
offers a place of temporary
residence, lodging or occupancy
by w ay of concession, permit,
lease, license, rental agreement or
similar commercial arrangement for
any period less than 30
consecutiv e calendar days,
throughout all or any part of a
calendar
year.
STA License
- Valid for 2 years

Temporary Tourist Accommodation
means a building containing 1 or
more habitable rooms or dw elling
units that are used primarily for
temporary (a total of less than 4
consecutiv e w eeks) lodging by
v isitors

Tourist Accommodation means a
building or portions of a building
containing 1 or more habitable
rooms that are used for temporary
lodging by v isitors w here payment
for occupancy is on a daily or
w eekly basis

Vacation rental. The short term
occupancy of a residential
dw elling unit by the general public
for a fee. A v acation rental shall
not include the rental of indiv idual
rooms w ithin a residential dw elling
unit.

Nightly Rental – A structure,
dw elling or dw elling unit that is
rented for periods of time of
less than 30 consecutiv e days. The
term “Nightly rental” shall not
include hotel,
motel, or bed and breakfast
establishments.

Accommodation Unit. Means any
separately ow ned property w ith 1
or more sleeping units w hich are
not defined as a lodging
establishment and w hich is rented
for a period of less than 1 month
increments.

Vacation Home Rental (VHR) shall
mean the rental of a single-family
home or duplex to a single party of
related persons or un-related
persons know n to one another,
w ithout the Ow ner residing in the
single family home or duplex, for
periods of time not to exceed 29
consecutiv e days.

No Permits or licensing in place

No Permits or licensing in place

(A) Annual Vacation Rental Permit
$0 for new permit
$0 for renew al
(B) Business License

Annual Nightly Rental License
$400 for new permit + $150
application fee for properties
located in Commercial,
Commercial Transitional and
Residential zones.
$400 for renew
alimpact on
Concern
on the

Annual Business License
$165 for new permit + $22 per
sleeping room
$165 for renew al + $22 per sleeping
room

Annual Vacation Home Rental
License
$500 for new permit
$50/sleeping room for renew al

Most ow ners and property
management hav e been v ery
good at self-reporting

Established property management
companies w ill take care of the
licensing
taxes for a priv ate
All
zoned and
districts
Allow ed in all zones except
I ndustrial

Only single family homes and
tow nhouses are required to be
licensed. Secondary home ow ners
are the main renters and the tow n
has decided to not tax them.

Select Residential Districts
Select Mixed Use District

Purpose
of regulations
to license,
Select
Residential
Districts
Select Resort District
Select Commercial Districts
Select Mixed Use Districts

N/A

N/A

N/A

$2,000 for new permit
$750 for renew al

I f TTA is the w rong zone is an illegal No specific regulations regarding
activ ity, how ev er it is not actually Short Term Rentals
against the bylaw to adv ertise the
unit

Grand Lake, CO

Mountain Village, CO

Steamboat Springs, CO

“Tourist Accommodation” referring to the use of a
building containing one or more habitable rooms that
are primarily used for temporary lodging by visitors.
Whistler specifies a time limit of 4 weeks whereas
Kimberly refers to payments for occupancy on a daily
or weekly basis.

Neither community has permitting or licensing
requirements. Kimberly has no specific regulations
regarding short term rentals and they are permitted
uses in select commercial districts and comprehensive
area plans. Whistler allows Tourist Accommodation in
select tourist districts and residential areas.

Successes of the program hav e
been inv olv ement of the PM
companies.

residential neighbourhoods

N/A

Due to differing assessment structures, Whistler is able
to selectively charge a commercial mill rate on days
the Tourist Accommodation units are rented out.
Kimberly applies the standard residential rate.

no specific penalty, but w ill be a
fine that is lesss than $2,650.00

Notified by certified mail to cease Minimum fine of $500.00 up to a
Fine of $1,000.00 for each day of
and desist all adv ertisements. After maximum fine of $1,000.00 for each operation w ithout a license.
10 day grace period, fine of up to day of a v iolation
$300 per day
Property being operated as a VHR
shall not be eligible for a VHR
License for 2 years after conv iction

Fines are $1000 per day in Whistler with no set fines in
place for Kimberly. Enforcement was complaint-based
in Whistler. Kimberly, in stark contrast to the other case
studies, did not have plans or policies in place for fines
or enforcement.

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints. Properties are rarely
fined.

Generally little to no enforcement. Must include VHR License number
in all adv ertising
Must include the business license
number for the subject property in Planning staff look at w eb listings
any and all adv ertisements for use daily, looking for VHR number
and/or rental of the property

Condos and priv ate homes make
up as much as 40 percent of
Aspen’s tourist bed base.

I f STR is located in residential zone,
during application process, tow n
staff w ill notify all neighbors w ithin
100’ of the property

Property Management, shall ensure
that each Short Term Rental obtains
a business license prior to renting
such Accommodation Unit

When applying for permit,
applicant must send letter to their
Home Ow ners Association
prov iding notice of application for
v acation rental permit

Property management companies
are major driv ers to keep and
maintain compliance. They collect
taxes and do all the administrativ e
w orks for rental property.
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Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Market Analysis

3.1B Case Study Policy Analysis

Tourist Home means a dw elling unit
operated as a temporary place to
stay, w ith or w ithout compensation,
and includes all v acation rentals of
a dw elling unit. The Tourist Home
designation is a "use" based
designation that isflexible w here a
property can be rented out short
term as a quasi-commercial use or
liv ed in permanently as a
residence.

Areas Allowed

Issues

Permit/License

Definitions

Canmore, AB

Tourist Accommodation
Definitions

Policy Comparison Table
Town

Dev elopment Permit
Business License ($25 - $600
depending on residency & license
term)

The Tow n of Canmore is currently
studying how to deal w ith illegal
Tourist Homes w ith the consultant
team and the Adv isory Group

Primarily only allow ed in
commercial districts. Only three
residential areas can hav e Tourist
Homes.

Penalties
Enforcement
Other Information

Policy Issues

Taxation

Tourist Home mill rate of 7.0724
I f Tourist Home ow ner completes
the declaration for personal use
then they are taxed at Residential
mill rate of 2.43939
Cease Use Order may be issued
$2,500 fine for the first offence and
$5,000 for subsequent offences.

With the exception
of Aspen, all other communities in
Short Term Accommodation (STA) is Temporary Tourist Accommodation Tourist Accommodation means a
the "use of afees
building orfor
structure
or means a building
containing
1 or
building or portions of a building
Colorado instituted
licenses
and
permit
any part thereof that operates or
more habitable rooms or dw elling containing 1 or more habitable
offers
a
place
of
temporary
units
that
are
used
primarily
for
rooms that
are used for temporary
requirements for
Tourist Homes. In addition to the
license
residence, lodging or occupancy temporary (a total of less than 4
lodging by v isitors w here payment
by
w
ay
of
concession,
permit,
consecutiv
e
w
eeks)
lodging
by
for
occupancy
is on a daily or
fees, many of the
communities were able to institute
lease, license, rental agreement or v isitors
w eekly basis
similar
commercial
arrangement
for
additional taxes
and
levies.
Aspen
does not charge a fee
any period less than 30
consecutiv ebut
calendar
days,
for vacation rentals
does
collect
a fee for business
throughout all or any part of a
calendar
year.
(A)
Dev elopment Permit
for STA License - Valid
for 2 years
No Permits or interviews.
licensing in place
No Permits or licensing in place
licenses
as- v alid
confirmed
during
phone
Sylvan Lake, AB

Blue Mountain, ON

Whistler, BC

Kimberley, BC

Tourist Home is a commercial use
w herein a dw elling unit is offered
for rent to guests for a period of 7
days or more, to a maximum of 28
days

2 years
$300 for new permit
$150 for renew al
(B) Business License

$2,000 for new permit
$750 for renew al

Grand Lake, Mountain Village and Steamboat Spring
define
Tourist
as Bylaw
Nightly
Rental
not
include
Loophole
- if you rent
less than 7 Homes
Passed STA licensing
in
I f TTA
is the w rong (does
zone is an illegal
No specific
regulations regarding
days then do not need permit
Nov .2013, had a requirement that activ ity, how ev er it is not actually Short Term Rentals
hotels, motels or
B&Bs),
Accommodation
properties
had to register
by July
against the bylaw to advUnit
ertise the (Any
2014, how ev er due to low number unit
separately owned
property
of ow ners
registering they’v e with 1 or more sleeping units for
extended it to Dec. 2014
a period of lessSTAthan
1 month increments), andSelect
Vacation
Select Residential Districts
is not permitted in a low density Select Residential Districts
Commercial Districts
Select Mix Use Districts
residential zone. Only an existing
Select Tourist Accommodation
Select Comprehensiv e
Home Rental (VHR
–
rental
of
a
single
family
home
for
STA may continue to operate in a
Districts
Dev elopment Districts
density residential zone in nonperiods of timelow
not
exceeding
29
consecutive
days
with the
conformance.
owner
not
present).
Commercial mill rate of 10.042
Commercial rate of 0.0047926
Ow ners are charged commercial Residential rate of 5.2935
I f STA ow ner/operator is a member
of Blue Mountain Village
Association is charge the Resort
Condominium Rate (same as
Residential) of 0.00366708

Grand Lake, CO

Mountain Village, CO

Steamboat Springs, CO

Nightly Rental – A structure,
dw elling or dw elling unit that is
rented for periods of time of
less than 30 consecutiv e days. The
term “Nightly rental” shall not
include hotel,
motel, or bed and breakfast
establishments.

Accommodation Unit. Means any
separately ow ned property w ith 1
or more sleeping units w hich are
not defined as a lodging
establishment and w hich is rented
for a period of less than 1 month
increments.

Vacation Home Rental (VHR) shall
mean the rental of a single-family
home or duplex to a single party of
related persons or un-related
persons know n to one another,
w ithout the Ow ner residing in the
single family home or duplex, for
periods of time not to exceed 29
consecutiv e days.

(A) Annual Vacation Rental Permit
$0 for new permit
$0 for renew al
(B) Business License

Annual Nightly Rental License
$400 for new permit + $150
application fee for properties
located in Commercial,
Commercial Transitional and
Residential zones.
$400 for renew
alimpact on
Concern
on the

Annual Business License
$165 for new permit + $22 per
sleeping room
$165 for renew al + $22 per sleeping
room

Annual Vacation Home Rental
License
$500 for new permit
$50/sleeping room for renew al

Most ow ners and property
management hav e been v ery
good at self-reporting

Established property management
companies w ill take care of the
licensing
taxes for a priv ate
All
zoned and
districts
Allow ed in all zones except
I ndustrial

Only single family homes and
tow nhouses are required to be
licensed. Secondary home ow ners
are the main renters and the tow n
has decided to not tax them.

Select Residential Districts
Select Mixed Use District

Purpose
of regulations
to license,
Select
Residential
Districts
Select Resort District
Select Commercial Districts
Select Mixed Use Districts

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

no specific penalty, but w ill be a
fine that is lesss than $2,650.00

Notified by certified mail to cease Minimum fine of $500.00 up to a
Fine of $1,000.00 for each day of
and desist all adv ertisements. After maximum fine of $1,000.00 for each operation w ithout a license.
10 day grace period, fine of up to day of a v iolation
$300 per day
Property being operated as a VHR
shall not be eligible for a VHR
License for 2 years after conv iction

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints. Properties are rarely
fined.

Generally little to no enforcement. Must include VHR License number
in all adv ertising
Must include the business license
number for the subject property in Planning staff look at w eb listings
any and all adv ertisements for use daily, looking for VHR number
and/or rental of the property

Condos and priv ate homes make
up as much as 40 percent of
Aspen’s tourist bed base.

I f STR is located in residential zone,
during application process, tow n
staff w ill notify all neighbors w ithin
100’ of the property

Property Management, shall ensure
that each Short Term Rental obtains
a business license prior to renting
such Accommodation Unit

Successes of the program hav e
been inv olv ement of the PM
companies.

residential neighbourhoods

rate of 10.894 for the days they
rent out their property and
residential rate of 2.824 for the
remainder.

Aspen uniquely defines Tourist Homes as Vacation Rentals
which are residential
dwellingsFines
occupied
for aN/A
short term by
First offense - $500
Fine of $250.00
of $1,000 per day to the
Second
offense
$1,000
property
ow
ner.
a member of the public. This does not include the rental of
Third of Subsequent offense - $2,000
individual rooms within a residential dwelling unit.

Vacation rentals
generally
permitted
in basis,
all NoColorado
Usingare
listing sites
to find illegal
Find
v iolations on a complaint
enforcement
rentals and fining them
and if their inv estigation draw s
communities with the exception
of Mountain
Village and
their attention
to other obv ious
v iolations, they’ll send letters to
Steamboat Springs where theyother
are
allowed in select areas.
operators.

Enforcement in Canmore has been Enforcement is driv en by
difficult in the past because officals complaints
are required to prov e the illegal
use in order to proceed w ith
enforcement measures. Other
municipalities simply require the
operator to get a permit.
Canmore is the only municipality
that allow s a mix of v isitor
accommodation/tourist
home/residential uses in a single
building.

Aspen, CO
Vacation rental. The short term
occupancy of a residential
dw elling unit by the general public
for a fee. A v acation rental shall
not include the rental of indiv idual
rooms w ithin a residential dw elling
unit.

Basic fee is $1.08/sf inside
Enforcement isBMVA
largely
complaint-driven
with very
the
v illage core and
$0.27 outside
the v illage core w hich is
cumbersome daily
fees
determined
annually.(up
One timeto $1,000/day or more) for
entry fee is 2% or 1% of the
illegal units. Steamboat
is the only community that
proeprty v alue, insideSprings
the v illage
core and not, respectiv ely.
devotes a significant
portion
Members renting
w ithout rental of staff time to enforcement
are required to remint a
and regulationmanagers
of
permits/licenses.
2% royalty of gross rev enues to the

When applying for permit,
applicant must send letter to their
Home Ow ners Association
prov iding notice of application for
v acation rental permit

Property management companies
are major driv ers to keep and
maintain compliance. They collect
taxes and do all the administrativ e
w orks for rental property.

BMVA. I f the property uses a rental
manager, that royalty is 1%.
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Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Policy Comparison Table
Market
Analysis
There were no fully comprehensive Tourist Home policies that were effective in enforcement,
efficiency
and

Canmore, AB
Tourist Home means a dw elling unit
operated as a temporary place to
stay, w ith or w ithout compensation,
and includes all v acation rentals of
a dw elling unit. The Tourist Home
designation is a "use" based
designation that isflexible w here a
property can be rented out short
term as a quasi-commercial use or
liv ed in permanently as a
residence.

Tourist Home is a commercial use
w herein a dw elling unit is offered
for rent to guests for a period of 7
days or more, to a maximum of 28
days

Dev elopment Permit
Business License ($25 - $600
depending on residency & license
term)

(A) Dev elopment Permit - v alid for
2 years
$300 for new permit
$150 for renew al
(B) Business License

The Tow n of Canmore is currently
studying how to deal w ith illegal
Tourist Homes w ith the consultant
team and the Adv isory Group

Loophole - if you rent less than 7
days then do not need permit

Passed STA licensing Bylaw in
Nov .2013, had a requirement that
properties had to register by July
2014, how ev er due to low number
of ow ners registering they’v e
extended it to Dec. 2014

Primarily only allow ed in
commercial districts. Only three
residential areas can hav e Tourist
Homes.

Select Residential Districts
Select Mix Use Districts

STA is not permitted in a low density Select Residential Districts
residential zone. Only an existing
Select Tourist Accommodation
STA may continue to operate in a
Districts
low density residential zone in nonconformance.

Select Commercial Districts
Select Comprehensiv e
Dev elopment Districts

Tourist Home mill rate of 7.0724

Commercial mill rate of 10.042

Commercial rate of 0.0047926
I f STA ow ner/operator is a member
of Blue Mountain Village
Association is charge the Resort
Condominium Rate (same as
Residential) of 0.00366708

Ow ners are charged commercial
rate of 10.894 for the days they
rent out their property and
residential rate of 2.824 for the
remainder.

Cease Use Order may be issued
First offense - $500
Fine of $250.00
$2,500 fine for the first offence and Second offense - $1,000
$5,000 for subsequent offences.
Third of Subsequent offense - $2,000

Fines of $1,000 per day to the
property ow ner.

Enforcement in Canmore has been Enforcement is driv en by
difficult in the past because officals complaints
are required to prov e the illegal
use in order to proceed w ith
enforcement measures. Other
municipalities simply require the
operator to get a permit.

Using listing sites to find illegal
rentals and fining them

Find v iolations on a complaint basis, No enforcement
and if their inv estigation draw s
their attention to other obv ious
v iolations, they’ll send letters to
other operators.

Canmore is the only municipality
that allow s a mix of v isitor
accommodation/tourist
home/residential uses in a single
building.

BMVA Basic fee is $1.08/sf inside
the v illage core and $0.27 outside
the v illage core w hich is
determined annually. One time
entry fee is 2% or 1% of the
proeprty v alue, inside the v illage
core and not, respectiv ely.
Members renting w ithout rental
managers are required to remint a
2% royalty of gross rev enues to the
BMVA. I f the property uses a rental
manager, that royalty is 1%.

Penalties
Enforcement
Other Information

Policy Issues

Taxation

Areas Allowed

Issues

Permit/License

Definitions

Town

Tourist Accommodation
Definitions

3.1B Case Study Policy Analysis

I f Tourist Home ow ner completes
the declaration for personal use
then they are taxed at Residential
mill rate of 2.43939

Sylvan Lake, AB

Blue Mountain, ON

Whistler, BC

Kimberley, BC

Aspen, CO

Short Term Accommodation (STA) is
the "use of a building or structure or
any part thereof that operates or
offers a place of temporary
residence, lodging or occupancy
by w ay of concession, permit,
lease, license, rental agreement or
similar commercial arrangement for
any period less than 30
consecutiv e calendar days,
throughout all or any part of a
calendar
year.
STA License
- Valid for 2 years

Temporary Tourist Accommodation
means a building containing 1 or
more habitable rooms or dw elling
units that are used primarily for
temporary (a total of less than 4
consecutiv e w eeks) lodging by
v isitors

Tourist Accommodation means a
building or portions of a building
containing 1 or more habitable
rooms that are used for temporary
lodging by v isitors w here payment
for occupancy is on a daily or
w eekly basis

Vacation rental. The short term
occupancy of a residential
dw elling unit by the general public
for a fee. A v acation rental shall
not include the rental of indiv idual
rooms w ithin a residential dw elling
unit.

Nightly Rental – A structure,
dw elling or dw elling unit that is
rented for periods of time of
less than 30 consecutiv e days. The
term “Nightly rental” shall not
include hotel,
motel, or bed and breakfast
establishments.

Grand Lake, CO

Accommodation Unit. Means any
separately ow ned property w ith 1
or more sleeping units w hich are
not defined as a lodging
establishment and w hich is rented
for a period of less than 1 month
increments.

Mountain Village, CO

Vacation Home Rental (VHR) shall
mean the rental of a single-family
home or duplex to a single party of
related persons or un-related
persons know n to one another,
w ithout the Ow ner residing in the
single family home or duplex, for
periods of time not to exceed 29
consecutiv e days.

Steamboat Springs, CO

No Permits or licensing in place

No Permits or licensing in place

(A) Annual Vacation Rental Permit
$0 for new permit
$0 for renew al
(B) Business License

Annual Nightly Rental License
$400 for new permit + $150
application fee for properties
located in Commercial,
Commercial Transitional and
Residential zones.
$400 for renew
alimpact on
Concern
on the

Annual Business License
$165 for new permit + $22 per
sleeping room
$165 for renew al + $22 per sleeping
room

Annual Vacation Home Rental
License
$500 for new permit
$50/sleeping room for renew al

Most ow ners and property
management hav e been v ery
good at self-reporting

Established property management
companies w ill take care of the
licensing
taxes for a priv ate
All
zoned and
districts
Allow ed in all zones except
I ndustrial

Only single family homes and
tow nhouses are required to be
licensed. Secondary home ow ners
are the main renters and the tow n
has decided to not tax them.

Select Residential Districts
Select Mixed Use District

Purpose
of regulations
to license,
Select
Residential
Districts
Select Resort District
Select Commercial Districts
Select Mixed Use Districts

Residential rate of 5.2935

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

no specific penalty, but w ill be a
fine that is lesss than $2,650.00

Notified by certified mail to cease Minimum fine of $500.00 up to a
Fine of $1,000.00 for each day of
and desist all adv ertisements. After maximum fine of $1,000.00 for each operation w ithout a license.
10 day grace period, fine of up to day of a v iolation
$300 per day
Property being operated as a VHR
shall not be eligible for a VHR
License for 2 years after conv iction

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints

Enforcement is driv en by
complaints. Properties are rarely
fined.

Generally little to no enforcement. Must include VHR License number
in all adv ertising
Must include the business license
number for the subject property in Planning staff look at w eb listings
any and all adv ertisements for use daily, looking for VHR number
and/or rental of the property

Condos and priv ate homes make
up as much as 40 percent of
Aspen’s tourist bed base.

I f STR is located in residential zone,
during application process, tow n
staff w ill notify all neighbors w ithin
100’ of the property

Property Management, shall ensure
that each Short Term Rental obtains
a business license prior to renting
such Accommodation Unit

regulation. Rather, each community was faced with unique market demands and a policy was crafted with
strategic goals based on economics or protection. Blue Mountain and Steamboat Springs were noted to have
created the policy out of concern for the residents and existing residential areas in their communities.
Conversely, Aspen has adopted a laissez-faire approach to the regulation of their Vacation rentals. Kimberly, in
contrast to many of the other case studies, has yet to fully approach the issue of Tourist Homes, politically or
internally. Other communities had imperfect policies due to specific loop-holes in implementation.
$2,000 for new permit
$750 for renew al

I f TTA is the w rong zone is an illegal No specific regulations regarding
activ ity, how ev er it is not actually Short Term Rentals
against the bylaw to adv ertise the
unit

Successes of the program hav e
been inv olv ement of the PM
companies.

residential neighbourhoods

Generally fines and penalties were very heavy with some communities able to effect penalties in the tens of
thousands of dollars for non-compliance. During phone interviews with planning staff, many stated that the
heavy fines were a useful tool in encouraging compliance with virtually no instances of the fines being applied
to any non-conforming cases. However it should be noted that the interview planners worked within differing
policy contexts regarding short term rentals.
Steamboat Springs takes a proactive approach to policy and enforcement. They include a VHR license number
which is required, by policy, to be displayed on advertisements. They were also the only community to actively
police and enforce illegal rentals. From phone interviews, staff stated personnel are allocated to combing
through public listings of rentals on a daily basis against internal databases of registered and permitted rentals.

When applying for permit,
applicant must send letter to their
Home Ow ners Association
prov iding notice of application for
v acation rental permit

Property management companies
are major driv ers to keep and
maintain compliance. They collect
taxes and do all the administrativ e
w orks for rental property.
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3.2 Key Observations & Lessons: Phone Interview Points of Interest

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Market
Analysis
enforcement
system
with

Steamboat Springs has the only non-complaint driven
other communities relying on complaint-driven enforcement.
Fines and penalties are fairly severe but rarely applied.

Generally tourist accommodation is only allowed in specified areas or
“grandfathered in”.
Where permits or licences are applied terms are generally from 1 to 2 years.

Generally all bylaws/ordinances stipulate a 30 day time limit on rentals.
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3.2 Key Observations & Lessons: Phone Interview Points of Interest

US peer communities generally collect a lodging tax or the
to remit sales tax at the state, county or municipal level.

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Market
rentals
areAnalysis
required

Steamboat Springs does not consider condo hotels as part of the policy.
Compliance only applies to single family homes & townhouses.
Property management companies are major drivers of compliance, licensing
and awareness of policies.
Provincial & state-level assessments are used as the taxable amount with
additional taxes or fees levied where applicable.

Certain communities apply limits to the number of tourist accommodation units.

Responses have confirmed that the secondary home markets have driven the
number of tourist accommodation properties.
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3.2 Key Observations & Lessons
 Canmore and most of the peer communities require that

the owner or operator of a Tourist Home must obtain a
permit and/or license in order to operate a Tourist Home.
The two communities that were examined in BC do not
have a permitting system for Tourist Homes.



Although Canmore has restricted the use of Tourist
Homes to a variety of commercial districts (and three
residential districts) there are a few communities in
Colorado that allow the use of residences as
accommodation in the majority of their zoning districts.



The Town of Canmore has heavy penalties for the
operation of a Tourist Home without a valid permit,
however, the high fee has not prevented illegal rentals
from being advertised on listing websites and has been
very difficult to enforce within the current policy context.



In the majority of the peer communities the enforcement
of illegal rentals were mostly driven by complaints from
community members. However, there were a few
municipalities where staff took time to review listing
websites to find illegal rentals.



The Town of Canmore was not the only community to
charge a lower taxation rate for Tourist Homes as long as
certain conditions were met. In Blue Mountain, ON the
municipality had a unique taxation program: if the
owner/operator of the Tourist Home was a member of
the local business association they would be charged
the residential rate instead of the normal commercial
rate.

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
 There were a few communities in Market
Colorado that had
Analysis
unique
requirements
municipalities:

compared

to

Canadian



In Steamboat Springs and Mountain Village, all rental
advertisements of Tourist Homes must include the
permit/licenses number. This requirement has made it
easier for municipal staff to identify illegal rentals
during their review of listing websites.



In Grand Lake and Mountain Village, the person in
charge of managing the Tourist Home must live or
have a place of business within a certain distance of
the municipality. This requirement was passed to
ensure the quick and efficient response to
complaints from neighbours.



In Steamboat Springs, property management
companies must ensure each Tourist Home obtains a
license prior to renting out the property. This
requirement has led to the high rate of property
management companies self-reporting the Tourist
Homes that they manage as the responsibility for the
permit were passed to the operators.
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4.1 Summary of Observations and Opportunities
Supply inventory
Canmore’s accommodation supply is widely distributed
throughout the Town with no major clusters located in the
Town Centre. The main concentration of units is along
Bow Valley Trail and in planned communities with Condo
Hotels. The lack of accommodation units in the Town
Centre presents a unique mid- to long-term development
opportunity given the character and commercial offering
in Canmore’s Town Centre.

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Market Analysis

Following the accommodation inventorying of selected
communities,
the
different
compositions
of
accommodation supply can be attributed to influences
from different tourist markets, town positions and Tourist
Home policies. The accommodation supply of Canmore is
not significantly weighted towards one category of
accommodation. Condo Hotels and Single-Owner Hotels
account for the majority of accommodation supply in
Canmore, and in all peer communities. Rental of Private
Dwellings did not account for a major portion of the
overall accommodation supply anywhere, with the
exception of Aspen.
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Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Enforcement in peer communities
Residential
The comparative policy analysis of mountain communities in North America indicates that Canmore isMarket
unique Analysis
in its Tourist

4.1 Summary of Observations and Opportunities

Home policy framework but is not unique in the policy challenges it faces. Like many mountain communities across
Canada, Canmore is increasingly troubled by the conflicting demands of the tourist industry, the accommodation market,
and community residents.

Enforcement will be a significant factor in the successful implementation of any Tourist Home policy. The Town of Kimberly
for instance is unable to document, police or enforce the policies it has instated. Steamboat Springs has been successful in
utilizing its resources to effectively police the informal accommodation market via scheduled reviews of listing website and
a well-maintained permit system and database. It is highly recommended that enforcement be improved to ensure
compliance. Many interviewed planners state the necessity of enforcement in cooperation with property management
companies. It was found that the cost of enforcement could vary from merely the cost of existing staff time, as in the case
of Steamboat Springs, to the creation of a full time position, as in the case of Blue Mountain. The latter reports that
enforcement cost $180,000 in the first year (for staff and equipment) and $143,000 for every year thereafter.
Permitting and issuing licenses for Tourist Home rental is a key step in implementing changes to Canmore’s Tourist Home
policy. An effective and well-maintained system allows for the tracking of Tourist Homes and provides Town staff with the
ability to identify the ebbs and flows in the accommodation market (especially when combined with permitting data and
assessment rolls). The issuance of permits and licenses should include requirements such as the listing of permit numbers on
advertisements, 24-hour contact information, and associated building safety plans and liability coverage. It is also best
practice to retain the current 30 day time limit on visitor accommodation to avoid flooding the rental residential market with
hotel units that are being used as rental housing. This recommendation is motivated by caution in the face of uncertainty;
to better understand the impact on the residential market of removing the time limit, a residential study would be required.
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Edmonton –
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Infill
lower residential rate. This unique approach
makes
use of a
Residential
provincial policy rather than a municipal levy or license.
Market Analysis

4.1 Summary of Observations and Opportunities
Taxation policy
The table below is an overview of the property tax rates of
residential, commercial, and tourist home properties in
Canmore and five peer communities in British Columbia,
Alberta, and Ontario. Only Canmore has a separate Tourist
Home tax rate.
In British Columbia, municipalities can apply day-specific
assessments to properties with uses that vary over time, so it
is not necessary to apply a separate Tourist Homes mill rate,
in contrast to the Alberta communities.
In Blue Mountain, membership in the Blue Mountain Village
Foundation allows property owners to apply for
reassessment from the commercial mill rate to the much
2014 Rates

Sylvan Lake applies the commercial mill rate to Tourist
Homes but Canmore’s separate Tourist Home mill rate is not
very much higher or lower than the residential and
commercial mill rates and can be considered fairly
representative of communities in Alberta.
Many of the communities researched during the policy
analysis do not apply separate Tourist Home mill rates.
Rather, a mixture of fees, hotel taxes, municipal project
funding in the case of Colorado, and commercial or
residential rates were applied.

Mill Rates Analysis
Tourist Home
Implementation
(non-residential)

Residential

Commercial

Canmore, AB

Specific Tourist Home rate

7.07424

2.43939

8.55629

Sylv an Lake, AB

Commercial rate is applied

N/A

5.449

10.024

Blue Mountain, ON

Residential rate is applied if BMVA
member, if not, commercial rate

N/A

3.66708

4.79265

Whistler, BC

Commercial rate applied on days
rented out

N/A

2.824

10.894

Kimberley, BC

Commercial rate is applied on
days rented out

N/A

5.2935

21.2272

*rates used in this analysis are exclusiv e of other additional lev ys (schools, BVRH, county, etc)
**Rates for tourist homes are shown abov e when applicable, other listed as N/A
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4.2 Strategy Analysis
As part of the consulting process, the consulting team
reviewed several potential policy strategies based on
differing demand forecasts and policy iterations.

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Market Analysis

Analysis of potential changes to the Tourist Home land use
and taxation policies was conducted in part through the
lens of market impact, in particular the minimization of
adverse impacts to the residential market. As such, a set of
strategy scenarios have been analyzed in this section in
order to provide an understanding of how various policy
directions may influence the market.
It should be noted that any changes to the property tax
policies or land use policies relating to accommodation are
very likely to have some general impacts on the residential
property market. For example, removing time limits on hotel
visits will likely impact the rental residential market.
However, to better understand the specifics and
magnitudes of these impacts a residential market study
would be required.
The following section will utilize an analysis of strengths and
weaknesses to examine the possible outcomes of a number
of policy scenarios. Following from this are a series of
recommendations which seek to provide options and
strategies that are applicable within the Town of Canmore’s
legislative framework.

Source: tourismcanmore.com
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4.2 Strategy Analysis
Following discussions with Town Staff, a number of policy
strategies were developed, each with unique advantages
and disadvantages. This section presents these strategies,
followed by an analysis of each strategy’s strengths and
weaknesses. These strategies are not mutually exclusive.
Based on the Town’s goals, these strategies could be
combined or implemented individually. It’s important to
note that the consultant team is not recommending any of
these policy directions in particular. Rather, this section
compares the strategies in terms of their strengths and
weaknesses.
Section
4.3
presents
the
team’s
recommendations.

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Regulatory Strategies
Residential
C. ‘Market Forces’: Regulation of the
accommodation
Market
Analysis

market is relaxed by eliminating the current visitor time
limit of 30 days, allowing owners to rent out units without
restriction. This blurs the distinction between commercial
accommodation and tourist homes.

D. Business

License for Tourist Home Rentals: A business
licensing program for rented Tourist Homes that is
introduced. This aids monitoring and enforcement,
provides funds for the Town, and permits the adjustment
of incentives in the future.

Taxation Strategies

Land Use strategies

A. Commercial

E.

Land use simplification: The zoning system will be
simplified by preventing all future properties from mixing
Condo Hotel and Tourist Home designations.

F.

Tourist Homes as Commercial Use (Status Quo): There will
be no approvals of Tourist Homes in most residential
districts; approvals of Tourist Homes will occur in select
commercial, mixed use, and resort zones or those
identified as appropriate for hotels.

tax rate for Tourist Homes: Tax equality in
the accommodation market is achieved by eliminating
the Declaration of Residential Use and applying the
commercial tax rate to all Tourist Homes, bringing them
in line with hotels. This has the potential to simplify tax
administration and increase the Town’s tax revenue.

B. Residential

tax rate for Tourist Homes: Tax equality in the
residential market is achieved by applying the residential
tax rate to all Tourist Homes. This has the potential to
simplify tax administration and increase Tourist Home
property values.

G.Tourist

Homes as Residential Use: In this strategy, future
Tourist Homes are permitted in a variety of residential
areas.

H. ‘Kananaskis

Way Switch’: In this strategy, Kananaskis
Way is chosen as the approved area for future Tourist
Home development and Bow Valley Trail is preserved for
a commercial accommodation rather than Tourist
Homes.
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Strategy A – Commercial Tax Rate for Tourist Homes: This strategy consists of eliminating the Residential Residential
Use Declaration and
applying the commercial tax rate to all Tourist Homes.
Market Analysis

4.2 Strategy Analysis – Taxation Strategies

Strengths
• Application of the commercial mill rate to Tourist Homes would
create taxation equality among the accommodation supply.
• By eliminating the special Tourist Home mill rate and
Declaration of Residential Use, this strategy would simplify the
administration of the tax system.
• The higher mill rate applied to more units would mean
additional tax revenue for the Town.

Weaknesses
• Increasing the property tax rate may have a negative impact
on the real estate market due to the added financial burden
on owners.
• This policy direction is likely to be perceived as unfair to Tourist
Home owners who have declared the properties as their
primary residences as they are likely to lose value in their
homes.
• Without the benefit of a lower mill rate, the development
community may see decreased demand for Tourist Homes in
the Canmore market.
• Due to the loss in value of affected units, owners of those units
might not be incentivized to maintain the properties.
• The application of a higher mill rate without other changes
may reduce the frequency of foreign investment in Tourist
Homes.

Strategy B – Residential Tax Rate for Tourist Homes: This strategy consists of eliminating the Residential Use Declaration and
applying the residential tax rate to all Tourist Homes.
Strengths
• Application of the residential mill rate to Tourist Homes would
create taxation equality in the residential market.
• By eliminating the special Tourist Home mill rate and
Declaration of Residential Use, this strategy would simplify the
administration of the tax system.
• The lower mill rate for Tourist Homes might increase their value.

Weaknesses
• Without a complementary policy to balance the tax burden
between rental Tourist Homes and hotels, lowering the tax rate
of the former will aggravate the problem of tax inequality
between the two types of accommodation units.
• Lowering the tax rate for Tourist Homes would decrease
municipal revenue.
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Strategy C – ‘Market Forces’: This strategy consists of removing the current maximum hotel rental periodResidential
of 30 days, allowing
owners to rent out units without restriction.
Market Analysis

4.2 Strategy Analysis – Regulatory Strategies

Strengths
• Administratively there would be less cumbersome policy
enforcement and planning issues as the process for regulating
hotels is simplified.
• Allowing the market to determine the use of commercial
accommodation units would allow owners to maximize
economic benefits.
• The removal of the time limit may cause an increase in the
hotel occupancy rate, which could hasten the development
of new hotels.
• Condo hotels would become flexible multi-use units which
would make them more attractive to buyers and increase their
value.
• A rent drop may occur for all rental housing due to increased
rental supply, which would have a positive impact on renters
and affordability.

Weaknesses
• The removal of the hotel visitor time limit may cause some hotel
units to be used as long-term rental residential units. This would
effectively increase the supply of rental housing in Canmore.
Such a rapid influx could be economically disruptive.
• Removing market restrictions increases the fluidity of the
accommodation supply market, which renders the Town more
vulnerable to shocks from macroeconomic recessions such as
those of recent years.
• An increase in demand for hotel units from residential renters
could lead to a short-term commercial accommodation
shortage, which could have a detrimental effect on the rest of
Canmore’s tourism industry.
• If hotel units are used residentially, this could lead to logistic
problems since the surrounding neighbourhood might not
contain sufficient residential amenities, such as parking.
• A price drop may occur for all rental housing due to increased
rental supply, which would have a negative impact on
landlords.

Strategy D – Business License for Tourist Home Rentals: This strategy consists of creating a licensing program for rented Tourist
Homes
Strengths
• License fees would generate additional revenue and provide a
policy lever to adjust incentives as needed.
• Regulated Tourist Homes would provide the Town with
substantially higher control over the market.
• Licensing would encourage owners to register their rentals as
official Tourist Homes, which would improve the quality of the
Town’s data and allow better market insights and policy
potential in the future

Weaknesses
• Alberta’s Municipal Government Act currently prohibits
business licenses that tax revenue or property value. As such, it
would be difficult to design a licensing fee structure that
created tax equality between rental Tourist Homes and hotels.
• As such, implementing this strategy would first require Canmore
to lobby the Provincial Government to amend the Act.
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Strategy E – ‘Land Use Simplification’: This strategy consists of prohibiting the mixing of Tourist Homes and
Condo Hotels in all
Residential
future developments.
Market Analysis

4.2 Strategy Analysis – Land Use Strategies

Strengths
• This strategy would simplify the land use zoning framework; not
allowing future approvals of buildings with multiple uses would
prevent further enforcement complications and assist in the
tracking of accommodation.
• This strategy is compatible with nearly any other strategy, and
complements most policy directions that the Town might want
to take.

Weaknesses
• Even if the mixing of hotel and Tourist Home uses was
prevented in all future buildings, existing mixed buildings could
not be forced to conform to the new policy. So the best this
strategy could accomplish would be to prevent the problem
from getting worse. Entirely eliminating the confusion and
awkwardness of the current framework is impossible.

Strategy F – Tourist Homes as Commercial Use This strategy consists of limiting all Tourist Homes to commercial, mixed use, and
resort zones. It is essentially a “status quo” option.
Strengths
• Allowing future approvals in select areas identified as suitable
for accommodation (including both Tourist Homes and Hotels)
would allow for more control through a quantitative, databased approach.
• As this strategy resembles the status quo, it would continue to
maintain the character and function of the existing residential
neighbourhoods.
• As a result of this policy direction, the Town could initiate a
process of proactively identifying areas suitable for Hotels and
Tourist Homes. This would provide new opportunities for
stakeholder input.
• Ensuring that Commercial Accommodation continues to
develop in commercial , mixed use and resort areas would
keep them away from residential uses, which some perceive as
less compatible.
• By not allowing Tourist Homes in residential areas, Commercial
Accommodation in existing commercial districts may be
strengthened.

Weaknesses
• The current policy of prohibiting Tourist Homes in residential
areas may encourage non-compliance.
• The current policy of prohibiting Tourist Homes in residential
areas may be limiting development and land values
throughout Canmore.
• The current policy of prohibiting Tourist Homes in residential
areas may limit the utility and freedom of property owners.
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Strategy G – Tourist Homes as Residential Use: This strategy consists of limiting all Tourist Homes to residential
zones.
Residential
Market Analysis

4.2 Strategy Analysis – Land Use Strategies

Strengths
• Legalizing Tourist Homes in residential areas would help to
prevent future illegal rentals, and encourage existing illegal
rentals to comply with the new regulations.
• Permitting Tourist Homes in residential zones may have positive
impacts on residential home values.

Weaknesses
• An influx of Tourist Homes may cause friction between residents
and users.
• The introduction of Tourist Homes to residential neighbourhoods
could possibly change the character of a residential
neighbourhood to a more commercial environment.
• Allowing Tourist Homes in residential areas may have negative
impacts on the value of those homes.

Strategy H – ‘Kananaskis Way Switch’: This strategy consists of limiting all future Tourist Homes to Kananaskis Way, and focusing
hotel development on Bow Valley Trail.
Strengths
• Switching Kananaskis Way to a unified district of Tourist Homes
could create a cluster with the “critical mass” required to
centralize activities and related businesses in one area.
• The clustering of Tourist Homes in Kananaskis Way could
become a defining characteristic for the neighbourhood, just
as Bow Valley Trail could become defined as the hotel district.
• An opportunity exists for the Town to use the centralization of
Tourist Homes to create a more effective enforcement and
policing strategy.
• Limiting hotel uses to Bow Valley Trail creates more vibrancy
and increases the supply of accommodation in that key area.

Weaknesses
• The clustering of Tourist Homes may have a negative impact on
the traditional hotel market and may be overly competitive
with the accommodation supply on Bow Valley Trail.
• Owners of Condo Hotel or Residential units within buildings that
do switch over to the Tourist Home designation may potentially
pay higher tax rates (assuming that this strategy is combined
with Strategy B, Policy Simplification).
• Having Tourist Homes only on Kananaskis Way may encourage
an increase in illegal rentals in other residential areas due to
unmet demand for Tourist Homes elsewhere.
• The concentration of hotels along Bow Valley Trail may not be
conducive to a suitable long-term physical form for the area.
• Kananaskis Way is not currently set up for residential uses; it has
insufficient parking, parks, and playgrounds.
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Canmore, AB

Tourist Accommodation Definitions

Tourist Home means a dwelling unit operated as a temporary place to
stay, with or without compensation, and includes all v acation rentals
of a dwelling unit. The Tourist Home designation is a flexible use-based
category where a property can be rented out short term as a quasicommercial use or liv ed in permanently as a residence.

Taxation
Penalties
Enforcement
Other Information

Policy Issues

Areas
Allowed

Issues

Permit/License

Definitions

3.1 Existing Policy Overview

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Taxation fairness was a point of concern for many members of the Advisory Committee.
Residential
The difference in rates between accommodation unit types has led to well-intentioned
Analysis
but reactive policy initiatives that created the unique policy Market
context in
the Town of
Canmore today.

Canmore’s current Tourist Home policy differentiates the use of specific units within a
larger development/building. This creates the unique situation of identical units within
the same condominium being taxed at different rates on the basis of differences in use.
Dev elopment Permit
Business License ($25 - $600 depending on residency & license term)

The Town of Canmore is currently studying how to deal with illegal
Tourist Homes with the consultant team and the Adv isory Group
Primarily only allowed in commercial districts. Only three residential
areas can hav e Tourist Homes.

The vast majority of Tourist Homes in Canmore are found in Commercial districts, and in
apartment-style buildings. Only three residential districts in Canmore permit Tourist
Homes.
The current mill rate applicable to the Tourist Home category is 7.0724, but the
Residential mill rate is only 2.43939. These rates and others are shown in the table below.
Taxation Rates for 2014

Tourist Home mill rate of 7.0724

2014-13 Rate of Taxation Bylaw

If Tourist Home is used only for personal use then they are taxed at
Residential mill rate of 2.43939

Source: canmore.ca/Municipal-Services/Property-Tax/Tax-Rate-Information.html

Residential

Cease Use Order may be issued
$2,500 fine for the first offence and $5,000 for subsequent offences.

Non Residential

Tourist Home

Vacant Serviced Land

Municipal

2.43939 Municipal

8.55629

Municipal

7.07424 Municipal

2.43939

Enforcement in Canmore has been difficult in the past because
officials are required to prov e the illegal use in order to proceed with
enforcement measures. Other municipalities simply require the
operator to get a permit.

School Support

2.51782 School Support

3.81184

School Support

2.51782 School Support

2.51782

BVRH*

0.15253 BVRH*

0.15253

BVRH*

0.15253 BVRH*

0.15253

Canmore is the only municipality that allows a mix of hotel, tourist
home, and residential uses in a single building.

PAH**

0.05724 PAH

0.33535

PAH

0.05724 PAH

0.05724

Total

Mill Rate

5.167

*Bow Valley Regional Housing

Total

Mill Rate 12.85601 Total

Mill Rate 9.80183 Total

Mill Rate 5.16698

**Perpetualy Affordable Housing

The Application for ‘Tourist Home – Personal Use’ declaration allows Tourist Home owners
to have their property tax rates changed to the much lower residential mill rate.
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4.3 Policy Recommendations
Taxation









According to the 2014 rates available on the Town of
Canmore website, the commercial mill rate is 8.55632. This is
1.48205 higher than the listed Tourist Home mill rate of
7.0742.
The application of the commercial mill rate to Tourist Homes
was noted to be a common policy step chosen by the
case study communities. Canmore was the only community
with a separate Tourist Home mill rate. It should be noted
that many of the comparison communities define Tourist
Homes as commercial operations. The application of more
impactful provincial legislation in order to utilize a
commercial rate may be beneficial in terms of taxation.

Edmonton –
 This approach would streamline theEvolving
taxation Infill
framework
Residential
and eliminate the need for a ‘declaration’
of personal use
to access the residential mill rate, removing
a layer of
Market Analysis
administrative complexity. It would also create effective
taxation fairness. The application of the residential mill rates
policy recommendation is an a policy approach that as
not discussed as part of the strategies. The consulting team
is recommending this as part of a more efficient
administrative process.



The consulting team understands that the Municipal
Government Act currently prohibits municipalities from
using business licenses for general revenue, and also
prohibits new development permits on existing buildings. As
long as these limitations are in place, this recommendation
is impossible to implement. However, we recommend
that the Town lobby the provincial government to
empower municipalities to take more control of their
taxation structures, giving Canmore the tools to solve these
issues.



Given that Tourist Homes make up only about 10% of
commercial accommodation units, switching to the
residential mill rate would not directly impact a significant
proportion of properties at present. The significance of this
change will depend on the number of Tourist Homes that
are permitted in the future and may increase in
significance if the supply of Tourist Homes grows.



Note that enforcement will be a key issue for any altered
taxation policies as illegal rentals of Tourist Homes may
continue regardless of changes to this taxation policy and
permitting / licensing policy.

With regard to altering the taxation of Tourist Homes,
decisions may be taken through a weighing of three policy
objectives:

1.

Ensuring taxation fairness between properties of similar
use;

2.
3.

Improving administrative simplicity for Town officials;
Avoiding negative impacts on the residential market.

One way that all of the above objectives could
conceivably be met is through a Tourist Home taxation
policy that: (1) applies the residential mill rate to all Tourist
Homes regardless of whether they are used as primary
residences or commercial accommodation, and (2) uses
business license on Tourist Homes operating as commercial
accommodation units to bridge gaps in taxation equality.
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Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Licenses
Residential
 A comprehensive licensing process should be enacted as soon as it is legislatively possible in order
to bring actual
Market
Analysis

4.3 Policy Recommendations

accommodation practices in line with the Zoning Bylaw.



It is recommended that a specific Tourist Home business license be created for the administration of Tourist Homes. The
consulting team recommends that Tourist Home owners be required to acquire the license if they rent out their Tourist
Homes on a short-term basis. Putting this choice in the hands of owners creates tax equality by making residential Tourist
Homes equivalent to other residential properties, and making short-term rental tourist homes equivalent to other
commercial accommodation by applying a license fee to make up the difference between the two tax rates. Although
this is currently impossible within the Municipal Government Act, the Town should push to have this limitation removed.



Conditions should be included in the policy requiring applicants for the Tourist Home permits to satisfy the following
conditions:





The business license number must be displayed on all accommodation advertisements and placed visibly on the
property with appropriate contact information







Licensed homes will be placed on a publicly available database hosted on the Town of Canmore’s website
Applicants must provide 24-hour contact information for all licensed homes
All Property Managers and Companies must ensure that the property is fully licensed
All properties must comply with applicable noise and public health bylaws and requirements
The application process should include items similar to those found in the development permitting process.

In the peer community of Blue Mountain, Tourist Home operators are charged the residential property tax rate rather than
the commercial rate if they are members of the local BIA. The benefits include marketing & an online presence, general
public infrastructure maintenance and opportunities for property tax reassessments (Ontario specific). Although Canmore
cannot change the residential mill rate selectively, the Town should consider giving Tourist Home operators a license fee
reduction in exchange for membership in Canmore Business and Tourism (CBT). In exchange for the fee, CBT can do more
to educate Tourist Home owner/operators and promote legal Tourist Homes. The differences in the impact of this
education, in comparison to an approach through local property management companies, can be viewed as a
centralization of marketing, promotions and education with one organization. The benefits of both approaches cannot
be accurately gauged. Other than Blue Mountain, comparison communities used management companies primarily.
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4.3 Policy Recommendations
Land Use



Moving forward, it is recommended that the Town not
approve Tourist Homes in the same building or structure
as condo hotels.



However, it will be necessary to allow existing Tourist
Homes to continue operation, even in non-conforming
zones. This is called “grandfathering”.



On new properties, the Tourist Home designation should
be applied to entire buildings. This would ensure that
entire buildings will be uniform in use without differing tax
rates and may simplify enforcement in the future.



The Town of Canmore should give further consideration
and study to the permitting of Tourist Homes in low
density residential zoning districts (R1, R1A, R1B, R1B-E,
R1B-SC, R1B-W, R1N, R1S, R2, etc.) with a distance buffer
in place between other Tourist Homes. For example, Blue
Mountain currently uses a buffer of 120 metres between
Tourist Homes.



The Town should also give further consideration to
permitting Tourist Homes as a discretionary use in all land
use districts (except industrial) with the provision that the
entire building or structure be zoned as a Tourist Home
with accompanying bylaw requirements.

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Market Analysis

Source: www.canmorealberta.com
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4.3 Policy Recommendations
Enforcement

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
 Current penalties and fines for illegalMarket
Tourist Homes and
Analysis



The Town of Canmore needs to commit time and
resources in order to fully police or enforce the Tourist
Home policy.



Enforcement may require staff time spent maintaining
the business license database and checking against
listing websites.





A series of escalating enforcement steps should be
designed to encourage compliance, starting with letters
and notices from the Town.

There
must
be
follow-through
and
effective
implementation of the enforcement and collection of
the penalties and fines.





Penalties and fines can be waived during the
application “grace period” and heavily discounted
during the first year of enforcement to ensure
compliance with changes to the policy. The fees would
be applied at full price thereafter.

Many peer communities noted that compliance with
regulation was greatly aided through cooperation
between
municipal
staff
and
local
property
management companies and developers.

non-compliance are priced appropriately, but should
always far exceed the cost of business license fees to
encourage compliance.
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Edmonton –
Evolving
Infill Team
Following the completion of the data collection, demand model exercise and policy analysis, the
Consultant
Residential
concludes that the existing policy framework should be adjusted to reflect current and future market conditions
in the Town
Analysis
of Canmore. Illegal rentals were not found to be a major factor. The current implementation of the Market
Tourist Home
policy

4.3 Policy Recommendations

does however create administrative inefficiencies that are not conducive to the long range planning of commercial
accommodation development in the Town.

From a market perspective, illegal rentals account for only about 2% of accommodation supply and the accommodation
market is not anticipated to be affected by them in the foreseeable future, although further investigation in the summer
might shore up this conclusion.
The recommendations of the Consultant Team for the Town of Canmore are:

1) To ensure that in the future, Tourist Homes are approved as whole buildings, rather than mixing hotel units and
Tourist Homes within buildings;

2) To apply the residential property tax mill rate to all Tourist Homes and eliminate the Application for Personal Use;
3) To lobby the Provincial Government to empower the Town to implement a system of business licenses for Tourist
Home rentals, with fee rates calibrated annually to create effective taxation equality between all commercial
accommodation types;

4) To require Tourist Home business license numbers to appear on accommodation listings and physically on the
properties;

5) To retain the existing time limits on accommodation rental periods;
6) To create a plan for effective enforcement;
7) To give further consideration to permitting Tourist Homes in residential districts and more widely across
commercial districts;

8) To perform an analysis of Canmore’s residential market to better understand its relationship to accommodation
and how changes to one market will impact the other.
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5.0 Commercial Accommodation Survey Results


The Commercial Accommodation Survey was
intended to provide a baseline of current, relevant,
Canmore-specific data that would inform this study’s
numerous analyses. It was designed in collaboration
with Town staff and the Advisory Board, and
distributed to hotel owners and managers with their
help.



It garnered responses from 16 respondents, and
covered 25 properties.



Within
those
properties,
it
covered
708
accommodation units, which makes up 25% of the
market’s 2,791 units. The 708 units fall into the
following categories:



120 single-owner hotel units (10% of Canmore’s
1190)




577 condo hotel units (48% of Canmore’s 1190)

Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
Residential
Market Analysis

11 Tourist Homes (4% of Canmore’s 290)
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5.0 Commercial Accommodation Survey Results






One of this project’s goals was to understand not only
the number of accommodation units in Canmore, but
also to estimate the number of bedrooms that were
available in the Town in 2014. Data from the Survey
allows us to answer this question, roughly.
The average number of bedrooms per unit was 1.17 for
Single Owner hotels and 1.52 for Condo Hotels.
Applying these averages to the total number of hotel
units in Canmore (1190 single-owner units and 1190
condo hotel units) produces an estimated 3,201 hotel
bedrooms in Canmore in 2014.
Adding to this estimate the known 61 hostel beds plus
the 290 non-residential Tourist Home units, 50 bed &
breakfast units, and 61 private dwellings for rent, all
with an estimated average bedroom count of 1.5
yields a total count of 3,864 accommodation
bedrooms in Canmore in 2014.

Edmonton –
Bedrooms per unit
Evolving Infill

Residential
Market Analysis

1.60

1.40

1.20

1.00

0.80

0.60

1.52
1.17

0.40

0.20

0.00
Single-owner hotel

Condo hotel
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5.0 Commercial Accommodation Survey Results
 Applying similar reasoning we can also estimate the 4.50
number of visitors to Canmore in 2014. The total
estimated unit nights by category in 2014 were as
follows:











3.50
3.00

257,000 condo hotel unit nights

2.50

53,500 Tourist Home unit nights

2.00

1.00
0.50

1,643 hostel unit nights

0.00

As for the length of trips, the survey indicated that
visitors spent an average of 2.82 nights in single-owner
hotels, and 2.61 nights in condo hotels, although like
the total visitor estimate, this number does not include
condo hotel owners. Combining these totals and
assuming that visitors to other accommodation
categories spent an average of 2.72 nights in Canmore
yields an estimated total of 662,000 visitor-trips to
Canmore in 2014, not including visitor owners.

3.82

1.50

6,318 rental nights in private dwellings

The average party size in single-owner hotels was 2.38.
The average party size in condo hotels was 3.82.
Estimating that the average party size for other
categories falls between these two, at 3.0, and
assuming that each visiting party occupies exactly one
rentable unit, these numbers yield a total estimate of
1,779,000 visitor-nights in Canmore in 2014. However,
since this estimate does not include condo hotel
owners, the actual number is probably higher.

Evolving Infill
Residential
Market Analysis

4.00

248,000 single-owner hotel unit nights

8,213 bed & breakfast unit nights

Edmonton –
Average party size

2.38

Single-owner hotel

Condo hotel

Average trip length
3.00
2.50
2.00
1.50

2.82

2.61

1.00
0.50
0.00
Single-owner hotel

Condo hotel
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5.0 Commercial Accommodation Survey Results


In addition to the data reported above, the Survey also
captured some information on the price of hotel
accommodation, differentiated by category.



The average daily unit rate (ADR) for single owner
hotels in Canmore in 2014 was $130, while the ADR for
condo hotels was $179.



The higher price of condo hotel units is likely due their
larger size and more recent construction. This finding is
compatible with the finding that parties staying in
condo hotels are usually larger, and stay for less time.

Edmonton –
Annual daily revenue
Evolving Infill

Residential
Market Analysis
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$80

$60

$130
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$Single-owner hotel

Condo hotel
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Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
 In addition to the quantitative data presented above, the Survey also contained a number of opinion
questions designed
Residential
to capture the perspective of Canmore’s hotelier community.
Market Analysis

5.0 Commercial Accommodation Survey Results



The first question is “How important is each factor to Canmore's tourism market?” The question provides ten factors, each of
which is evaluated on a 4-point Likert scale, with higher scores representing more perceived importance. The results are
pictured below.



All of the factors listed were ranked predominantly as either "very important" or "important". All of these factors appear to
matter. However, there was some variation. The most important factors, according to the respondents, were: outdoor
recreation, leisure attractions, and availability of accommodation. The least important factors were: shopping, cultural
events, and attractiveness of buildings and streets

Question 1: Average response
4.50
4.00
3.50
3.00
2.50
2.00
1.50
1.00
0.50
0.00
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5.0 Commercial Accommodation Survey Results


Question 2 is “In your experience, how has the
commercial accommodation industry in Canmore
changed in the last 5-10 years?” The question is
open-ended.



There were a number of responses, but only two
responses appeared multiple times:




–
Question 3: Room forEdmonton
growth?
Evolving Infill

Residential
Market Analysis

1. Greater use of online tools (3 mentions)
2. Increase in illegal rentals (2 mentions)



Question 3 is the yes-or-no item “Do you think there
is room for further growth in average annual
overnight visits in Canmore in the next 5-10 years?”



11 respondents said “yes”, 4 indicated that they
had no opinion or were unsure. Not a single
respondent said “no”.

4

Yes

Unsure/No
Opinion

11

No
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Edmonton –
Evolving Infill
 Question 4 provided Survey respondents with the opportunity to communicate their vision “WhatResidential
type of commercial
accommodation should be provided, and where?” Respondents filled in a matrix of locations and accommodation types,
Market Analysis
responding to each combination of location and type with a “yes” or “no”.

5.0 Commercial Accommodation Survey Results



The following table shows how many of the Survey’s 16 respondents approved of each category of accommodation in
each location. The bottom-most row shows approval levels of the accommodation types anywhere in Canmore, and the
right-most column shows approval levels of accommodation in each neighbourhood, overall.



The most popular option for expansion is rental of private dwellings in Three Sisters. The least popular options are hostels in
Silvertip, and condo hotels in the Town Centre. 13 out of 16 respondents approved of accommodation somewhere.

Three Sisters
Bow Valley Trail and Kananaskis Way
Silvertip
Spring Creek Mountain Village
Paliser Trail
Town Centre

Generally

Single-owner hotel

Condo hotel

Rental of Private
Dwellings

Bed & Breakfast

Hostel

Generally

5

4

8

4

1

11

7

5

6

1

5

10

6

3

6

4

0

10

6

4

6

2

1

10

3

1

6

2

2

7

1

0

5

5

4

7

9

8

8

6

6

13
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Edmonton –
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 Question 5 is “How important is each method in attracting patrons to your establishment?” The question
provides nine
Residential
methods, each of which is evaluated on a 3-point Likert scale, with higher scores representing more perceived
Market Analysis
importance. The results are pictured below.

5.0 Commercial Accommodation Survey Results



Word of mouth is considered the most effective method, but beyond that internet dominates. Traditional print and
television advertising is not considered effective.

Question 5: Average response
3.00

2.50

2.00

1.50

1.00

0.50

0.00
Word of mouth

Internet
advertising

Search engine
hits

Listing websites

Destination
marketing

Drive-by traffic

Trade Shows

Print advertising

Television
advertising
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Request for Decision
DATE OF MEETING:

April 21, 2015

Agenda #: H-6

TO:

Council

SUBJECT:

Working Together Collaborative ASP Process

SUBMITTED BY:

Tracy Woitenko, Development Planner

RECOMMENDATION:

That Council direct Administration to proceed in accordance with the
Collaborative ASP Working Together Guideline for the preparation of an
ASP for the Smith Creek area (Sites 7, 8 & 9 in Three Sisters)
That Council appoint ___________ to be the Council representative on the
Community Advisory Group.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
A fresh approach! Administration and Quantum Place Developments (QPD) representing Three Sisters
Mountain Village Properties Ltd. (TSMV) envision a new, more consultative process for creating an Area
Structure Plan (ASP) for the Smith Creek area of TSMV (Sites 7, 8 & 9). The collaborative process will
involve a more transparent process of working together with the community, Administration, the Province
and the land owner to resolve issues in the planning for future development of these lands.
PREVIOUS COUNCIL DIRECTION OR POLICY
The 1992 NRCB approval of the Three Sisters application provided approval in concept of the Three Sisters
development, but detailed planning is required to go through the municipal approval process. Council and
TSMV entered into the 1998 Settlement Agreement and the resulting Bylaw DC 1-98 (the Master Zoning
Bylaw) was subsequently approved for these lands. This Bylaw requires that an ASP be prepared for sites 7, 8
& 9 prior to any subdivision or development approvals on the sites. Attachment 1 shows the areas covered by
Sites 7, 8 & 9 containing approximately 286 hectares of land.
DISCUSSION
It is TSMV’s intent to seek Council approval for the Smith Creek ASP on Sites 7, 8 & 9 in an attempt to
resolve outstanding issues and uncertainties on TSMV land, and to be able to move forward with
development in a mutually beneficial manner. This collaborative ASP approach is being proposed due to the
fatigue and inefficiencies in past attempts at preparing a new ASP for these sites. The attached Working
Together Guideline (Attachment 2) outlines a new process to create an ASP which provides opportunity to
resolve these issues and uncertainties. The collaborative process allows the Town and the community to be
involved at earlier stages in the ASP process, to gain a better understanding of all parties’ interests, and to
work towards mutually acceptable solutions.
As further explained in the Working Together Guideline, a Terms of Reference (TOR) will need to be
developed and approved by Council to define the scope of the collaborative ASP and identify required

Working Together Collaborative ASP
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studies. Although this is a step in a typical ASP process, it remains an important guideline to outline the range
of issues and the scope of evaluation to be covered through the process. It will become the evaluation against
which the final product is measured against for completeness; at the end of the process it is not reasonable to
add new issues to include in the ASP. Additionally it will provide the definition of the area covered by the
ASP.
The proposed collaborative process also requires that a Community Advisory Group (CAG) be formed to
help create the vision, develop public engagement and communication strategies, and provide input into the
plan. A draft TOR for the CAG is provided in Attachment 3. Members for the CAG will be sought through
public solicitation of applications using similar processes to other Town advisory groups. Final appointments
will be made collaboratively by Town administration and TSMV.
QPD and Administration recognize that one of the primary issues with development of the TSMV lands is
with regards to wildlife corridors. The NRCB decision granted authority to the Province to designate wildlife
corridors on TSMV lands, but also made functional corridors a condition of the development approval. The
Working Together Guideline respects this authority while attempting to address other issues related to
wildlife, namely human use and site/development design. Uncertainty around development adjacent to the
corridors has been an on-going unresolved issue with each application. As part of the proposed collaborative
process the Town will work with TSMV to prepare an Environmental Study that effectively addresses the
relevant concerns.
Collaborative ASP processes have been successful in other communities in Alberta, including Calgary, Airdrie
and Wood Buffalo. Administration and QPD believe that undertaking a new approach provides an
opportunity for a process that is community building and results in a more positive outcome.
ALTERNATIVES ANALYSIS
Council could direct Administration to request that TSMV prepare a Terms of Reference for a Smith Creek
ASP for Sites 7, 8 & 9 in a traditional planning process rather than the proposed collaborative ASP process.
Administration is recommending that the traditional ASP process—which has not recently resulted in a
successful resolution of issues between the landowner, the Town and the Canmore community—be avoided.
FINANCIAL IMPACTS
The application and all costs related to the collaborative process will be charged to TSMV on a cost recovery
basis.
Financial impacts of the proposed TSMV development concept will be further examined through the
collaborative ASP process.
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
Public engagement for the collaborative ASP process will be comprehensive and is outlined in the attached
Working Together document and draft TOR for the Community Advisory Group.
STRATEGIC ALIGNMENT
Goal #4: The Town of Canmore delivers effective and fiscally responsible services while valuing innovation.
Goal #8: Canmore’s natural environment remains viable for wildlife while providing opportunity for human
enjoyment.
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ATTACHMENTS
1) Key Location Plan and approximate area of ASP
2) Collaborative Smith Creek Area Structure Plan (TSMV Sites 7, 8 & 9): Working Together Guideline
3) Community Advisory Group: Draft Terms of Reference
AUTHORIZATION

Submitted by:

Tracy Woitenko, RPP, MCIP
Development Planner

Date:

April 2, 2015

Approved by:

Katherine Van Keimpema
Manager of Financial Services

Date:

n/a

Approved by:

Alaric Fish, MSc, MCIP
Manager of Planning and
Development

Date

April 8, 2015

Michael Fark
General Manager of Municipal
Infrastructure

Date:

April 16, 2015

Lisa de Soto, P.Eng.
Chief Administrative Officer

Date:

April 10, 2015

Approved by:

Approved by:

H-6 Attachment 1

Attachment 1 - Key Location Plan
Three Sisters Lands - Smith Creek Area is Site 7, 8, and 9

H-6 Attachment 1

Approximate area for Smith Creek ASP

H-6 Attachment 2

Collaborative Smith Creek Area Structure
Plan (ASP):
WORKING TOGETHER GUIDELINE

Respect your fellow human being, treat them fairly, disagree with them honestly, enjoy their friendship,
explore your thoughts about one another candidly, work together for a common goal and help one another
achieve it.
Bill Bradley
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Vision for a Collaborative Area Structure Plan (ASP)
To establish a collaborative process where the Canmore community, the Town of Canmore, and
Three Sisters Mountain Village (TSMV) are aligned in working towards resolving the planning of
for the Smith Creek area of the TSMV lands (Sites 7, 8 & 9). This collaborative process will
facilitate the creation of a policy document that is built upon the principles of working together
in order to find solutions and seek common ground. The result will be a transparent process
that is well communicated to the public by TSMV and the Town of Canmore.

Rationale
The Canmore community, TSMV, Town Council and administration all acknowledge a fatigue
with past planning processes on TSMV lands. An innovative approach is called for to avoid
repeating past processes and the frustration and inefficiencies that they generated.
QuantumPlace Developments Ltd (QPD) on behalf of Three Sisters Mountain Village Properties
Ltd. (TSMV) and the Town of Canmore plan to collaboratively develop the Smith Creek Area
Structure Plan (ASP). This process is an opportunity for TSMV, the Town, and the community to
have input into a vision for the subject lands.
The collaborative approach will incorporate the Canmore community at early stages of the
planning process and develop an understanding of the social, environmental and financial
opportunities and constraints and how they affect the planning and policy development for the
subject lands. The goal is to have a transparent process that creates a common understanding
of the “why” and “how” the draft policy is developed and proposed to Council. The result is that
TSMV, the Town and the community will have a better understanding of why or why not a
certain outcome could or could not be achieved. As much as possible, we will seek mutually
acceptable solutions, but acknowledge that this may not always be possible.
By working as a team throughout the development of the ASP, many benefits can be achieved.
The ASP process and the end result will be better understood by all stakeholders. The language
used to articulate policy can be made clearer to those implementing and reviewing
development applications received under the policy.
Most importantly, working together from the start of the ASP process will allow TSMV and the
Town to develop a deeper understanding of why conflicts are occurring, what the major
“sticking points” are, and find viable solutions that generally work for TSMV, the Town and the
community of Canmore. The broader principles that the ASP establishes will help guide a
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shared vision and ideally result in the resolution or mitigation of concerns sooner and with
greater ease.
The intent of this collaborative process is to proactively work through the ASP process to allow
both the Town of Canmore and TSMV to:





Set specific and achievable project goals together;
Define a clear project scope;
Engage in a transparent and productive dialogue with each other and the community;
and
Understand all of the questions and concerns brought to the table and work to identify
achievable solutions and provide an explanation when a desired outcome is not
possible.

This ASP provides the Town of Canmore, TSMV, and involved stakeholders with the opportunity
to move forward and work together. However, it will require all parties to come to the table
with an open mind and a willingness to have positive dialogue. Only when all parties come
together proactively, can there be an opportunity to work towards improving the way we
develop policies that will shape the way Canmore is developed into the future. The focus of the
collaborative ASP process involves addressing the opportunities and concerns from multiple
perspectives while working towards an outcome that provides the right balance between
economic, social, and environmental matters.

Method
The preparation of the Smith Creek ASP does not necessarily mean that development of the
land in question is imminent or immediate. An ASP is one of the many steps required before
land can be developed. The goal of the ASP would be to develop clear objectives and policies
that would guide future development within the Smith Creek area. Working together
collaboratively to identify and address issues will help improve policy making and the overall
planning and decision making process on TSMV lands in the future.
While a collaborative approach cannot pre-determine a Council decision, an innovative
approach is called for due to the acknowledged fatigue in dealing with uncertainty on the Three
Sisters lands. We acknowledge that full consensus on all matters is an unrealistic outcome,
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however, it is hoped that this process will yield a generally acceptable balance between the
Canmore community, the Town of Canmore, and TSMV.

Goals and Objectives
GOAL 1:

To collaboratively produce a comprehensive ASP for the Smith Creek area that
establishes the future development policy and achieves an acceptable balance
between the Canmore community, the Town of Canmore, and TSMV

Objective 1.1:

To implement a process for working together on an ASP proactively with
stakeholders and have an ASP adopted by Council by early 2016.

Objective 1.2:

To assemble a Community Advisory Group (CAG) made up of
representative community members who will provide input into the ASP
from the start of the process.

GOAL 2:

To produce an ASP that clearly identifies where and how development can occur in
proximity to wildlife corridors as designated by the Province.

Objective 2.1:

To resolve all wildlife corridor boundaries with the Province

Objective 2.2:

Develop a clear set of policies for the Smith Creek area that represent a
balance between the Town of Canmore and TSMV objectives that
specifically identify where development can and cannot occur

GOAL 3:

To ensure Council and the community are involved and engaged in a transparent
process throughout the ASP development and review process

Objective 3.1:

Develop and implement a communication and engagement plan prior to
commencing the ASP process that includes:



Regular and consistent communication to Council;
Roles and responsibilities of key stakeholders and identifying how
they are involved in the process;
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Opportunities for the Canmore community to get involved and
stay informed; and
Approximate timelines for engagement and the overall process
that acknowledge the need for flexibility as the process evolves.

ASP Process
This document is focused on how the involved parties will work together to create the ASP and
is not a Terms of Reference for the ASP itself. That being said, it is important to lay out the
process for drafting the ASP.
A Terms of Reference (TOR) will be created at the beginning of the process and will set the
scope for the ASP document and the technical studies to be developed. Once drafted, the TOR
will be brought forward to Council for approval.
Town Administration and TSMV will work together to determine the scope of each ASP section
and the required professional reports. Some common reports found in a typical Canmore ASP
are a Transportation Impact Assessment, a Storm Water Management Plan, a Servicing Study
and an Environmental Study. Many studies will have to be initiated at the front end of the
process so that the ASP can be developed recognizing the technical, physical, and economic
constraints. However, the ASP will provide high level policy to direct more detailed planning at
later stages and certain studies may not be required until later in the development process.
Town Administration and TSMV will collaboratively develop the technical scope of work in
alignment with the Terms of Reference for each of the required studies. TSMV will engage an
urban designer to facilitate the development of a draft concept plan for the Smith Creek area in
collaboration with the Town. Town Administration and TSMV will work together to review the
technical documentation as it is developed for the ASP.
In a traditional ASP process, the developer is required to pay the full cost of all studies and
drafting the ASP document. Therefore, TSMV will hire and be responsible for payment of all of
the studies and the cost of all public engagement activities and any other work required as a
result of the ASP. However, the collaborative process requires that TSMV and the Town must
mutually agree on the final selection of consultants for the ASP. Additionally, the Town will
review the proposals, provide the scope of work to be conducted and review the work the
consultants provide.
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TSMV will work on creating draft policy for the ASP and the Town will work with TSMV to edit
the policy collaboratively. Town Administration and TSMV will report any areas of dispute and
present both perspectives to Council for consideration.
While not a comprehensive list or the exact titles, the following are the anticipated sections of
the proposed ASP:
Residential Policies

Sustainability

Commercial Policies

Industrial Policies

Servicing

Wildlife Corridors

Parks and Recreation

Development Phasing

Development
Constraints
Transportation
Implementation

Provincial Involvement
The Province is the sole approving authority for the wildlife corridors in TSMV. The Town will be
brought into the discussions with the Province once dialogue and discussion with the Province
has been re-established. The wildlife corridors are under Provincial jurisdiction and are not part
of the ASP process, but will play a role in the discussion for the development area boundary.
Development considerations adjacent to the established wildlife corridors will be addressed
through the environmental study and the collaborative ASP process.

Developing the Environmental Study
The Town’s current policies require an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) for development
proposals on lands within proximity to environmentally sensitive areas. The criteria for an EIS
are outlined within the Municipal Development Plan (MDP). EIS reports submitted in the past
have not always fully identified and addressed all of the key issues despite addressing many of
the criteria outlined in the MDP. These issues include identifying and mitigating concerns from
human use of wildlife areas through site design and other approaches. Recognizing this
shortfall, the Town is reconsidering the purpose and requirements for an EIS through the
Municipal Development Plan review process currently underway. The Town and TSMV propose
that this collaborative ASP process works towards preparing an Environmental Study that will
be effective in providing the required information and addressing the relevant concerns.
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The purpose of the Environmental Study will be to evaluate the impact of proposed
development on the environment and established wildlife corridors and to provide
recommendations for mitigation. The Environmental Study is not intended to attempt to
evaluate wildlife corridor effectiveness or make recommendations on the corridors themselves,
as that is under Provincial jurisdiction.
The Environmental Study needs to provide recommendations and mitigations for the interface
between development in the Smith Creek area and the established wildlife corridors and
propose strategies that could aid in reducing inappropriate human use such as “pirate” trails,
off leash dogs, etc. The anticipated result is an ASP that identifies where and how development
should occur and protects environmental values that are important to the Town and the
Canmore community. Similar to other studies required for the ASP, a single consultant will be
used for preparation of the environmental report as outlined above.

Public Engagement
This section outlines the approach for how the Town of Canmore and TSMV will work together
on public communications and consultation. It is anticipated that there will be 5 Phases to this
ASP project. Specific engagement opportunities for each phase are still to be determined, but
will be incorporated throughout the project.
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Phases 1 through 4 will see the Town and TSMV working together with the Community Advisory
Group and the Canmore Community on each aspect of the ASP document. The intent is to ask
how stakeholders would like to be engaged and develop a framework for engagement and
communications from that input. As the process is organic and evolving, the consultation
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process will require flexibility and will be developed in more detail prior to each phase of the
project. In order to keep Council and the Canmore community in the loop, the communications
and the engagement process will be discussed at regular information updates to Council and
regular communications will be provided via web, social media and email updates.
During Phase 5, the consultation process will be in the form of the Public Hearing of Council.
Per the Municipal Government Act, an ASP must be approved via three readings of a bylaw.
Prior to 2nd reading Canmore Town Council will hold a public hearing where the public will have
the opportunity to speak directly to Council. The public can make presentations to Council with
regards to the process, the draft ASP policy as presented to Council and state whether they are
in support or in opposition to the project.
The process is designed to encourage community members to participate in the ASP process
and to keep an open mind to working together to solutions collaboratively, with the Town and
TSMV.

Updates to Council
There will be regular updates to Council which will occur at the end of each project phase. This
will provide Council with the opportunity to ask questions on the progress of the ASP
development and to keep informed on the ASP, provide feedback, question the project team,
hear a summary of stakeholder feedback, and hear the approach for the next phase.

Community Advisory Group (CAG)
The Town of Canmore and TSMV have drafted a terms of reference (TOR) for the Community
Advisory Group (See Appendix A). The TOR for the Community Advisory Group will be finalised
by the Town and TSMV when the committee has had the opportunity to review and provide
feedback on the TOR for the Community Advisory Group.

Committee Composition:
The CAG will be comprised of a minimum of 8 and a maximum of 12 stakeholder
representatives from the community and various agencies. A varied base of expertise and local
perspectives will be established through the composition of the CAG. It is possible that a
member of the CAG could represent more than one of the groups if they are found to have
several different aspects of expertise.
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The CAG will consist of representatives from the following groups:









Town of Canmore Council Member
Potential builder
Environmental focused individual
Canmore business community
Canmore resident (full or part-time)
Canmore resident from an existing TSMV developed community
Canmore Business & Tourism
Recreation focused individual

Selection of the Committee:
Representatives will be appointed collaboratively by both TSMV and the Town of Canmore
Administration. A request for volunteers will be advertised to the Canmore community and
requests for participation will be sent to various agencies to ensure a variety of perspectives are
represented. TSMV and Town Administration will discuss the CAG membership through a
cooperative review process. Interested parties will be requested to submit a letter of interest
explaining their experience and reasons for wanting to be on the CAG.
Selections will be made based upon the interested parties’ expertise, willingness to work
together, openness to engage in a solutions oriented dialogue, and understanding of the
stakeholder interests they represent. The committee names will go forward to Council for
information and Canmore Town Council will have their opportunity to appoint a Council
member to act as their representative throughout the ASP project.

Dispute Resolution
The Town and TSMV will work together to create the best possible conditions to resolve conflict
and be solutions oriented. All parties including the CAG and the community will be called upon
to be solutions oriented, to question what is at the root of their concern, and to challenge
themselves to come up with solutions that take into account economic, social and
environmental considerations. The objective is to be open to a myriad of possibilities and
ensure that there is an explanation of why or why not a certain solution can or cannot be
implemented.
While we hope the Town and TSMV can come to a reasonable solution in all aspects of this ASP,
where conflicts cannot be resolved, third party advice/expertise will be sought to work out a
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solution. If there is a disagreement on consultant’s results/report, the party at their own
expense will hire their own reviewer and a collaborative solution between the two consultants
should be brought forward as a solution for both TSMV and the Town to consider. If there is still
no resolution, the ASP may move forward to Council with the proposed solutions presented by
both TSMV and the Town.

Fee Structure
The Town’s Fee Schedule determines the cost of making application for a new ASP. For
applications that would result in fees greater than $75,000 the application fee is charged based
upon cost recovery. The Town will develop an hourly fee schedule for staff involved and a
method for tracking time spent on the ASP project. An invoice will be sent to TSMV monthly
and be paid within 30 days of receipt.

Terms of Reference
Community Advisory Group
Smith Creek Area Structure Plan
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1. Background
The Town of Canmore and Three Sisters Mountain Village (TSMV) are committed to working
together to engage the Canmore community during the establishment of an Area Structure Plan
(ASP) for the Smith Creek area of Three Sisters (approximately sites 7, 8 and 9). A Community
Advisory Group (CAG) is an important component of this process. The Town of Canmore and TSMV
will engage with the CAG to help shape considerations as the ASP advances.

2. Purpose:
The purpose of these Terms of Reference is to ensure that members of the CAG are aware of their
roles, expectations and commitments during the development of the ASP.

3. Principles and Guidelines
Information sharing: Members are encouraged to help keep the Canmore community and related
interest groups up to date on information, technical studies and other pertinent issues relating to
the development of the ASP. Where appropriate and reasonable members are expected to seek
input from additional individuals or groups that may share interests with the general interest they
represent.
Good faith: All Committee members including, the Town of Canmore and TSMV, will work in good
faith to work towards a constructive outcomes for each party. At times, the Committee will be asked
not to share early information or concepts and the Town of Canmore and TSMV would ask that
Committee members respect this request.
Consult: Consult with the Town of Canmore and TSMV on impacts and opportunities that come to
light during the ASP process.
Advisory role: The Committee is advisory to the Town of Canmore and TSMV. Both parties will
consider all input and feedback in the development of the ASP and will show how the document
was able to respond to this input and feedback. In instances where the document is unable to
respond to this input and feedback an explanation will be provided. Both parties are very interested
in the Committee’s position on all issues relating to the development of sites 7, 8 and 9.

4. Composition and Selection of the Committee
The CAG will be comprised of a minimum of 8 and a maximum of 12 representatives from the
community. Committee members will be appointed through agreement of both TSMV and Town of
Canmore Administration. A varied base of expertise and local perspectives will be established
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through the composition of the CAG. It is possible that a member of the CAG could represent more
than one of the groups if they are found to have several degrees of expertise.
The CAG will consist of representatives from the following groups:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Town of Canmore Council Member
Potential site builder
Environmental focused individual
Canmore business community
Canmore resident (full or part-time)
Canmore resident from an existing TSMV developed community
Canmore Business & Tourism
Recreation focused individual

5. Roles and Responsibilities
Committee Members:
● are energetic and passionate about their community, able to attend meetings, review
information and questions forwarded by the Town of Canmore and TSMV, (including email
correspondence), and provide timely feedback and input on components of the ASP
development process
● are individuals that have a strong interest in the Canmore community and desire to engage
in this volunteering opportunity to help achieve best possible outcome for Canmore’s future
development
● are those with a unique perspective on community concerns and the opportunities that the
development of the Smith Creek area may have to align with community needs and
interests
● are connected to the pulse of the Canmore community and are therefore able to provide
input on the project based on broad based community feedback
● are committed to and excited about the opportunity to engage in open and transparent
communications with Town of Canmore and TSMV
● will positively work to resolve any differences with Town of Canmore and TSMV when the
need arises
● acknowledge the CAG is not a decision-making body or a body which reports to Council, and
its role will be fulfilled once the ASP has been formally submitted to Council for decision.
TSMV:
●
●
●
●
●

will provide all the necessary information for committee members to participate in a
meaningful way
will provide the CAG with balanced and objective information
will be open and transparent with economics and financial aspects of development as much
as possible
will consider the input and feedback of the community in the project decisions
will provide a reason “why” if an element or concept is not supported to be inserted into the
plan
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●
●
●
●
●
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will acknowledge the efforts of the CAG and be respectful of their time given that they are
volunteers
will work towards building a development that the community can be proud of
will inform the Committee about opportunities to speak or provide input to Canmore
planning authorities and council
acknowledges that the Town of Canmore has final approval of the ASP
will provide a minimum of 2 weeks’ notice for any future meeting dates

Administration representatives:
● will provide advice and feedback based on policy direction of the Town of Canmore in a
timely manner
● will provide information on the application processes related to the proposed ASP
● will listen to and understand community concerns and opportunities related to and for
incorporation within the proposed ASP
● will work with TSMV and the community members to resolve identified issues
● will commit to working with TSMV and the community members through the entire process
● will make recommendations to Council based on Town policies, technical aspects of the
ASP, and professional opinions.
Town Councillor:
● will support the engagement process with the community at-large, the CAG and Town
Administration
● will provide input and feedback on the project at key points in the project
Subject matter experts:
● will be invited to participate as required to provide information on their area of expertise as
related to specific issues as part of the ASP. Examples may include
o
Provincial Government – Environment and Sustainable Resource Development
o
Provincial Government – Parks and Recreation
o
Canmore Community Housing Corporation

6. Meeting Schedule
●
●

●
●

About 8-10 committee meetings are anticipated between April 2015 and April 2016
Meetings may occur every 2-3 weeks during the initial authoring stage and monthly during
implementation and evaluation
Meetings will last approximately 2 – 2.5 hours
Meetings locations will be determined on a per meeting basis and be made known to the
Committee at least one (1) week in advance

7. Meeting Agendas and Notes
The Town of Canmore and TSMV will:
● create and distribute meeting agendas and supporting materials in advance of each meeting
● host each meeting, including venue selection and refreshments
● prepare meeting notes (assisted by a Note Taker) for distribution in advance of the next
scheduled meeting
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8. Anticipated
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Milestones1

1 Please note that dates are subject to change. This section will undergo further refinement as the process

develops.
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